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Facts and figures in brief

• Comparable net profi t, adjusted for one-off factors, 

rises 10 % to CHF 68.1 million

• Net sales increase 6.2 % to a record high of CHF 1,041 million

• 9.1 % rise in sales in second half (17 % in America)

• Comparable EBIT climbs 4.7 % to CHF 118.8 million

• Free cash fl ow of CHF 70.4 million (+ 24 %)

• Gearing as low as before Unican takeover  

Net sales CHF 1,041 
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 million

Key figures
 IFRS Swiss GAAP FER
in CHF million, except where indicated 2005/06 2004/05 2003/04 2003/04 2002/03 2001/02

Net sales 1,041.0 980.1 978.1 985.0 967.2 1,027.0

EBIT 118.8 121.3 118.3 120.9 108.7 123.0

Net profi t 68.1 65.9 47.2 56.8 45.7 61.8

Market capitalisation (as at 30 June) 1,070.0 1,251.3 923.8 923.8 688.5 1,141.6

Earnings per share (in CHF) 19.0 18.4 13.2 15.9 12.8 17.3

Segments sales
  Financial Year  Financial Year
in CHF million closed 30.6.2006 % closed 30.6.2005 %

Door Systems 271.4 26 252.7 26

Data Collection 72.5 7 75.9 8

Access Systems 435.4 42 408.7 42

Key + Ident Systems 231.8 22 215.7 22

Others/eliminations/fi nances 29.9 3 27.1 2

Total 1041.0 100 980.1 100
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Elections to the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors will be proposing to 

the General Meeting 2006 that Heribert 

Allemann, Riet Cadonau and Kin Shek Ng be 

elected to the Board of Directors.

Heribert 

Allemann,

Swiss citizen, 

born in 1944, 

joined Kaba as a 

Member of the 

Executive Board in 

1990. He has 

headed various divisions of the Kaba Group 

over the years, and has been Deputy CEO since 

2001. He played a leading role in the restruc-

turing project in 1994 prior to the IPO. He built 

and expanded the Access and Data Collection 

Division in Europe, restructured and turned 

around the loss-making operations in the USA 

and Japan, and laid the basis for the expansion 

into Asia. In 2001, he was in charge of the 

post-merger integration project, successfully 

amalgamating the Unican and Kaba organiza-

tions worldwide into the third-largest security 

group. At the same time he headed the largest 

division of the Kaba Group, as well as Corpo-

rate Business Development and IT Services. 

In the course of his career with Kaba, he has 

acted as chairman and board member for 

many subsidiaries.

Heribert Allemann is Chairman of Alpa 

Partner AG, and Vice-Chairman of Contract 

Farming India AG in Zug. He has lectured for 

several years for various educational insti-

tutions on the topics of mergers & acquisitions, 

post-merger integration and innovation. 

He is Associate Lecturer at ZfU-International 

Business School.

Prior to his engagement with Kaba, 

Heribert Allemann was CEO of the interna-

tional Celfa-Folex Group from 1984 to 1989, 

and from 1975 to 1984 he worked for the 

Holderbank Group (now called Holcim) where 

he was manager of a profi t center of Holder-

bank Management + Consulting Ltd.

Heribert Allemann has a Bachelor’s 

Degree in Micro-Engineering from the Biel 

School of Engineering and Architecture, 

a Master’s Degree in Economics and Business 

Administration from the University of Bern, 

and complemented his business education 

by completing the Program for Management 

Development at Harvard Business School.

Heribert Allemann’s proposed election 

to the Board of Directors was preceded 

by his retirement from the operational Kaba 

business.

Riet Cadonau, 

Swiss citizen, was 

born in 1961. He 

is currently the 

Managing Director 

of Transport Reve-

nue of Affi liated 

Computer Ser-

vices Inc., headquartered in Dallas. Since 2006 

he has been a member of the Board of Direc-

tors of the Griesser Group in Aadorf. 

From 2001 to 2005, Riet Cadonau was 

a member of the Executive Board of the Swiss 

technology group Ascom and headed up two 

divisions. In his last function, he was Deputy 

CEO of Ascom and also in charge of the Trans-

port Revenue division. Since the takeover of 

this division by Affi liated Computer Services 

Inc. (ASC), he holds the position of Managing 

Director under the new proprietor.

Until 2002, he was General Manager of 

the Ascom Integrated Services division, which 

comprised Network Integration, Transport 

Revenue and Security Solutions. At the end 

of 2002, he assumed responsibility for the 

globally active Transport Revenue division and 

was appointed Deputy CEO at the same time. 
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Kin Shek Ng, 

a Chinese citizen, 

born in 1940, is 

the CEO and 

Chairman of the 

Board of the Wah 

Yuet Group, a sub-

sidiary of Kaba.

K. S. Ng founded the Wah Yuet Group in 

1973 and, until it became part of Kaba, was the 

sole shareholder as well as CEO and Chairman 

of the Board of the Group. The Group is based 

in Hong Kong and has production facilities in 

China as well as other operations in Macao. 

Under his leadership, the Group has grown to 

become an important manufacturer in the 

global locks industry, with an excellent reputa-

tion among its business partners for its care-

fully made and attractive product range. 

Signifi cant investments were made to refi ne 

production and to optimize manufacturing 

processes. The company won its ISO 9001 and 

ISO 14001 certifi cations in 2001. 

K. S. Ng opened the Wah Yuet Group’s 

fi rst production site in 1973 in Hong Kong. In 

1980, production was moved to the People’s 

Republic of China, which at that time was just 

starting to open up to foreign fi rms. K. S. Ng 

was directly involved in drawing up the reforms 

in China and in formulating its open-door 

policy.

In addition to his work as CEO and Chair-

man of the Board of the Wah Yuet Group, 

K. S. Ng invests in real estate and the fi nancial 

market through his other private companies. 

Before he set up the Wah Yuet Group, K. S. Ng 

was a consultant for Toyota, and successfully 

introduced the Toyota brand onto the Chinese 

market in the early 1970s.

Kin Shek Ng studied political science and 

economics. He lives in Hong Kong.

In addition, Riet Cadonau was also responsible 

for Ascom’s IT operations.

Before joining Ascom, Riet Cadonau 

worked for about ten years in various posts at 

IBM Switzerland, lastly from 1998 to 2001, as a 

member of the Executive Board and responsi-

ble for Global Services. 

In addition to his professional responsibili-

ties, Riet Cadonau is also Chairman of the 

Swiss Management Association (Schweizeri-

sche Management Gesellschaft), an asso-

ciation established in 1961 with around 1,200 

members.

Riet Cadonau studied at the University of 

Zürich, from where he holds a master’s degree 

in economics. He added to his education, 

among other things, a language certifi cate, 

gained through a stay in the UK, and a 

diploma from the SKU (Schweizerischer Kurs 

für Unternehmungsführung), an Advanced 

General Management Program. He is offi cer 

general staff of the Swiss Army.
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It can do no harm for company managers to take a step back from time to time and survey 

the consequences of the decisions they made in the past. What better time to do so at Kaba 

than after acquisitions which have set the Kaba Group well on the way towards being a truly 

globalized enterprise?

Welcome to the world of Kaba

Chairman of Kaba’s Board 
of Directors Rudolf Hauser 
and President Ulrich Graf 
are happy about 
a good fi nancial year.
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Globalization, part 1

It was not until Kaba had reached the ripe 

old age of 106 that it fi rst ventured across the 

Swiss border in its own operations. It was 1968 

when Kaba opened its own production site in 

Eggenburg, Lower Austria, and established 

a distribution company in London. Even in the 

1998/1999 fi nancial year, almost half of Kaba’s 

sales, at that time totaling CHF 394.1 million, 

were generated in Switzerland. Almost three 

out of every four francs in turnover came from 

the domestic market or Germany. The Kaba 

Group was a Swiss company with a good base 

in European markets. Sales outside Europe 

contributed only a marginal share of 4 %. 

Then came the day just before Christmas 

2000, when Kaba announced it was buying a 

North American company — Unican — at a price 

of CHF 860 Million. Just less than four months 

later, the transaction — which doubled Kaba’s 

sales over night to a billion Swiss francs — was 

completed. The fi rst and decisive step towards 

becoming a global security group had been 

taken. 

This acquisition and the successful inte-

gration which followed brought far-reaching 

changes for the Kaba Group. First and fore-

most because Unican gave Kaba access to the 

huge North American market for locking sys-

tems and security solutions, a market which 

even now is not spoilt for choice when it comes 

to high-tech security products. Kaba has made 

successful use of the opportunities which 

this gap in the market presented. Despite the 

fact that the US dollar has depreciated against 

the Swiss franc by 22.4 % since 2001 and 

that the US has gone through a recession, in 

the 2005/2006 fi nancial year the Kaba Group 

nonetheless succeeded in beating its previous 

sales record achieved a year after the acquisi-

tion of Unican. Also in terms of net earnings, 

Unican has strengthened the Kaba Group on a 

sustained basis. The American EBIT margin 

was increased by over 50 % between 

2001/2002 and 2005/2006. On average over 

the last fi ve years, American business has con-

tributed 47 % to the Kaba Group’s total EBIT; 

the large amounts of free cash fl ow which the 

Group has enjoyed in recent years have largely 

originated in North America. In view of this, it 

is hardly surprising that the Kaba Group’s net 

debt level is back to below the level it was prior 

to the acquisition of Unican. 

Globalization, part 2

The acquisition of Unican instigated the 

globalization process at the Kaba Group and 

created the conditions which have allowed the 

process to be continued with such drive. The 

purchase of the Wah Yuet Group in China in 

August 2006 is a logical consequence of the 

acquisition of Unican. Buying the Wah Yuet 

Group means that, as well as becoming a key 

player on the US residential security market, 

Kaba will now also have highly productive man-

ufacturing capacity in China. The extremely 

competitive cost structure will strengthen 

the Kaba Group’s global competitiveness and 

promote profi table growth in the Asian and 

American markets in particular. 

Globalization, part 3

Kaba has gained huge additional strength 

on the North American market and extended 

its global leadership in the market for security 

locks by acquiring Computerized Security 

On average over 
the last fi ve years, 
American business 
has contributed 47 % 
to the Kaba Group’s 
total EBIT, and thus 
laid the basis  for 
further acquisitions.
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Systems Inc. (CSS). In 2005, the company 

achieved sales of USD 73 million and an oper-

ating result (EBIT) of USD 8.7 million through 

its Safl ok and La Gard brands. 

With Safl ok, Kaba has added a broad 

range of access control solutions which com-

plements its own product portfolio and extends 

the overall spectrum of products offered in all 

segments of the access control market for 

hotels and commercial premises. Safl ok and 

Kaba products are used worldwide in hotels 

and casinos, for managing vacation accommo-

dation and residential complexes and in com-

mercial, public sector and military facilities. 

Safl ok high-tech hotel systems close a gap in 

Kaba’s product portfolio at the premium end 

of the market for hotel locks. 

La Gard specializes in the production of 

security locks used for safes and strong rooms 

and other commercial applications.

The acquisition of CSS creates great 

potential for value-added synergies in develop-

ment, production, marketing and distribution. 

At the same time, La Gard security locks round 

out Kaba’s high-tech offering in the lower and 

mid market segment.

Success factor: integration

Whether the strategic goals attached to 

an acquisition can actually be achieved 

depends on how successfully — and, above all, 

how quickly — the new company can be inte-

grated. After the gradual integration of compa-

nies like Benzing and Gallenschütz at the end 

of the 1980s, sometimes over several years, 

the Group’s management, experienced as it is 

in making acquisitions, believes nowadays 

that only a swift — but nonetheless careful — 

integration will enhance the value of the 

Group. Although a smooth integration can 

never be predicted with certainty, the manage-

ment can do a great deal to make success 

more likely. In particular, the management 

needs to be familiar with the culture of the 

company which is to be acquired. To gain this 

familiarity, it needs to have the opportunity 

to look directly and repeatedly at the compa-

ny’s corporate culture and structure. This 

condition is best fulfi lled when the company is 

being sold not by a fi nancial investor but by 

an entrepreneur, ideally the founder who pio-

neered the company. Such a person will take 

great pains to ensure that one’s “life’s work” 

will be in good hands, and will choose a buyer 

not just according to one’s willingness to pay, 

but also on the basis of one’s ability to retain 

and develop the company’s cultural strengths. 

This was the situation which Kaba found with 

Unican and Wah Yuet in particular. 

Another increase in the dividend 

The improved Group profi t for the year 

under review and the deliberate continuation 

of an investor-friendly distributions policy 

have prompted the Board of Directors to 

propose to the Annual General Meeting on 

24 October 2006 that the dividend be 

increased by CHF 0.30 to CHF 5.10 per share. 

By acquiring 
Computerized Secu-

rity Systems Inc. 
(CSS), Kaba has 

gained huge addi-
tional strength on 

the North American 
market and 

extended its global 
market leadership in 

security locks.
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The payment will once again be made by 

reducing the par value — by CHF 5.10 from 

CHF 5.20 to CHF 0.10 per share. This method 

will help many Kaba Holding AG shareholders 

to avoid the double taxation of dividends 

in Switzerland. The payment of CHF 5.10 is 

expected to be made to shareholders in 

January 2007 after all the formalities have 

been completed. 

A big thanks

Unlike many Kaba products, which 

are clearly visible as keys or locks, doors or 

terminals, most of the work carried out 

by the Group’s staff is hidden from view. All 

the more reason to say a big thanks to the 

approximately 10,000 staff we now have. Their 

tireless commitment is the engine which will 

drive Kaba forward towards being the security 

industry’s leading global enterprise in terms

 of both technology and earnings. 

Rudolf Hauser
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Ulrich Graf
President
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Important events 
after the closing date

New CEO

In May 2005, Kaba announced the 

appointment of its new CEO Rudolf Weber. 

Between 2001 and 2006, the 56-year-old 

certifi ed engineer (Federal Institute of Tech-

nology, Zurich) and economist (masters 

degree from the University of St. Gallen) 

managed Fr. Sauter AG of Basel, a major com-

pany in the European building automation 

market with a turnover of around CHF 300 mil-

lion. For the past eight years, Rudolf Weber 

has also been a member of the Board of Direc-

tors of Kaba Holding AG. He will step down 

from this position at the AGM on 24 October 

2006. He took over operational responsibility 

for the Kaba Group on 1 July 2006. The Board 

of Directors of Kaba Holding AG intends to 

elect his predecessor Ulrich Graf as its future 

chairman.

Acquisition of CSS in the USA

In July 2006, Kaba announced the acqui-

sition of Computerized Security Systems Inc. 

(CSS) with its global brand products Safl ok and 

La Gard. Thus, following intensive negotiations, 

Kaba was able to acquire one of the world’s 

leading manufacturers of electronic hotel and 

security locks. Together, Kaba and Safl ok offer 

a broad range of access control solutions for 

use in hotels, casinos, holiday complexes and 

residential buildings, as well as for commercial, 

public sector and military facilities. La Gard 

specializes in the manufacture of security 

locks for safes and strong rooms. For Kaba the 

acquisition marks an important strategic com-

plement to its existing activities in the high 

security and hotel lock sector. The transaction 

still requires authorization from the European 

trust authorities.

Acquisition of the Wah Yuet Group in China

The next acquisition was announced 

shortly after the close of the 2005/2006 

fi nancial year. This involved the purchase of 

the Wah Yuet Group in China. Wah Yuet pro-

duces high-quality locks, keys and key blanks, 

mostly for sale through American and Euro-

pean partners. With the acquisition of the Wah 

Yuet Group, Kaba becomes a major player in 

the North American market for security appli-

cations for the residential sector. The modern, 

highly productive company in Taishan City, 

Guangdong Province, will strengthen the Kaba 

Group’s competitiveness and promote profi t-

able growth especially in Asian and American 

markets. Wah Yuet employs approximately 

4,000 staff.

On 1 July 2006, 
Rudolf Weber 

assumed operational 
responsibility 

as the Kaba Group’s 
new CEO.
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Streamlined market presence in Europe

The “Momentum” project responds to the 

client-side desire for products, solutions and 

services from a single source. Its goal is to 

merge the two business segments Access Sys-

tems and Data Collection. The national sales 

operations, previously organized by product 

group, will be placed under a single manage-

ment structure. This will allow clients and mar-

ket partners to transact all business through 

a central contact point. The new sales struc-

ture has been operating in the core markets of 

Germany, Austria, France and Switzerland 

since 1 July 2006. In other markets, the 

switchover will be made over the course of 

the 2006/2007 fi nancial year.

In Europe, the 
national distribution 
structures previ-
ously divided up 
according to product 
groups are being 
placed under unifi ed 
management. 
This means that cus-
tomers and market 
partners have 
one central contact 
for all business.

Global brand

The Kaba Group started to introduce a 

single Kaba brand during the 2005/2006 

fi nancial year. It embodies a binding global 

image, while taking in account the Kaba Group’s 

different positioning in Europe and North 

America. In parallel with the implementation 

of the new single brand strategy during the 

current fi nancial year, Kaba is introducing a 

new corporate design, a new set of images 

and a highly effi cient online production tool 

for communications. The new brand is being 

reduced to a self-confi dent, high-profi le core 

without the traditional lion symbol. Brand 

additions such as Kaba Access Systems and 

Kaba Benzing are being discontinued. 
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Group structure
As per 1 July 2006 

Kaba Group
Rudolf Weber
President and CEO
Deputy: Heribert Allemann

Corporate Business
Development + IT
COO Heribert Allemann
Executive Vice President

Finance, Controlling,
Legal + Communications
CFO Dr. Werner Stadelmann
Executive Vice President

Kaba Holding AG
Board of Directors

Kaba Gilgen AG
Schwarzenburg/CH

Kaba Gallenschütz
Bühl/DE

Kaba Door Systems Ltd.
Telford/GB

Kaba Garog (Vega Ltd.)
Warrington/GB

Kaba Porte Automatiche S.p.A.
Uboldo/IT

Kaba Nederland BV
Nijmegen/NL

Kaba Belgium NV/SA
Turnhout/BE

Kaba Access Technology 
(Suzhou) Co. Ltd.
Suzhou/CN

Silca S.p.A.
Vittorio Veneto/IT

Silca S.A.S.
Porcheville/FR

Silca GmbH
Velbert/DE

Silca Ltd.
Sutton/GB

Silca Key Systems S.A.
Barcelona/ES

Kaba do Brasil Ltda.
São Paulo/BR

Legic Identsystems AG
Wetzikon/CH

Kaba Ilco Corp.
Rocky Mount/US

Corporación Cerrajera Alba
S.A. de C.V.
Mexico/MX

Executive Board
CEO, CFO, COOs
(9 Members)

Europe/Asia Pacifi c
COO Roberto Gaspari
Executive Vice President

Americas
COO Frank Belfl ower
Executive Vice President

Key + Ident Systems

COO Jakob Gilgen
Executive Vice President

Door Systems
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EMEA
(Access + Data Systems)
COO Ulrich Wydler
Executive Vice President

Americas/Europe 
(Safe Locks)
COO Carl Sideranko
Executive Vice President

Americas
(Access + Lodging Systems)
COO Frank Belfl ower
Executive Vice President

Kaba AG
Wetzikon/Rümlang/CH

Kaba GmbH
Dreieich/DE

Kaba GmbH
Herzogenburg/AT

Kaba (UK) Ltd.
Tiverton/GB

Kaba S.A.S.
Suresnes/FR

Kaba SF2E S.A.S.
Le Mesnil-Saint-Denis/FR

Kaba AB
Eskilstuna/SE

Iberkaba S.A.
Madrid/ES

Kaba Security Sp.z.o.o.
Warzaw/PL

Kaba Elzett Rt.
Budapest/HU

Kaba GmbH
Villingen-Schwenningen/DE

Kaba Benzing America Inc.
Miramar/US

Kaba srl
Castel Maggiore/IT

Kaba Ilco Corp.
Winston Salem/US

Kaba Ilco Inc.
(Capitol Montreal)
Montreal/CA

Kaba Ilco Inc.
(Access Systems Montreal)
Montreal/CA

Kaba Mas Corp.
Lexington/US

Kaba Mauer GmbH
Heiligenhaus/DE

Nihon Kaba K.K.
Yokohama/JP

Kaba Security Pte Ltd.
Singapore/SG

Kaba Ltd.
Hong Kong/HK

Kaba Jaya 
Security Sdn.Bhd.
Kuala Lumpur/MY

Kaba Australia Pty Ltd.
Wetherill Park/AU

Kaba New Zealand Ltd.
Auckland/NZ

Asia Pacifi c 
(Access + Data Systems)
COO Andreas Brechbühl
Executive Vice President

Access + Data Systems
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Financial reporting by segment

Business segments are defi ned by prod-

ucts in accordance with IFRS. Kaba has already 

outlined such a structure in earlier Annual 

Reports and Investor’s Handbooks. One of the 

consequences of this method is that an individ-

ual company which makes products of differ-

ent types will appear in more than one product 

segment. This method prioritizes the homoge-

neity of business segments by product over 

the organizational structure of the divisions.

Kaba’s reporting for the 2005/2006 

fi nancial year covers four segments:

• Access Systems

 With the Strategic Business Segments (SBSs) 

Access Control, Safe + Container Locks and 

Lodging Systems

• Door Systems

 With the SBS Door Systems

• Data Collection 

 With the SBS Data Collection

• Key + Ident Systems

 With the SBS Key Systems (Silca and Ilco) 

and Identifi cation Systems (Legic)

Starting in the 2006/2007 fi nancial year, 

the two segments Access Systems and Data 

Collection will be reported together as the 

Access + Data Collection segment.

Market servicing through Strategic 

Business Segments (SBSs)

The following Strategic Business Seg-

ments service the markets by customer need:

Access Systems Segment

SBS Access Control

The product portfolio of Access Control, 

our largest business segment by sales, includes 

mechanical and mechatronic locks and cylin-

ders, masterkey systems and control software 

for integrated access systems for general 

commercial applications. It also contains mar-

ket-specifi c products such as pushbutton locks, 

which are widely used especially in the USA 

and the Asia-Pacifi c region. Kaba’s electronic 

PowerLever locks have gained a global reputa-

tion; they require neither batteries nor wiring 

to a power source. The ability to combine 

masterkey systems with access control has 

Group organization by segment

Management Board 2005/2006 
from left to right: 

Ulrich Wydler 
Chief Operating Offi cer, 

Access Systems Europe Division 
and Division Data Collection 

Heribert Allemann 
Chief Operating Offi cer, 

Head Corporate business 
development + IT. 

Deputy Chief Executive Offi cer

Roberto Gaspari 
Chief Operating Offi cer, Key+Ident 

Systems Europe/Asia Pacifi c

Ulrich Graf
President and 

Chief Executive Offi cer

Jakob Gilgen
Chief Operating Offi cer, 
Door Systems Division

Dr. Werner Stadelmann
Chief Financial Offi cer, 

Finance Division  

Frank Belfl ower 
Chief Operating Offi cer, 

Access Systems Americas Division

Andreas Brechbühl 
Chief Operating Offi cer, 

Access Systems Asia Pacifi c Division
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cooperates with specialized systems and soft-

ware vendors, offering their customers tailor-

made solutions. As a certifi ed SAP Partner, 

Kaba Benzing can provide attractive solutions 

that integrate seamlessly into SAP environ-

ments.

Key + Ident Systems Segment

SBS Key Systems

Kaba is the world market leader in the 

replacement key business. With its Silca and 

Ilco product lines, Kaba can serve its custom-

ers with an extensive range of mechanical, 

electronic and industrial key cutting and cod-

ing machines. The Kaba Group’s leadership 

position is strengthened by a dense global net-

work of customers and dealers as well as close 

collaboration with OEMs (original equipment 

manufacturers) in the automobile industry. 

SBS Identifi cation Systems

In the challenging global market for elec-

tronic identifi cation systems, Kaba occupies 

a leading position with its Legic product line. 

The heart of Legic identifi cation systems is an 

electronic contactless authorization medium. 

Integrated in a key, badge, ID card or bracelet, 

it conveniently and securely covers virtually 

every operational need in the areas of identifi -

cation, organization, verifi cation and cashless 

payment transactions.

resulted in interesting innovations that have 

created a signifi cant competitive edge for 

Kaba.

SBS Safe + Container Locks 

Kaba is the leading manufacturer of high-

security and safe locks. The product line 

extends from purely mechanical and combina-

tion locks to sophisticated electronic devices 

to redundant high-security locks. The port-folio 

also contains an extensive line of bolt assem-

blies. Locks for manufacturers of ATMs (auto-

mated teller machines) provide selective 

access to a machine’s individual compartments 

during specifi c time windows, logging all 

successful and attempted access transactions.

SBS Lodging Systems 

The dependability of Kaba systems is 

especially attractive to large, internationally 

active hotel groups. Apart from access control, 

Kaba products also cover applications such 

as cashless purchases or authorization time-

window management.

Door Systems Segment

SBS Door Systems

This business segment is focused on 

security doors and automatic doors. The 

respective markets are serviced in different 

ways. Together with platform screen doors, 

the greatest overall growth potential lies 

with automatic doors focused in new market 

segments.

Data Collection Segment

SBS Data Collection

Kaba is a global technology leader and 

Europe’s market leader in enterprise data 

collection as well as time + attendance record-

ing. The Group is only just beginning to 

develop promising markets in North America 

and the Asia-Pacifi c region. Kaba Benzing 
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Security as a system

In locking technology, cylinders and keys 

of the same family are interchangeable. But 

when it comes to electronics, many products 

run into compatibility problems. That’s why 

locking technology (predominantly mechani-

cal) and access control (electronically con-

trolled) are still offered as separate disciplines 

by most providers. As a result, users are forced 

to employ several different identifi cation 

media, so procedures become more complex 

and vulnerable, operating and maintenance 

costs are higher, and acceptance among users 

is lower.

The Kaba way: systematic and sustainable 

compatibility

As a company that develops its products 

from the perspective of users and customers, 

Kaba takes a different approach in Europe with 

its aptly named «Total Access» strategy. The 

systematic implementation of the «Total 

Access» strategy begins when new products 

and product families are still at the design 

stage. One of the top priorities for Kaba’s 

developers is to make new modules compatible 

with all existing and future products. To imple-

ment this strategy without compromise, all 

companies within the Kaba Group — whether 

their job is to develop, manufacture, advise or 

sell — must be suffi ciently integrated to pro-

duce systems, processes and methods that are 

compatible with each other.

Total integration of mechanical locking 

technology and electronic access control

Kaba is the world’s fi rst provider with the 

expertise to combine locking technology and 

access control to create an integrated, user-

friendly system. Two unique core competences 

help Kaba achieve this goal:

• Mechatronic locking cylinders based on 

Legic’s RFID technology: These combine 

mechanical functions with electronic conve-

nience. Identifi cation criteria and authoriza-

tion capabilities can be programmed and 

modifi ed quickly and securely at any point in 

time. 

• Com-ID (Common Identifi cation Media): 

 Com-ID is a globally protected Kaba brand. 

Under this brand, we sell security solutions 

that use one single identifi cation medium 

(key with chip, badge, etc.) and the associ-

ated authorization management to manage 

various applications. These might include 

access to buildings and rooms, recording of 

operational data, or paying for food in staff 

canteens. 

Process-oriented access control

In many businesses, “security” is an orga-

nizational unit and may be defi ned as a role 

or function. One consequence of regarding 

security as a business process is that it is 

Kaba is the world’s 
fi rst producer 

with the expertise 
to combine locking 

technology and 
access control to 

create an integrated, 
user-friendly system.
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divided into process groups that have an input, 

output, measurable results and a process 

owner. This structured view makes it possible 

to identify weaknesses and potential synergies, 

and shows what happens at process interfaces. 

We think in processes, thus supporting our 

clients and partners from the outset. Products 

and system solutions do not defi ne processes, 

but are the means by which processes are 

described. This is how Kaba thinks, helping its 

clients to create added value by focusing on 

business processes, i.e. reducing costs by 

increasing effi ciency. 

Access controls should protect people, 

valuables and information against unauthor-

ized access. This requires intelligent products 

that are integrated as components into sys-

tems and processes. Client needs change. We 

offer innovative solutions. 

Investments in security are usually made 

on a medium to long-term scale. However, over 

the course of time, certain parameters — some 

of which cannot be infl uenced — will make 

changes necessary. Residential and business 

facilities alike are subject to such changing 

requirements. 

Kaba customers do not need to worry 

about these changes because they know that 

they can adapt their installed modules and 

systems at any time. Exactly why, when and to 

what extent these changes might be necessary 

cannot be anticipated and does not particu-

larly matter. New requirements may arise when 

a company expands or integrates acquired 

fi rms, when the risk scenario or security needs 

change, or when greater user convenience is 

needed. In each case, the new modules and 

systems will be compatible with the Kaba solu-

tion already installed. 

For Kaba customers, sustainable compati-

bility within the framework of the «Total 

Access» strategy simply means that their 

investment is protected. More precisely, this 

investment protection is threefold: 

• Horizontal compatibility across all existing 

modules 

• Vertical compatibility between existing and 

subsequently added modules 

• Continuity of the Kaba Group as a guarantee 

of professional worldwide customer service 

It is no coincidence that the Kaba Group 

generates about 60 % of its sales from its 

established base of existing customers. Kaba’s 

employees are aware of the responsibility this 

entails. With their know-how and their personal 

commitment, they make sure that Kaba contin-

ues to be a competitive global leader in terms 

of both competences and products.

Customer needs 
change, we offer 
innovative solutions. 
It is no accident that 
the Kaba Group 
generates around 
60 % of its sales 
from its established 
base of existing 
customers.



Nothing beats the feeling of security. Kaba’s technology helps provide this. With a 
range of products for private households — from padlocks to sophisticated systems for 
registered locks and access control.







Recording enterprise data and time + attendance information opens up ways of 
simplifying procedures, tightening up processes and making systematic use of the data 
collected. Kaba leads the way, offering integrated systems which make complexity 
manageable.



In the United States, Kaba is one of the leading providers of access systems for the 
hotel market. In a highly complex IT environment, solutions are offered which prove 
their worth in international hotel chains and ensure guests enjoy their stay.





Kaba’s security technology can be found in airports around the globe. Whether 
it is providing access control, automatic doors, barriers, time recording, access 
authorization or contactless identifi cation: Kaba stands for security.







Sports stadiums are about many things. Millions of people enter them and leave them. 
Kaba is there to ensure people can move in safety — from the moment they arrive to 
the moment they leave. Security for everybody.





Where unique assets are held — in museums and private collections —, there can be no 
compromise in safeguarding those assets. Once lost, they can never be replaced. 



Pursuing goals, getting busy, striving after something. If you want to plan and achieve, 
this is best done from a position of security. Security means what you provide will be 
more predictable. Where industry is busy, Kaba is there.
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Report on the 
2005/2006 financial year

Growth in the second half

In the 2005/2006 fi nancial year, net sales 

of the Kaba Group topped the billion franc 

mark, reaching CHF 1,041.0 million. This repre-

sents an increase of 6.2 % compared to the 

CHF 980.1 million recorded in the previous 

year. 

In the fi rst half of the year, group sales 

rose 3.3 % overall. The second half saw the 

growth in sales to 9.1 %, taking the increase in 

sales for the fi nancial year as a whole to 6.2 %. 

The pleasing result for 2005/2006 therefore 

came mainly on the back of a strong second 

half.

In 2005/2006, the Kaba group achieved 

organic growth of 4.0 % after adjusting for 

currencies, as against 2.1 % in the previous 

year. Consolidated operating profi t (EBIT) 

improved by 4.7 %, or CHF 5.3 million, to 

CHF 118.8 million. Although the EBIT fi gure 

posted for the previous year was CHF 121.3 

million, it must be borne in mind that this 

fi gure was boosted by a non-recurring amount 

of CHF 7.8 million (see “One-off factors in the 

previous year”). To compare like with like, a 

fi gure of CHF 113.5 million needs to be used for 

the previous year’s EBIT.

Net profi t for the Group also showed 

another positive performance, climbing 

CHF 2.2 million against the previous year to 

reach CHF 68.1 million. The net profi t posted 

for the previous year was infl uenced by one-off 

factors, too. Adjusted to these factors, the pre-

vious year’s net profi t was CHF 61.9 million.

The EBIT margin for the Group fell slightly, 

from 11.6 % to 11.4 %. This was mainly due to 

an unfavorable basis for comparison in the 

American access technology business: In the 

2004/2005 fi nancial year, Kaba won a major 

contract with US government offi ces with a 

very attractive margin. In the year under 

review, no comparable subsequent contracts 

were agreed in the US.

Uneven performance for the different 

segments

In the Door Systems segment, the EBIT 

margin increased from 6.3 % in the previous 

year to 8.2 % in the year under review (fi gures 

in this section are in the local currency). In 

the fi rst half of the year, sales improved 4.4 %, 

before rising by 9.0 % in the second half. Over 

the year as a whole, Door Systems saw organic 

growth of 6.7 %. 

The Data Collection segment also showed 

an impressive increase in its EBIT margin. In 

the fi rst half the fi gure was 14.6 % (previous 

year 12.6 %), and in the second half 10.5 % 

(previous year 5.9 %). Over the fi nancial year 

as a whole, the EBIT margin advanced from 

9.4 % to 12.6 %. The segment suffered a fall in 

sales of 5.9 %; they were down 8 % in the fi rst 

half and 3.8 % in the second.

The Access Systems segment saw a slight 

deterioration in its EBIT margin, from 20.3 % 

to 19.6 %. This is the result of the unfavorable 

basis for comparison stemming from the major 

contract in the United States in the previous 

year mentioned above. In the fi rst half of the 

year, the EBIT margin fell from 23.2 % to 

21.3 %, while in the second half it improved 

from 17.3 % to 17.9 %. The second half of the 

year also saw organic growth in sales of 6.7 %. 

In Europe, growth for the segment was 11.3 %, 

and in the Americas 5.4 %. In Asia, on 

the other hand, the segment recorded an 8 % 

reduction in sales. For the fi nancial year as 

a whole, Access Systems registered organic 

growth of 3.7 %.

In the Key + Ident segment, the EBIT mar-

gin was reduced from 11.7 % to 10.1 %. In the 

fi rst half of the year, it fell from 11.5 % to 8.5 %, 

and in the second from 11.9 % to 11.5 %. Sales 

rose 3.9 %, with a slight fall in the fi rst half 

more than made up for by a 7.6 % increase in 

the second.

In the 2005/2006 
fi nancial year, sales 
at the Kaba Group 
topped the billion 

franc mark. 
The Group achieved 

net sales of 
CHF 1041.0 million. 

This represents 
an increase of 6.2 %.
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Sharp rise in raw materials prices 

Over the past fi nancial year, raw metals 

prices have risen by huge amounts. On the 

London market, the price of a tonne of zinc 

has gone up from USD 1,998 at the beginning 

of the fi nancial year to USD 3,220 at the end 

of it. The picture was similar in the copper 

market, with the price rising from USD 3,206 

to USD 7,320 a tonne. The hike in raw materials 

prices has had a detrimental effect on Kaba’s 

business. Particularly in the key blanks busi-

ness — the Key Systems market segment — this 

impacted on the result. Since the cost of raw 

materials has risen so fast, it has only been 

possible to pass on the increased costs to the 

customer with a time lag. 

Outlook 

Kaba expects the macroeconomic environ-

ment to continue positive. It has full order 

books for the start of the 2006/2007 fi nancial 

year, particularly in Door Systems and in 

Access Systems in Europe. In the short and 

medium term, this points to a positive progres-

sion. As the past fi nancial year has shown, 

Kaba suffers from more marked volatility in 

the United States. The acquisitions made in 

the fi rst half of the current fi nancial year — 

of CSS 1) in the US and of the Wah Yuet Group 

in China — will contribute to free cash fl ow 

from the outset. The Wah Yuet Group will also 

contribute immediately to the Group’s net 

profi t.

Kaba anticipates that the raw materials 

markets will enter calmer waters and over the 

medium term will stabilize at the price levels 

they have attained. 

1) At the time of going to press, this transaction still 
 requires approval from some European trust authori- 
 ties.

One-off factors in the previous year

The previous year’s fi nancial statements 

contain three one-off effects which need to 

be borne in mind when comparing the results.

Firstly, as mentioned above, the adjust-

ment made to Swiss pension funds for in-

creased life expectancy affected the previous 

year’s EBIT fi gure. It resulted in a one-off 

addition to EBIT amounting to CHF 7.8 million. 

Secondly, Kaba incurred an expense of CHF 

7.9 million in 2004/2005 for refi nancing and 

the repayment of an index-linked syndicated 

loan — this expense needs to be deducted 

when comparing the respective annual results. 

And thirdly, there was a one-off reduction in 

the tax burden in the previous fi nancial year 

amounting to CHF 4.1 million because of legal-

structural measures and the repayment of the 

syndicated loan. These three factors need to 

be taken into account before the net profi t for 

2005/2006 can be properly compared with 

that of the previous year. As against the profi t 

fi gure of CHF 65.9 million posted in 2004/2005, 

the like-for-like amount is CHF 61.9 million. 

In 2005/2006, Kaba recorded net profi t of 

CHF 68.1 million. 

The fi gures given in this report on the 

2005/2006 fi nancial year have been adjusted 

for these factors unless stated otherwise. 

A share of CHF 3.5 million in the total one-off 

fi gure was realized in the Door Systems 

Segment, CHF 2.9 million in the Access Systems 

Segment and CHF 1.4 million in the “other”.

Order books are full 
at the beginning 
of the new fi nancial 
year, particularly 
in Door Systems and 
Access Systems in 
Europe. Over the 
short and medium 
term, this points 
to a positive perfor-
mance.
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Door Systems Segment

Automatic doors, personal interlocks, platform screen doors and tripod barriers regulate 
access to buildings, sites and facilities, and guarantee a comfortable fl ow of people 
as well as utmost security. Furthermore, the installations harmonize perfectly with any 
architecture or design.
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The focused growth strategy pursued in 

the Door Systems segment brought swift and 

impressive successes in the year under review. 

With few exceptions, above-average increases 

in sales and EBIT as well as gains in market 

share were recorded in all markets. The order 

book has seen continual improvement and has 

reached a very high level by mid-2006.

The segment’s performance is all the 

more pleasing given the less-than-ideal oper-

ating conditions which prevailed in the 

2005/2006 fi nancial year. In Europe the mar-

ket was one of falling demand and declining 

sales prices. The environment did not brighten 

up until the second quarter of 2006, with 

operating conditions for the new fi nancial year 

now better than they have been for a long 

time. 

The two manufacturing companies Kaba 

Gilgen AG in Schwarzenburg, Switzerland, und 

Kaba Gallenschütz GmbH in Bühl, Germany, 

maintained their successful performance. Inno-

vative new developments driven by practical 

customer requirements played a considerable 

part in this. Half-height platform screen doors 

for underground rail systems, airport barriers 

for automatic passenger access control and 

airtight sliding doors for use in hospitals 

or production sites were particular highlights.

A number of major projects bear wit-

ness to Kaba’s outstanding expertise, with 

Kaba Door Systems being preferred to some 

renowned competitors. This includes the 

equipping of 250 German motorway service 

stations with Sanifair tripod barriers with inte-

grated ticketing system. By paying 50 cents, 

guests obtain access to the bathroom facilities 

as well as a voucher which is credited when 

they buy food and drink. Other major projects 

involve the platform screen door systems for 

underground networks in Taipei (Taiwan), 

Shanghai, Beijing, Hong Kong and Paris, and 

an order from Rolex in Geneva for more than 

500 automatic sliding door units. The delivery 

and assembly of 3,000 platform door systems 

in Hong Kong (an order worth CHF 120 million) 

was completed successfully by the end of the 

fi nancial year.

The Chinese market has continued to 

grow rapidly and will be very important to our 

future development in view of the structure 

we put in place in 2005/2006. The production 

facility in China, which was further expanded 

for the underground rail system projects 

in Shanghai and Beijing, has proved its worth. 

Most facades are already produced locally. 

Kaba now has a production and distribution 

base in China which is well equipped for 

continued growth and which should allow the 

Group to benefi t from strong demand both 

within and beyond the Asia-Pacifi c region.

 The two major distribution companies 

in Germany and the UK saw further signifi cant 

improvement in their earnings position and 

continued to record positive results in opera-

tional business. These successes are notewor-

thy in view of the sluggishness of the German 

market in particular in the year under review.

The Door Systems segment has seen continued high growth and has won additional market 

share. Sales increased signifi cantly in the year under review, with a disproportionately 

large improvement in EBIT. Product innovations played a signifi cant part in the segment’s 

success, providing the customer with measurable additional benefi ts. Manufacturing and 

distribution structures were further expanded and refi ned in the 2005/2006 fi nancial year. 

An exceedingly full order book suggests the segment will continue to perform well. 

With few exceptions, 
above-average 
growth in sales and 
EBIT was achieved 
in all markets 
and additional mar-
ket share was won.
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Data Collection Segment

Kaba products enable global enterprises as well as smaller companies to optimize 
their enterprise data collection. In collaboration with specialist system and software 
providers, terminals that fulfi ll all requirements of time recording, enterprise data 
management and access control are turned into tailored solutions which are completely 
integrated into system applications such as SAP.
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In the 2005/2006 fi nancial year, the 

Data Collection segment achieved substantial 

effi ciency gains in production and software 

development through successful implementa-

tion of a rationalization program. The cur-

rency-adjusted EBIT margin stands at the level 

of 2003/2004. The success of the effi ciency 

improvement measures in production is also 

refl ected in reduced inventories and lower 

materials costs.  

This success must be set against a slight 

fall in sales in the segment. The ongoing relo-

cation of industrial production from Germany 

to cheaper locations meant another year of 

stagnating sales in the important German mar-

ket. In contrast, demand in southern and 

western European markets saw an appreciable 

increase. 

Kaba is synonymous worldwide with high-

quality products for collecting time + atten-

dance and enterprise data, as well as with 

interface to ERP-systems (enterprise resource 

planning). The traditional staple of the seg-

ment is its software partner business, which 

has been established in the German and Swiss 

core markets for many years.  

In other countries, particularly in the USA, 

Kaba focuses on direct sales of holistic solu-

tions for time + attendance collection and 

workforce management. Global ERP producers 

are a growing source of revenue. Their need 

for data collection and client-specifi c process-

ing of personalized data opens up a promising 

area of business for Kaba. The basis for such 

applications is provided by an entirely restruc-

tured, modular software package. Because it 

can offer maximum fl exibility, Data Collection 

can meet the individual needs of ERP produc-

ers in terms of integration and information 

processing much more quickly and effi ciently. 

This increases the willingness to use Kaba 

as a global partner for a broad range of appli-

cations. 

Large companies increasingly regard 

access control systems as well as time + atten-

dance management and enterprise data sys-

tems as part of their overall IT structure and 

therefore increasingly seek complete solutions 

from a single source. In order to meet this 

need even more effectively, Kaba decided to 

merge the segments Access Systems in Europe 

and Data Collection from 1 July 2006. The new 

segment, called Access + Data Systems in 

EMEA, will open up the Total Access offering to 

software partners and will strengthen the Kaba 

Group’s position in this high-end technology 

segment. 

In the year under review, the Data Collection segment successfully translated innovations 

and effi ciency improvements into higher margins and thereby boosted its operating result by 

almost one third. Sales, however, were slightly down, with clients in the important European 

markets in particular slow to place orders. Sales in America were up on the previous year.

The operating result 
boosted by almost 
one third. Global 
ERP producers 
represent a growing 
sales segment. 
Their need for data 
recording and client-
specifi c processing 
of personalized data 
opens up a promis-
ing area of business 
for Kaba.
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Access Systems Segment: Europe

Once historically separated, the market segments of locking systems, access control 
and enterprise data collection are increasingly merging into one. Kaba’s state-of-the-art 
technologies combine electronic locking systems, access control and time recording 
into one software concept, connecting the offl ine and online worlds. Further, Kaba closes 
the gap between mechanical locking systems and electronic access control.
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The Access Systems segment in Europe 

added further to its sales growth in the second 

half of the year. For the fi nancial year as a 

whole, an impressive organic growth was 

reported after adjusting for exchange rates. 

The EBIT margin also further increased.

With a view to putting in place its new uni-

fi ed distribution structure, which replaces the 

previous national or regional distribution and 

service structure based on product groups, 

Kaba made some organizational changes in 

the year under review. The new structure, 

aimed at achieving a unifi ed market presence, 

offi cially came into operation on 1 July 2006, 

and represents an adjustment to customer 

needs which have crystallized over recent 

years. Integrated solutions and fl exible, com-

patible designs from a single source are 

increasingly what the customer wants. This 

trend has been driven mainly by rising admin-

istrative and IT costs and the desire for greater 

fl exibility and convenience and more secure 

business processes. 

The traditional distribution channels are 

undergoing a process of consolidation. Prod-

ucts and services are sold directly by the man-

ufacturer as well as through partners such as 

distributors, OEMs, specialist dealers in secu-

rity products and software houses. Direct sales 

tend to be focused on complex global solu-

tions, whilst the indirect channels serve the 

wider market. 

In technological terms, the previously sep-

arate market segments for locking devices, 

access control systems and data collection are 

merging together. New solutions such as RFID 

(Radio Frequency Identifi cation), mechatronic 

and digital locking components and network 

integration are rendering the traditional 

structure of product groups obsolete. Innova-

tions such as data networking using RFID cards 

serve to accelerate this trend and provide a 

signifi cant boost to the market potential for 

access systems. Wireless solutions are ideally 

suited for incorporation into existing buildings 

and installations. Because they do not need 

to be wired up, they allow cost-effective inclu-

sion of additional doors and rooms in the 

access control system, for example in offi ce 

premises. The CardLink system launched 

by Kaba in the year under review was also 

very well received by the market.

Through the formation of competence 

centers, bringing together similarly placed 

technologies and production processes, Kaba 

is anticipating the trend towards technological 

convergence. As from 1 July 2006 the previous 

segments Access Systems in Europe and 

Data Collection were merged to form a new 

segment: Access + Data Systems in EMEA. 

In geographical terms, markets in central 

and eastern Europe, in the Middle East and in 

Africa are gaining in importance. In these 

places, Kaba aims to achieve primarily organic 

growth, working with selected partners and 

through its own distribution structures or local 

representative offi ces. The established mar-

kets in Europe also continue to offer consider-

able potential for further growth, which Kaba 

aims to utilize by stepping up its sales 

and marketing activities and by undertaking 

focused training measures. 

In Europe the Access Systems segment recorded another sharp rise in sales and a over-

proportional increase in EBIT. This success was the result of a favorable economic climate 

and a systematic focus on providing a solution-driven offering and product innovations 

that meet customer needs. Almost all countries contributed to the result.

For the fi nancial 
year as a whole, 
organic growth 
above market aver-
age was achieved 
after adjusting 
for currencies. The 
EBIT margin also 
increased.
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Access Systems Segment: Asia Pacific

Personal interlocks, turnstiles and tripod barriers combined with value control 
support organized access and strengthen security. Locally produced products are 
able to cover specifi c market needs.
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In the Asia-Pacifi c region, Kaba is clearly 

gaining a reputation as a specialist in mecha-

tronic and electronic access systems and 

as a system provider for all-round access and 

security solutions. However, building up its 

position in the different markets requires 

patience and is to be regarded as a long-term 

investment. The new focus meant sacrifi ces 

in terms of turnover and earnings.

In Japan, Kaba was awarded the contract 

to install an extensive system of security doors 

at several locations for the country’s largest 

car manufacturer, thereby achieving an impor-

tant breakthrough in this market segment. 

Acquisition activities in project business have 

been stepped up and have generated lively 

interest among potential customers. However, 

demand for mechanical products is still down. 

Corrective measures have been initiated. 

In Singapore the local Kaba operation 

installed digital cylinders at a major site and 

sold several integrated systems. Demand for 

security doors also picked up — this includes 

a major project at the new airport terminal. 

With a high-quality offering in mechatronics, 

electronic access control, security doors and 

integrated security solutions, Kaba is well 

equipped to meet the demands of Singapore’s 

sophisticated market. 

In Australia and New Zealand, the distri-

bution structure was further expanded in the 

year under review. Kaba responded success-

fully to stiffer competition, particularly at 

the premium end of the market, by procuring 

a greater number of its door fi tting products 

from China. The proportion of products im-

ported from Europe and North America fell 

further. 

In the 2005/2006 fi nancial year Kaba 

drove forward various measures to strengthen 

its operation in the Asia-Pacifi c region, particu-

larly the accelerated expansion of production 

capacity in China.

In Access Systems in the Asia Pacifi c region, the turnaround continues. The segment is 

achieving ever greater success in positioning itself as a specialized provider of all-round 

access and security solutions, and orders coming in from customers in Japan and Singapore 

have confi rmed that the strategy it has embarked on is the right one. Nonetheless, demand 

for mechanical products has remained sluggish, particularly in Japan. Overall there was 

a decrease in sales and EBIT.

In the fi nancial year 
Kaba pushed for-
ward with measures 
to strengthen its 
operation in the 
Asia Pacifi c region, 
principally through 
accelerated expan-
sion of production 
capacities in China.
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Access Systems Segment: Americas

In the Americas, Kaba focuses on access control and high security locks. 
Our high-quality products and technologically advanced solutions have 
been used in the commercial and governmental sectors for decades. 
In addition, Kaba is one of the leading providers of access control systems 
to the hotel market in North America.
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The Access Systems segment in the 

Americas posted positive growth in the second 

half of the year under review despite some 

diffi cult operating conditions. As most lodging 

products are manufactured in Canada, the 

strength of the Canadian dollar against the US 

dollar put downward pressure on the result, 

although this was at an extremely high level. 

Performance in Mexico and other Latin Ameri-

can markets was very encouraging. 

Growth was driven crucially by new prod-

ucts which provide the customer with signifi -

cant added value. Thus, the new models in the 

E-Plex 5000 product line and the new push-

button lock introduced into the lower-end 

E-Plex 2000 series were very well received by 

the market. The new product developments 

show solid growth potential. The range of elec-

tronic push-button locks will soon be comple-

mented by a slim-line model. The market 

acceptance for this line is increasing due to full 

feature set, ease of installation and factory 

support.

In order to familiarize vendors in the 

access systems market with Kaba products and 

to be able to explain the range of possible uses 

face to face, Access Systems in the Americas 

set up a training program in the year under 

review, called «Kaba University». In the 

2005/2006 fi nancial year, training was pro-

vided to more than 460 participants. 

Sales of locking systems for hotels and 

residential buildings, which account for about 

a third of American business, grew strongly in 

the 2005/2006 fi nancial year. A second pro-

duction line came into operation in China, with 

the principal aim of accelerating growth in the 

Asian markets. The Web-based Atlas System 

(Atlas = Advanced Technology Lodging Access 

Control System), developed in conjunction with 

IBM for the hotel industry, continues to enjoy 

high demand and has been extremely well 

received by customers. Atlas can be integrated 

with the Property Management System and 

kiosk check-in (a self-service check-in system) 

and will enable Kaba to develop the market 

in major redevelopments. 

In the resort market, demand for the Web-

based Oracode push-button lock remained 

high. The product is also enjoying swift adop-

tion in the executive housing sector.

The ongoing development and expansion 

of the Cencon line (electronic ATM locks) 

contributed to a robust growth in sales in the 

2005/2006 fi nancial year. Ousing to expanded 

software and additional online applications, 

customers enjoy optimum performance and 

fl exibility.

Kaba now wishes to extend the innovative 

and technological leadership it has attained 

with the Cencon line to its security and moni-

toring products for goods in transit. The Gitcon 

(Goods in Transit Control) electronic product 

line is increasingly regarded by forwarders and 

cargo carriers as an advanced alternative to 

padlocks and seals. Thus, interest in Gitcon has 

been lively. Kaba has also developed a portable 

device (G-2) for air and sea cargo containers. 

A box truck which converts into a mobile 

showroom has been traveling around the 

USA and Canada since May 2006, explaining 

the benefi ts of the different access and key 

systems to local customers. 

After a reduced performance in the fi rst half of the year, the Access Systems segment in 

the Americas returned to growth in the second half. Overall, the segment was slightly down 

after adjusting for exchange rates. It felt the impact of higher raw materials prices and 

the strength of the Canadian dollar in the lodging business. The 2005/2006 fi nancial year 

was also marked by the development of new and existing products bringing the customer 

additional measurable benefi ts and added value. 

In the Americas, 
the Access Systems 
segment returned 
to organic growth in 
the second half of 
the fi nancial year.
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Key + Ident Systems Segment

Through Silca and Ilco, Kaba is the global leader in the development and manufacture 
of key-cutting machines, key blanks and transponder keys. An average of 5 million 
key blanks is produced every day. Legic offers state-of-the-art RFID technology that is 
used in transponder keys and other applications. 



2005 / 2006  Annual Report   47 

The Key + Ident Systems segment includes 

the European Silca business, Ilco’s key cutting 

business in the Americas and the Legic opera-

tion. Overall business performance in the 

2005/2006 fi nancial year was less than 

spectacular. The segment has been heavily 

impacted in recent months by a sharp increase 

in raw materials prices. Nonetheless, a range 

of new innovations and calmer raw materials 

markets provide good prospects for future 

growth. 

The 60 % increase in research and devel-

opment costs and the one-off expense for the 

introduction of SAP in Europe took their toll 

on net earnings at Silca. At the same time, 

increases in raw materials prices, which have 

almost trebled in the last twelve months, also 

left their mark. It was possible to pass on only 

a part of these additional costs to the cus-

tomer in the year under review. However, 

prices are in the process of being adjusted and 

this, together with the “Lean Enterprise” pro-

gram aimed at increasing effi ciency, is likely to 

have a benefi cial effect on profi tability in the 

2006/2007 fi nancial year. The moves made in 

the previous year to tap markets in China, 

India, Latin America and other newly industri-

alized economies should also bear fruit in the 

new fi nancial year. 

In terms of its range of products, Silca is 

well placed. At the Hardware Fair in Cologne, 

the company presented a new type of cloning 

device for encrypted transponders. This inno-

vation, which supplies the data for swift and 

secure copying of keys, provides a perfect way 

for key cutters to recover the business lost to 

other distribution channels. The new device 

promises a greater fl ow of custom and attrac-

tive margins for users. The two electronic 

key cutting machines which were presented 

in Cologne were also well received by trade 

visitors. 

The North American replacement key 

business has returned to growth: turnover 

exceedingly increased in the second half on 

the back of growth in the replacement key 

business. For the fi nancial year as a whole a 

pleasing improvement was recorded. The 

American key business, too, felt the impact of 

the sharp increases in the prices of raw mate-

rials, particularly of copper and zinc. This 

increase in costs was only partially offset by 

higher sales prices. The American fi rms 

were also hit by a sharp rise in medical costs. 

A newly launched engraving machine enjoyed 

an even better reception than expected from 

the hardware trade and key cutters. The sales 

recorded at 30 June 2006 for the second half 

as well as continued cost control, calmer raw 

materials markets and the boost to business 

which new products are expected to bring 

all inspire confi dence for future performance 

in North America. 

In the year under review, Legic recorded 

strong growth rates. Its innovative platform for 

contactless Smart Card technology is very well 

positioned in the market and it was therefore 

able to reap the benefi ts of economic growth 

in Europe. The launch of the new product line 

Legic advant was very well received by the 

market. This new product is a battery-operated 

identifi cation medium with additional contact-

less applications. Thanks to a collaborative 

arrangement with a leading ski resort ticketing 

system provider, the universal Legic technol-

ogy platform can be integrated into existing 

ski resort applications. 

The Key + Ident Systems segment recorded a positive sales performance, but earnings were 

unsatisfactory. The main reason for this was the huge rise in raw materials prices, only 

part of which could be passed on to the market. However, a number of product innovations 

at Silca and Legic provide a sound basis for profi table sales growth. The Legic business put 

in a pleasing performance in terms of both sales and margins.

Numerous innova-
tions and calmer raw 
materials markets 
provide a solid basis 
for future growth.
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Preface

As a responsible enterprise, the sustainability of the com-

pany’s development is the main focus of our considerations. 

To achieve sustainability requires both a clearly defi ned corpo-

rate positioning and a long-term corporate strategy. With the 

Total Access Strategy, the Kaba Group possesses the necessary 

clarity in its strategic orientation. In addition, our sustainability 

report, the Kaba Sustainability Charta, also expresses our 

appreciation of sustainable corporate development. Thus, 

Corporate Governance should therefore not limit itself to the 

legal and structural conditions of corporate activity, but also 

consider the entrepreneurial and ethical responsibility toward 

all stakeholders

The 2005/2006 Corporate Governance report also serves 

the Group’s management as a compass, guiding its conduct and 

executive decisions. The same applies to our internal Manage-

ment Information System (MIS), which obliges the subsidiaries 

to submit monthly, quarterly, semi-annual, and annual fi nancial 

reports (balance sheet, statement of income and cash fl ow). 

These fi gures are consolidated for each segment, as well as for 

the Group, and compared with the budget projections and the 

prior-year results. The budget, which represents the fi rst year of 

a three-year medium-term plan for each subsidiary, is reviewed 

for attainability on the basis of the quarterly results. 
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Introduction

This Corporate Governance Report explains the principles 

of management and control of Kaba at the highest corporate 

level in accordance with the Directive on Information relating 

to Corporate Governance (the Corporate Governance Directive) 

issued by the SWX Swiss Exchange. The information contained in 

this report for fi nancial 2005/2006 is valid as at 30 June 2006, 

unless otherwise stated.

Corporate governance of Kaba complies largely with the 

principles and recommendations of “Swiss Code of Best Practice 

for Corporate Governance” dated 25 March 2002. Due to its 

shareholders’ structure and size, Kaba has adopted certain 

changes thereto.

The principles and rules of Kaba on corporate governance 

are laid down in the Articles of Incorporation 1), Organizational 

Regulations, and the Regulations of the board committees 

of Kaba Holding AG. They are regularly reviewed by the Chief 

Executive Offi cer, who from time to time submits proposals for 

amendments to the Board of Directors for its decision.

Kaba Group’s structure is displayed in the Annual Report 

on pages 14/15, the legal structure is displayed in the Financial 

Report on pages 110/111. 

1)  The Articles of Incorporation may be downloaded from 
www.kaba.com.
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The primary duties of the Board of Directors of Kaba Hold-

ing AG are defi ned in the Swiss Code of Obligations, the Articles 

of Incorporation and the Organizational Regulations. 

Members of the Board of Directors

As at 30 June 2006, the Board of Directors of Kaba Hold-

ing AG consists of nine members. The President (Delegierter 

des Verwaltungsrates) is the only executive member of the 

Board of Directors. None of the non-executive members of the 

Board of Directors has been a member of the management of 

Kaba Holding AG or of the Kaba Group in the four past fi nancial 

years. Rudolf Weber, non-executive member of the Board of 

Directors, is the designated Chief Executive Offi cer of the Kaba 

Group and will head the operative management of the Kaba 

Group as of 1 July 2006. The non-executive members of the 

Board of Directors have no important business connections with 

Kaba Holding AG or the Kaba Group.

The following table sets forth the name, age, principal 

positions, time of fi rst election and the remaining term of offi ce 

of each member of the Board of Directors:

Name Age First election Remaining term

Rudolf Hauser

Chairman, non-executive 69 2000 2006

Gerhard Zeidler

Vice-Chairman, non-executive 70 1997 2008

Ulrich Graf

President and Chief 

Executive Offi cer 

(until 30 June 2006) 61 1989 2008

Maurice P. Andrien 

Non-executive Member 64 2001 2007

Rolf Dörig 

Non-executive Member  49 2004 2007

Karina Dubs-Kuenzle 

Non-executive Member  43 2001 2007

Klaus Schmidt 

Non-executive Member  48 2005 2008

Rudolf Weber 

Non-executive Member 

(Chief Executive Offi cer 

from 1 July 2006)  56 1998 2007

Thomas Zimmermann

Non-executive Member 61 1992 2006

Rudolf Hauser, 

Swiss citizen, has been the 

non-executive Chairman of the 

Board of Directors since 23 Octo-

ber 2001. He chairs the Compen-

sation Committee and the 

Nomination Committee, and is a 

member of the Audit Committee of Kaba Holding AG. He is also 

chairman of the board of directors of Bucher Industries AG, 

Niederweningen. Prior to this, he was vice-chairman of the 

board of directors, president of the executive committee, and 

chief executive offi cer of Bucher Industries AG. He is also vice-

chairman of the board of directors of Rieter Holding AG, Winter-

thur, and member of the board of directors of the stock corpo-

ration (AG) for the Neue Zürcher Zeitung, Zurich. Rudolf Hauser 

studied at the Swiss Federal Institute of Technology (ETH) and 

has degrees in mechanical engineering and management. In 

1964, he received an MBA from INSEAD in Fontainebleau/Paris.

Gerhard Zeidler,

German citizen, is a non-execu-

tive Vice-Chairman of the Board 

of Directors as well as Chairman 

of the Audit Committee and a 

member of the Compensation 

Committee and the Nomination 

Committee of Kaba Holding AG. He is currently chairman of the 

board of trustees of DEKRA e.V. (Sachverständigen- und Über-

wachungsorganisation) and chairman of the supervisory board 

of DEKRA AG and of Dekra Automobil GmbH, Stuttgart. Until 

1995, Gerhard Zeidler served as chairman of the board of 

Alcatel SEL AG, Stuttgart. Gerhard Zeidler has an engineering 

degree from the Technische Hochschule of Darmstadt and is 

honorary professor at the University of Stuttgart as well as 

honorary consul general of the Republic of the Philippines for 

Baden-Württemberg and Hessia.

Board of Directors
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Ulrich Graf,

Swiss citizen, is an executive 

member of the Board of Direc-

tors, as well as President 

and Chief Executive Offi cer (until 

30 June 2006) and a member 

of the Compensation Committee 

and of the Nomination Committee of Kaba Holding AG. He also 

serves as chairman of the boards of directors of Dätwyler Hold-

ing AG, Altdorf, Griesser AG, Aadorf, and Fr. Sauter AG, Basel, 

and is a member of the board of directors of Georg Fischer AG, 

Schaffhausen and Feller AG, Horgen. Furthermore, he is a 

member of the board of trustees of the REGA (Schweizerische 

Rettungsfl ugwacht) foundation and of the supervisory board of 

DEKRA e.V. (Stuttgart, Germany). Ulrich Graf studied at the 

Swiss Federal Institute of Technology (ETH) and has a degree in 

electrical engineering. The Board of Directors of Kaba Holding 

AG intends to elect Ulrich Graf as its Chairman subsequent 

to the Annual General Meeting of 2006.

Maurice P. Andrien,

U.S. citizen, is a non-executive 

member of the Board of Directors 

of Kaba Holding AG. Until 

30 November 2004, he was chair-

man of the board of SunSource 

Technology Services, Addison, 

Illinois, a privately held distributor of industrial products. In 

1998 and 1999, he was president, COO, and member of the 

board of directors at Unican Security Systems Ltd. in Montreal, 

Canada. From 1999 to 2001, Maurice P. Andrien was president, 

CEO, and director at SunSource Inc. and until March 2004 

served The Hillman Group in Cincinnati, Ohio, a privately held 

industrial distributor, as chairman; he remains a member of 

that company’s board. He has a bachelor’s degree in electrical 

engineering and a master’s degree in management from the 

Massachusetts Institute of Technology. 

Rolf Dörig, 

Swiss citizen, is a non-executive 

member of the Board of Directors 

and has been Chief Executive 

Offi cer of the Swiss Life Group 

since 2002. He is a member of 

the following bodies and organi-

zations: executive committee of the Swiss Insurance Associa-

tion, executive committee of economiesuisse, and executive 

board of the Zurich Chamber of Commerce. Rolf Dörig is on the 

board of directors of the Danzer Group, Baar, and president of 

the Grasshopper Club, Zurich. From 1986 to 2002, Rolf Dörig 

worked for the Credit Suisse Group in various leading positions, 

lastly as Chairman Switzerland of the Credit Suisse Group. 

He studied law at the University of Zurich, earning his LL.D. and 

obtaining admission to the bar in the canton of Zurich. In 1995, 

he complemented his education at Harvard Business School 

(AMP/ISMP).

Karina Dubs-Kuenzle,

Swiss citizen, is a non-executive 

member of the Board of Directors 

of Kaba Holding AG as well as a 

partner and member of the board 

of directors of Dubs Konzepte AG, 

Zurich, a catering company she 

and her husband founded in 1997. Karina Dubs-Kuenzle is a 

member of the board of directors or Fileaway AG. A mother of 

three children, she is co-responsible for strategic planning and 

design at Dubs Konzepte AG. She has a background in advertis-

ing and worked for several years as an advertising assistant 

with Wirz Werbeberatung AG in Zurich and Heiri Scherer Creative 

Direction in Zurich.
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Klaus Schmidt,

German citizen, is the CEO of 

DEKRA EV. He is also a member 

of the following bodies and orga-

nizations: Advisory Board, 

Deutsche Bank; Advisory Board, 

Gothaer Versicherungsbank; 

Horváth & Partner AG; Deputy Chairman, LHS Leasing- und 

Beteiligungsgesellschaft; and Norisko S.A., as Chairman. Klaus 

Schmidt has been with DEKRA AG since 1996, serving the com-

pany in various executive functions. Previously, Klaus Schmidt 

was managing director of Alcatel Air Navigation Systems GmbH 

and held various positions with Standard Elektrik Lorenz AG 

(SEL Alcatel AG). Klaus Schmidt received a degree in technically 

oriented business administration from the Technical University 

of Stuttgart. He rounded out his academic background in the 

MBA Program of the University of Oregon, USA, and completed 

the Advanced Management Program at INSEAD in Fontaine-

bleau/Paris.

Rudolf Weber,

Swiss citizen, is a non-executive 

member of the Board of Directors 

of Kaba Holding AG. He also 

serves as a member of the boards 

of directors of Feller AG, Horgen, 

Elma Electronic AG, Wetzikon, 

Pneumatex AG, Füllinsdorf, and Enics AG, Turgi. From 1986 to 

1996, he was a member of the executive committee, with vari-

ous marketing-oriented functions at Elco Looser Holding AG, 

Zurich, and from 1996 until 2001, he was chief operating offi cer 

of Hoval Heiz technik, Feldmeilen. From 2002 to 2006, he 

was CEO of Fr. Sauter AG, Basel. Rudolf Weber studied at the 

Swiss Federal Institute of Technology (ETH) and at the HSG 

(Hochschule St. Gallen); he has a degree in engineering and in 

business administration. Rudolf Weber has been Chief Executive 

Offi cer of the Kaba Group since 1 July 2006. He will step down 

from the Board at the General Meeting on 24 October 2006.

Thomas Zimmermann,

Swiss citizen, is a non-executive 

member of the Board of Directors 

as well as a member of the Audit 

Committee of Kaba Holding AG. 

He lives on a private income. 

From 1994 to 1997, Thomas Zim-

mermann was director of private banking operations Switzer-

land at Swiss Bank Corporation. Before that, he was a director 

with Credit Suisse in Zurich and served foreign multinational 

companies and Swiss institutional investors. Thomas Zimmer-

mann studied at the Swiss Federal Institute of Technology (ETH) 

and has a degree in engineering. He received an MBA from the 

Harvard Business School in Cambridge, Massachusetts.

Cross-Involvement

There are no cross-involvements among the Board 

of Directors of Kaba Holding AG and another listed company. 

Three members of the Board of Directors (Rudolf Hauser, 

Ulrich Graf and Rudolf Weber) serve on the boards of other 

listed companies (indicated on page 52–54).  

  

Elections and Terms of Offi ce

The General Meeting elects the Board of Directors of Kaba 

Holding AG. The Articles of Incorporation of Kaba Holding AG 

provide that the Board of Directors must consist of fi ve to ten 

members at any time. Each member of the Board of Directors 

is elected for a term of three years and may be re-elected to 

successive terms. About one-third of the members of the Board 

of Directors are recommended for re-election each year; the 

Board of Directors decides on how tenure is allocated. As soon 

as they have accomplished the age of 70, the members of the 

Board of Directors resign at the next annual General Meeting.
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The terms of Rudolf Hauser and Thomas Zimmermann 

expire at the Annual General Meeting of 24 October 2006. 

The Board of Directors will propose the re-election of Thomas 

Zimmermann. In addition, the Board of Directors will submit to 

the General Meeting a proposal to elect Heribert Allemann, 

Riet Cadonau and Kin Shek Ng as a new member of the Board.

Heribert Allemann,

Swiss citizen, born in 1944, has 

been a member of the executive 

management of the Kaba Group 

since 1990 and Deputy CEO 

since 2001. He has headed various

 divisions of the Kaba Group 

over the years and carried out a number of projects important 

to Kaba. He played a leading role in the restructuring project 

prior to the IPO in 1995. He built and expanded the Access and 

Data Collection Division in Europe, restructured and turned 

around the loss-making operations in the USA and Japan, and 

laid the basis for the expansion into Asia. In 2001, he was in 

charge of the post-merger integration project, successfully 

amalgamating the Unican and Kaba organizations worldwide 

into the third-largest security group. At the same time,

he headed the largest division of the Kaba Group, as well as 

Cor porate Business Development and IT Services. In the course 

of his career with Kaba he has acted as chairman and board 

member for many subsidiaries.

Heribert Allemann is Chairman of Alpa Partner AG, 

and Vice-Chairman of Contract Farming India AG in Zug. He has 

lectured for several years for various educational institutions 

on the topics of mergers & acquisitions, post-merger integration, 

and innovation. He is Associate Lecturer at ZfU-International 

Business School.

Prior to his engagement with Kaba, Heribert Allemann 

was CEO of the Celfa-Folex Group from 1984 to 1989, and from 

1975 to 1984 he was Deputy Vice President of Holderbank 

Management + Consulting Ltd (now called Holcim).

Heribert Allemann has a Bachelor’s Degree in Mechanical 

Engineering (Micro-Engineering) from the Biel School of Engi-

neering and Architecture, and a Master’s Degree in Economics 

and Business Administration from the University of Bern, 

and complemented his business education by completing the 

Program for Management Development at Harvard Business 

School.

With Heribert Allemann’s election to the Board of Directors, 

he will retire from the Group Management Committee of the 

Kaba Group.

Riet Cadonau,

Swiss citizen, born in 1961, 

is currently Managing Director of 

Transport Revenue at Affi liated 

Computer Services Inc. (ACS), 

which is based in Dallas. Since 

2006 he has been a member of 

the board of directors of Griesser AG in Aadorf. From 2001 

to 2005, Riet Cadonau was a member of the Executive Board 

of Ascom, the Swiss technology group, and headed up two 

different business divisions in that time. Most recently he was 

Deputy CEO and head of the Transport Revenue Division. When 

this division was acquired by Affi liated Computer Services Inc. 

he became its Managing Director for the new owner. Until 2002 

Riet Cadonau was head of the Integrated Services Division at 

Ascom, encompassing Network Integration (European business), 

Transport Revenue (global business) and Security Solutions 

(Germany, Austria and Switzerland). He also managed the Net-

work Integration operation as a combined position. At the end 

of 2002, he assumed responsibility for the globally active Trans-

port Revenue Division, and at the same time was appointed 

Deputy CEO. Within this division he achieved a turnaround in 

the same year. Riet Cadonau was also responsible for Ascom’s 

IT operations and for the Payphone business, which generated 

around CHF 55 million in revenues.

Before he moved to Ascom, Riet Cadonau worked for 

around ten years in various posts at IBM Switzerland, most 

recently as a Member of the Executive Board and Head of 

Global Services from 1998 to 2001. 

In addition to his responsibilities at Ascom, Riet Cadonau 

is also chairman of the respected Schweizerische Management 

Gesellschaft (SMG), an association established in 1961 for 

the purpose of enabling managers to benefi t from each others’ 

practical experience; the association has around 1,200 mem-

bers.

Riet Cadonau obtained a degree in business economics 

from the University of Zurich in 1988, focusing on marketing 

and human resources. He added to his qualifi cations with a 

certifi cate in English from the London Chamber of Commerce 

and Industry, gained through a period of language study in the 

UK, and with a diploma from the Swiss universities’ Schweize-

rischer Kurs für Unternehmensführung (business management 

course) in 1997. He is offi cer general staff of the Swiss Army.
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Kin Shek Ng, 

Chinese citizen, born in 1940, 

is the CEO and Chairman of the 

Wah Yuet Group, a subsidiary of 

Kaba. K. S. Ng founded the Wah 

Yuet Group in 1974 and, until 

it became part of Kaba, was the 

sole shareholder as well as CEO and Chairman of the company, 

which is based in Hong Kong and has production facilities in 

China and logistics and marketing fi rms in Macao and Hong 

Kong. Under his leadership, the company has grown to become 

an important manufacturer in the global locks industry. 

Signifi cant investments were made to refi ne production and 

to optimize manufacturing processes.  

K. S. Ng opened the Wah Yuet Group’s fi rst production site 

in 1974 in Hong Kong. In 1981 production was moved to the 

People’s Republic of China, which at that time was just starting 

to open up to foreign fi rms. K.S. Ng was directly involved in 

drawing up the reforms in China and in formulating its open-

door policy. In addition to his work as CEO and Chairman of the 

Wah Yuet Group, K. S. Ng invests in real estate and the fi nancial 

market through his other private companies. Before he set up 

the Wah Yuet Group, Kin Shek Ng was a consultant for Toyota, 

and was responsible for introducing the Toyota brand onto the 

Chinese market in the early 1970s.

Kin Shek Ng studied political science and economics. He 

lives in Hong Kong.

 

Internal Organizational Structure

The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for the 

general policies and management of Kaba. The Board of Direc-

tors establishes the strategic, organizational, accounting and 

fi nancing policies to be followed by Kaba. The Board of Directors 

has delegated the conduct of the day-to-day business opera-

tions to the Group Management Committee, which is headed by 

the President. The President is responsible for the management 

of Kaba and for all other matters except for those reserved 

by law, the Articles of Incorporation, and Organizational Regula-

tions to another corporate body.

The primary duties of the Board of Directors, as defi ned 

in the Swiss Code of Obligations and Articles of Incorporation 

of Kaba Holding AG, are as follows:

• Strategic direction and management of Kaba

• Accounting matters, fi nancial control, and fi nancial planning

• Appointing and dismissing the members of the Group Man-

agement Committee and other key executives

• Overall supervision of business operation

• Preparation of the annual reports and the general meetings 

and execution of its resolutions.

Resolutions of the Board of Directors are taken collectively 

by all of its members. During fi nancial 2005/2006, the Board 

of Directors met six times at the regularly scheduled one-day 

meetings. 1) In addition, seven meetings of the committees took 

place. The agendas for board meetings are set by the Chairman 

based on proposals of the Chief Executive Offi cer. Any member 

of the Board of Directors, however, may request that an item 

be included on the agenda. The members of the Board of Direc-

tors receive, in advance of board meetings, documents allowing 

them to prepare for the items on the agenda.

The Board of Directors holds discussions with offi cers of 

Kaba and visits one or more offi ces and plants per year.

Committees

The Board of Directors has established an Audit Committee, 

a Compensation Committee and a Nomination Committee. 

Each of the committees has regulations in writing, outlining 

its duties and responsibilities. The chairpersons are elected by 

the Board of Directors. The committees meet regularly and 

are required to submit full reports and recommendations to 

the Board of Directors at its regular meetings. The agendas for 

the committee meetings are set by their chairpersons. The 

members of the committees receive, in advance of meetings, 

documents allowing them to prepare for the items on the 

agenda.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three non-executive 

members of the Board of Directors experienced in fi nancial and 

accounting matters due to their professional background. The 

Board of Directors has determined that the members must 

meet certain requirements with respect to independence and 

quali fi cation and may not be part of the Group Management 

Committee. Each member of the Audit Committee is elected for 

a term of one year and may be re-elected to successive terms. 

Currently, the Audit Committee is composed of the following 

members: Gerhard Zeidler, Rudolf Hauser and Thomas Zimmer-

mann. The Audit Committee is chaired by Gerhard Zeidler.

1) The extraordinary board meeting on 12 July 2006 lasted 
half a working day. 
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The chairperson shall invite the members of the Audit 

Committee to convene as often as business requires, but 

meetings shall be held at least once a year. As a rule, the Chief 

Executive Offi cer, the Chief Financial Offi cer and representa-

tives of the statutory auditors as well as, if necessary, individu-

als concerned with internal auditing duties shall participate at 

the meetings with consultative voices. Minutes shall be recorded 

on negotiations conducted and resolutions passed by the Audit 

Committee.

The principal responsibility of the Audit Committee is to 

sustain a comprehensive and effi cient auditing concept for 

Kaba Holding AG and the Kaba Group. In particular, the Audit 

Committee has the following competencies:

Within the scope of external auditing:

•  Approval of auditing program focus points

•  Acceptance of the report of and recommendations, if any, 

by the statutory auditors prior to the approval of the annual 

accounts by the Board of Directors

•  Presentation of the motion for the appointment of the statu-

tory auditors to the Board of Directors (for further application 

to the annual General Meeting), including appraisal of the 

statutory auditors’ performance and compensation, as well 

as their independence, and assessment of the compliance 

of the auditing activities with other services

Within the scope of internal auditing:

•  Approval of guidelines governing the organization and 

responsibilities of internal auditing

•  Outsourcing, if necessary, of internal auditing activities 

to third parties or to the statutory auditors as an expansion 

of their scope of activities

•  Approval of the auditing program

•  Acknowledgement of auditing results and of recommen-

dations by external or internal auditors

The Audit Committee reports yearly to the Board 

of Directors on its activities. In important cases, the Board of 

Directors shall be notifi ed immediately.

Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee consists of two non-execu-

tive members and one executive member of the Board of Direc -

tors. Each member of the Compensation Committee is elected 

for a term of one year and may be re-elected to successive 

terms. Currently, the chairperson is Rudolf Hauser, Chairman 

of the Board of Directors; the other members are Gerhard 

Zeidler, Vice-Chairman of the Board, and Ulrich Graf, President 

and CEO.

The Compensation Committee approves compensation 

(including share option programs) of the members of the Board 

of Directors. It also determines the compensation policies of 

the members of the Group Management Committee as well 

as approving the compensation of the members of the Group 

Management Committee (Ulrich Graf abstains from deliberating 

and voting with respect to his own compensation). The Com-

pensation Committee meets at least once per year. The Chief 

Executive Offi cer and the head of Finance participate in the 

meetings in an advisory capacity. Details of the compensation 

policies may be found on page 61.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is composed of three members, 

the majority of whom must be non-executive members of the 

Board of Directors. The Nomination Committee currently com-

prises Rudolf Hauser (Chairman), Gerhard Zeidler and Ulrich 

Graf. The Nomination Committee convenes at least once a year. 

Its members are elected for a term of one year, and re-election 

is possible.

The Nomination Committee establishes the principles 

for the nomination and re-election of members of the Board of 

Directors and pursuant to these principles submits to the 

Board of Directors proposals regarding the board’s composition. 

Decisions on nominations are made by the Board of Directors 

itself. The Board of Directors may also delegate the responsibil-

ity for the nomination and evaluation of members of the 

Group Management Committee to the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee keeps minutes of its consul-

tations and resolutions, and regularly reports to the Board of 

Directors.

Information and Control Instruments vis-à-vis 

the Group Management Committee

The Management Information System (MIS) of Kaba is as 

follows: fi nancial statements (balance sheet, statement of 

income, cash-fl ow statement) of each of the subsidiaries are 

prepared monthly, quarterly, semi-annually and annually. 

These numbers are summarized per segment and consolidated 

for the group. They are compared with the preceding fi nancial 

year and the budget. The budget, which constitutes the fi rst 

year of a three-year mid-term plan per subsidiary, is assessed 

on the basis of the quarterly statements in the form of forecasts 

with respect to its achievability.

Each COO reports monthly, with respect to the status of 

achieving the budget, in writing to the Group Management 

Committee and the Board of Directors. At the meetings of the 

Board of Directors, these reports are discussed with the Chief 

Executive Offi cer and the heads of the divisions.
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Management Board

Management Philosophy

Kaba delegates entrepreneurial responsibility to the lowest 

possible level. The management organization at Kaba is based 

on decentralized responsibility and fast decision-making 

channels that are close to local markets. This structure calls for 

personal initiative and guarantees maximum customer satisfac-

tion. The COOs are responsible for their worldwide business 

activities, including development, production and distribution.

Management Organization

The Board of Directors has appointed the Group Manage-

ment Committee, chaired by the Chief Executive Offi cer. It has 

defi ned their functions and responsibilities in the Organizational 

Regulations. The COOs report to the Chief Executive Offi cer, 

who is responsible for the day-to-day business and the co-opera-

tion of the divisions.

The Group Management Committee consists of the COOs, 

the Chief Financial Offi cer and the Head of Business Develop-

ment.

Chief Executive Offi cer

The Chief Executive Offi cer manages the Kaba Group. He is 

entrusted with all functions except for those matters reserved 

by law, the Articles of Incorporation and the Organizational 

Regulations to another corporate body. After consultation with 

the Group Management Committee, the Chief Executive Offi cer 

proposes — subject to approval by the Board of Directors — the 

strategy of long-term and medium-term objectives and the ma-

nagement guidelines of Kaba. Upon proposals submitted by the 

Chief Executive Offi cer, the Board of Directors makes decisions 

in relation to annual budgets (consolidated and for the holding 

company), individual projects, annual statements (consolidated 

and for the holding company) and personnel. The Compensation 

Committee may decide upon proposals submitted by the Chief 

Executive Offi cer in relation to the compensation (including the 

share option programs) of the members of the Group Manage-

ment Committee and personnel insurance concepts.

The Chief Executive Offi cer shall regularly inform the Board 

of Directors on current business developments, anticipated 

opportunities and risks as well as senior executive staffi ng 

changes at subsidiaries. The Board of Directors may request and 

review other information. The Chief Executive Offi cer shall 

immediately notify the Chairman of the Board of Directors when 

signifi cant unanticipated developments occur.

The Chief Executive Offi cer reviews from time to time 

whether the Articles of Incorporation, the regulations issued by 

the Board of Directors, and signatory powers must be changed 

and, when appropriate, submits the respective amendments.

Members of the Group Management Committee

The following table sets forth the name, age, principal 

positions and entry of those individuals who currently serve as 

members of the Group Management Committee: 
  
Name/Position Age Entry

Ulrich Graf

President and 

Chief Executive Offi cer 

(until 30 June 2006) 61 1984

Rudolf Weber 

Chief Executive Offi cer 

(from 1 July 2006) 56 2006

Heribert Allemann

Head Corporate business 

development + IT

Vice-Chief Executive Offi cer 62 1990

Frank Belfl ower

Chief Operating Offi cer 

Access + Key Systems Americas Division 53 2001

Andreas Brechbühl

Chief Operating Offi cer 

Access Systems Asia Pacifi c Division 48  2005

Roberto Gaspari

Chief Operating Offi cer Key + Ident 

Systems Europe / Asia Pacifi c Division                          

(from 1 January 2006) 46 2006

Jakob Gilgen

Chief Operating Offi cer 

Door Systems Division 51 2003

Guy Petignat

Chief Operating Offi cer

Key + Ident Systems Europe Division                          

(until 31 December 2005) 48 2002

Bertram Schmitz

Chief Operating Offi cer

Data Collection Division 

(until 31 March 2006) 52 2001

Dr. Werner Stadelmann

Chief Financial Offi cer

Finance Division 59  1981

Ulrich Wydler

Chief Operating Offi cer

Access Systems Europe Division

Chief Operating Offi cer 

Data Collection Division 

(from 1 April 2006) 59 1994
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Ulrich Graf,

Swiss citizen, joined the Board 

of Directors of Kaba as a member 

in 1989, was appointed Chief 

Executive Offi cer in 1990, and 

became President in 1992. He was 

employed by Kaba in 1976 and 

was the managing director of various Group companies until 

1984, when he was elected to the Group Management Commit-

tee (see page 53).

Rudolf Weber,

Swiss citizen, joined the Board of 

Directors of Kaba Holding AG as 

a member in 1998 and assumed 

responsibility for operational 

management of the Kaba Group 

on 1 July 2006 (see also page 54).

Heribert Allemann, 

Swiss citizen, is head of central 

services Corporate Business 

Development + IT. The Board of 

Directors of Kaba Holding AG will 

propose to the Annual General 

Meeting on 24 October 2006 that 

Heribert Allemann be elected to the Board. With this election, 

Heribert Allemann will retire from the Group Management 

Committee (see also page 55). 

Frank Belfl ower, 

U. S. citizen, is Chief Operating 

Offi cer and head of the 

Access + Key Systems Americas 

Division. After the acquisition 

of Unican Security Systems Ltd. 

by the Kaba Group, he became 

member of the Group Management Committee in 2001. He had 

been with the Unican group since 1978 where he had fi lled 

different management positions. Frank Belfl ower became 

a member of the Unican group management in 1993. He holds 

a degree of Bachelor of Arts (BA Psychology). Frank Belfl ower 

is on the Industry Advisory Board of ALOA and is a member of 

the strategic committees of SHDA and BHMA, two major North 

American industry associations.   

Andreas Brechbühl,

Swiss citizen, is, since 1 July 

2005, Chief Operating Offi cer of 

the Access Systems Division 

Asia Pacifi c and member of the 

Group Management Committee. 

From 2003 until joining Kaba, 

he was General Manager of Hilti in Hongkong. From 1994 to 

2002, he worked for the Diethelm Keller Group as senior 

vice-president Asia. Previously, he served in various executive 

positions with Ciba Vision, Jacobs Suchard, and Unilever. 

Andreas Brechbühl studied at the Hochschule für Wirtschafts-, 

Rechts- und Sozialwissenschaften (HSG) in St. Gallen and 

graduated as lic. oec. HSG. He resides and works in Hong Kong. 

Roberto Gaspari,

Italian citizen, assumed responsi-

bility for Key + Ident. Systems 

Europe / Asia Pacifi c on 1 January 

2006, becoming a member of the 

Group Management Committee 

at the same time. He joined Kaba 

in March 2002, since when he has been General Manager of 

Silca S.p.A in Vittorio Veneto, Italy. He is currently working on 

Silca’s expansion in the Asia Pacifi c region and in South Amer-

ica. From 1997 to 2002, Mr Gaspari worked for the multinational 

US company Watts Industries Inc. as Managing Director Italy 

and France. Between 1988 and 1997 he held the post of Manag-

ing Director at Cisa spa. He graduated in business studies from 

the University of Milan. 

Jakob Gilgen, 

Swiss citizen, was appointed Chief 

Operating Offi cer and head of 

the Door Systems Division on 

1 July 2003. As of 1993, he was 

president and managing director 

of the former Gilgen AG. After 

the 1996 acquisition of Gilgen Tür- und Torautomation AG by 

the Kaba Group, he headed up Kaba Gilgen AG in this position. 

Jakob Gilgen is a part-time commercial law judge at the 

Superior Court of the Canton of Bern. He studied at the Univer-

sity of Applied Sciences in Biel and graduated with diplomas 

in both mechanical and electrical engineering. After having 

gained several years of professional experience, he comple-

mented his academic qualifi cations with post-graduate studies 

in business management.
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Guy Petignat, 

Swiss and Australian citizen, from 

2002 to 2005 was a member of 

the Group Management Commit-

tee as Chief Operating Offi cer 

and headed of the Key + Ident Sys-

tems Europe Division. He joined 

the Kaba Group in 1999 in business development, and thereafter 

he was responsible for the Legic business. Before that, from 

1991 to 1995, he was general manager in Australia of Ascom AG, 

responsible for the hearing devices division and, from 1995 

to 1998, for the service automation segment. Guy Petignat stud-

ied at the Swiss Federal Institute of Technology (ETH) in Zurich 

and has a degree in industrial management (Dipl. Ing.). In 

2001, he received a degree from Harvard University in Boston. 

Guy Petignat left the Kaba Group on 31 December 2005.

Bertram Schmitz, 

German citizen, from September 

2001 until he left the Kaba Group 

on 31 March 2006 was a member 

of the Group Management Com-

mittee as Chief Operating Offi cer 

and head of the Data Collection 

Division. Bertram Schmitz joined the Kaba Group in 1994 as 

head of the distribution and services segment of Kaba Schliess-

systeme in Germany and, from 1996, served as head of Kaba 

Benzing GmbH. He studied at the American Graduate School of 

International Management (Master of International Manage-

ment) and at Harvard Business School (AMP).

Werner Stadelmann, 

Swiss citizen, is, since 1990, head 

of the Finance Division. He joined 

Kaba as group controller in 1981 

and became a member of the 

Group Management Committee. 

From 1974 to 1981, he had various 

management positions in controlling in the Gurit group. 

Werner Stadelmann studied at the Hochschule für Wirtschafts-, 

Rechts- und Sozialwissenschaften (HSG) in St. Gallen and 

graduated as Dr. oec. HSG.

Ulrich Wydler, 

Swiss citizen, is Chief Operating 

Offi cer and head of the Access 

Systems Europe Division. He 

joined Kaba in 1984 and became 

a member of the Group Manage-

ment Committee in 1994. From 

1972 to 1984, he was head of development and manager of 

projects in the air defense division of Oerlikon-Bührle Contraves. 

Ulrich Wydler is chairman of the board of directors of Bridge 

Betriebsdaten AG. He studied at the technical university in 

Brugg and graduated with a degree in electrical engineering.

Management Contracts

Kaba Holding AG and its subsidiaries have not entered into 

management contracts with third parties.
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Compensation, Shareholdings, and Loans

Contents and Method of Determining the Compensation and 

Shareholding Programs

For their work, the members of the Board of Directors 

receive remuneration that is proposed by the Compensation 

Committee and ratifi ed by the entire Board of Directors.

The executives of Kaba receive performance-related com-

pensation. The variable component — 15 % to 30 % of the 

fi xed salary — depends on the achievement of individual perfor-

mance goals, which are defi ned in advance every year. The 

size of this component depends on the profi t generated in the 

operating unit or division in question and, to some extent, on 

consolidated net income. The Compensation Committee 

approves, upon proposal of the Chief Executive Offi cer, the 

compensation (including the share option programs) of the 

members of the Group Management Committee.

Stock option plans are a further compensation component 

available to members of the Board of Directors and the Group 

Management Committee and, since 1 July 2002, to certain other 

employees. According to the Kaba Executive Stock Option Plan 

instituted on 2 July 2002 (Stock Option Plan 2002), which 

superseded the Regulations on the Issuance of Options on 

Stocks dated 16 September 1998 (Stock Option Plan 1998), the 

entitled persons receive options that can be exercised in 

steps over a certain period of time within the scope determined 

by the Compensation Committee or the Board of Directors.

Compensation for Acting Members of the 

Governing Bodies

The total of all compensation (not including stock or 

option allotments) paid to the non-executive members of the 

Board of Directors in fi nancial 2005/2006 amounted to gross 

CHF 482,000. Under Stock Option Plan 2002, the non-execu-

tive members of the Board of Directors received 1,400 options 

for fi nancial 2005/2006.

The total of all compensation (not including stock or 

option allotments) paid to the executive member of the Board 

of Directors and other members of the Group Management 

Committee in fi nancial 2005/2006 amounted to gross CHF 

6,636,622. This amount also includes the compensation for the 

future Chief Executive Offi cer during his introductory period. 

Under Stock Option Plan 2002, the executive member of the 

Board of Directors and other members of the Group Manage-

ment Committee received 5,400 options for fi nancial 

2004/2005.

In fi nancial 2005/2006, no non-executive or executive 

member of the Board of Directors terminated his or her gover-

nance function. The members of the Group Management Com-

mittee Bertram Schmitz and Guy Petignat left the Kaba Group 

on 31 March 2006 and 31 December 2005 respectively. 

New members of the Group Management Committee are 

Andreas Brechbühl, from 1 July 2005, and Roberto Gaspari, 

from 1 January 2006.

Compensation for Former Members of Governing Bodies

None of the members of the Group Management Commit-

tee who withdrew from their functions during or before the 

prior year received compensations in fi nancial 2005/2006. 

No non-executive members of the Board of Directors who 

withdrew from their functions prior to the year under review 

received compensation in fi nancial 2005/2006.

Stock Option Plans

The General Meeting held on 27 October 1997, authorized 

the creation of conditional capital in the amount of CHF 

200,000 for the creation of a stock option plan. The extraor-

dinary General Meeting held on 8 February 2001, increased the 

conditional capital to be used for the stock option plan by 

CHF 400,000 to CHF 600,000 (issued as 60,000 registered 

shares with a par value of CHF 10.00). The Annual General 

Meeting of 25 October 2005 approved an increase in the condi-

tional capital by an additional 60,000 shares.

Stock Option Plan 1998

The purpose of stock option plan 1998 is to encourage the 

eligible persons to accelerate the implementation of the corpo-

rate strategy and the enhancement of corporate value in the 

interest of all shareholders. Members of the Board of Directors 

and of the Group Management Committee were obliged to 

purchase options.

A total of 18,449 options were allotted within the scope of 

Stock Option Plan 1998, and for this reason, 18,449 registered 

shares with a par value of CHF 10 (totaling CHF 184,490) of the 

conditional capital were reserved for Stock Option Plan 1998. 

Of these 18,449 options, 1,312 have been exercised in return for 

registered shares and 6,248 in return for conditional share 

capital. On 30 June 2006, the unused options allotted under 

the Stock Option Plan 1998 expire worthless. The conditional 

share capital of CHF 63,445.20 divided into 12,201 registered 

shares with a par value of CHF 5.20 each, which was reserved 

for the Stock Option Plan 1998, will be used for the Stock Option 

Plan 2002.

Stock Option Plan 1998 replaces portions of the emolument 

of members of the Board of Directors and the Group Manage-

ment Committee. Allotments were made on the basis of the 
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market value of the options. There was a three-year moratorium 

on the options that entitled the owner to purchase a registered 

share in Kaba Holding AG; the options had then to be exercised 

within two years. The exerciser could demand cash payment 

in lieu of the physical delivery of the registered shares. After the 

two-year exercise period, the options became null and void. 

The members of the Board of Directors and the Group Manage-

ment Committee as well as the chief operating offi cers were 

obligated to take such options.

Stock Option Plan 2002

The purpose of Stock Option Plan 2002 is to offer the 

eligible persons an opportunity to participate in the share capi-

tal of Kaba Holding AG as well as in the fi nancial success of 

the Kaba Group and thus to encourage their identifi cation with 

the Kaba Group. Members of the Board of Directors and 

upper management levels, including the Group Management 

Committee members and certain managerial employees are 

eligible for this plan.

Every year on 1 September, at the Chief Executive Offi cer’s 

request, the Compensation Committee defi nes the eligibility 

criteria and the number of options to be allotted. The allotment 

of options to members of the Board of Directors as proposed 

by the Compensation Committee shall be ratifi ed by the Board 

of Directors. Each option, allotted free of charge to the eligible 

persons, entitles the owner to purchase a registered share 

of Kaba Holding AG (at the option owner’s discretion: physical 

delivery or cash payment in lieu). The exercise price corre-

sponds to the average closing price of Kaba Holding AG 

registered shares at the SWX Swiss Exchange during the last 

two months prior to 31 August of the respective allotment 

year. One-fourth of the options can be exercised per year; the 

options expire fi ve years after allotment.

A total of 113,752 registered shares with a par value of 

CHF 5.20 (totaling CHF 591,510.40) of the conditional share cap-

ital are reserved for Stock Option Plan 2002. 54,760 options 

have been allotted, 120 options have been exercised in return 

for registered shares and 3,335 in return for conditional share 

capital.

Share Allotment During Financial 2005/2006

In fi nancial 2005/2006, no registered shares of Kaba 

Holding AG were allotted to the members of the Board of 

Directors, the Group Management Committee or parties closely 

linked to such persons.

Share Ownership

Pursuant to the share register as at 30 June 2006, execu-

tive members of the Board of Directors and other members of 

the Group Management Committee and parties closely linked to 

such persons held 37,645 registered shares of Kaba Holding AG.

Pursuant to the share register as at 30 June 2006, non-

executive members of the Board of Directors and parties closely 

linked to such persons held 58,494 registered shares of Kaba 

Holding AG.

Options 

Under the stock option plans, the current members of the 

Board of Directors and the members of the Group Management 

Committee held the following number of options:
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Stock Option Plan 1998 

 Allotment  Allotment Allotment Allotment Total as at

Participants 1998 1999 2000 2001 30. 6. 2006

Executive members of the Board of Directors and members 

of the Group Management Committee and parties closely linked 

to such persons, in toto    4,456 4,904 1,752 4,005 15,117

Non-executive members of the Board of Directors 

and parties closely linked to such persons, in toto 336 300 128 398 1,162

Exercise price in CHF per share 188 224 567 487  —

Stock Option Plan 2002

 Allotment  Allotment Allotment Allotment Total as a

Participants 2002 2003 2004 2005 per 30. 6. 2006

Executive members of the Board of Directors and members 

of the Group Management Committee and parties closely linked 

to such persons, in toto   5,400 5,400 5,400 5,400 21,600

Non-executive members of the Board of Directors 

and parties closely linked to such persons, in toto 1,000 1,200 1,200 1,400 4,800

Exercise price in CHF per share 293.90 199.90 250.35 352.72 —

Additional Honorariums and Remuneration

None of the members of the Board of Directors and the 

Group Management Committee or parties closely linked to such 

persons have billed honorariums or other remuneration in 

fi nancial 2005/2006 to Kaba Holding AG or any of its subsidiar-

ies for additional services performed during the year under 

review that reach or exceed half of the ordinary remuneration 

of the member in question.

Loans Granted to Governing Bodies

There are no interests of members of the Board of Direc-

tors or the Group Management Committee or parties closely 

linked to such persons in transactions effected by Kaba Holding 

AG or any of its subsidiaries that are or were unusual in 

their nature or conditions during the year under review or the 

preceding fi nancial year.

As at 30 June 2006, Kaba Holding AG and its subsidiaries 

have not issued any guarantees, outstanding loans, advances 

or credits granted to members of the Board of Directors, the 

Group Management Committee or parties closely linked to such 

persons.

Highest Total Compensation

The highest total compensation paid to a member of 

the Board of Directors in the year under review (including the 

market value of 1,200 allotted options) amounted to gross 

CHF 1,658,927. 
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Capital Structure

Capital   

At 30 June 2006, the issued and outstanding share 

capital of Kaba Holding AG is CHF 18,600,831.60, divided into 

3,577,083 fully paid registered shares with a par value of 

CHF 5.20 each. In addition, at 30 June 2006, Kaba Holding AG 

has at its disposition an authorized capital of CHF 1,820,000 

(divided into 350,000 registered shares with a par value of 

CHF 5.20 each) and conditional capital of maximum CHF 

2,446,168.40 in connection with convertible bonds, bonds with 

stock options and warrants (maximum CHF 1,872,000 divided 

into 360,000 registered shares with a par value of CHF 5.20 

each) and in connection with employee share ownership plans 

(maximum CHF 574,168.40 divided into 110,417 registered 

shares with a par value of CHF 5.20 each). The Annual General 

Meeting of 24 October 2006 will be requested to amend the 

authorized capital as follows: the Board of Directors is to be 

empowered, by 24 October 2008 at the latest, to increase the 

share capital by a maximum of CHF 1,961,440 by issuing a 

maximum of 377,200 registered shares, to be fully paid up, with 

a par value of CHF 5.20 each.  

Kaba Holding AG has issued neither non-voting shares 

(Partizipationsscheine) nor bonus certifi cates (Genussscheine).

Conditional Capital

The share capital of Kaba Holding AG may be increased 

by an amount not exceeding CHF 1,872,000 by issuing up 

to 360,000 fully paid registered shares with a par value of CHF 

5.20 each through exercise of conversion and/or option rights 

that have been granted in connection with the issuance of 

bonds or similar instruments by Kaba Holding AG or a group 

company, as well as by exercise of warrants that have been 

conferred on shareholders. If bonds or similar instruments are 

issued in connection with conversion or option rights, the 

pre-emptive subscription rights (Bezugsrechte) of the existing 

shareholders shall be excluded. The right to subscribe for new 

shares shall inure on the respective holders of conversion 

and/or option rights. The purchase of shares by exercise of con-

version and/or option rights, as well as every subsequent 

transfer of shares, is subject to the transfer and voting right 

restrictions pursuant to the Articles of Incorporation. The Board 

of Directors shall be entitled to limit or abolish the preferential 

purchase right (Vorwegzeichnungsrecht) of existing sharehold-

ers in connection with the issuance of bonds or similar instru-

ments with conversion and/or option rights if such instruments 

are used for the purpose of fi nancing the takeover of enter-

prises, parts of an enterprise or equity interests. If the Board 

of Directors abolishes the preferential purchase right (Vorweg-

zeichnungsrecht), the following shall apply: the convertible 

bonds or bonds with stock options shall be issued at market 

prices, and the issuance of new shares shall be made pursuant 

to the then-applicable terms of conversion or option exercise. 

Conversion rights may be exercised for no more than then years 

and option rights may be exercised for no more than seven 

years after the time of the relevant issuance of bonds.

The share capital may be increased by no more than CHF 

574,168.40 by issuing to employees and members of the Board 

of Directors of Kaba Holding AG and of group companies no 

more than 110,417 registered shares with a par value of CHF 

5.20 each, which must be fully paid up. The subscription rights 

(Bezugsrechte) of existing shareholders on such new shares 

shall be excluded. The issue of shares or option rights to 

employees or members of the Board of Directors shall be gov-

erned by regulations to be defi ned by the Board of Directors 

and under consideration of achievement, function, and respon-

sibility level. Said shares or option rights may be issued to 

employees or members of the Board of Directors at a price 

below the market price. In connection with the issuance of 

option rights to employees and members of the Board of Direc-

tors, the preferential subscription right (Vorwegzeichnungs-

recht) of the existing shareholders shall be excluded. The pur-

chase of shares within the scope of the employee stock option 

plan, as well as subsequent transfers of such shares, shall 

be subject to the transfer and voting right restrictions pursuant 

to the Articles of Incorporations.

Authorized capital

The Board of Directors is authorized within a period ending 

25 October 2007, to increase the share capital by an amount 

not exceeding CHF 1,820,000 by issuing up to 350,000 fully 

paid registered shares with a par value of CHF 5.20 each. The 

increase may be subdivided into partial amounts. The new 

registered shares are subject to the transfer and voting right 

restrictions pursuant to the Articles of Incorporation.

The Board of Directors shall determine the time of issuing 

of new registered shares, their issuing price, type of payment, 

conditions of subscription and beginning of dividend entitle-

ment. The Board of Directors may issue new registered shares 

via syndication by a bank or a consortium and subsequent offer 

to existing shareholders. The Board of Directors may declare 

non-exercised subscription rights null and void or place them on 
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the market, including registered shares for which subscription 

rights are granted but not exercised.

The Board of Directors is also entitled to restrict, or to 

repeal and transfer to third-parties, the subscription rights of 

shareholders in cases where the registered shares are used 

for the acquisition of companies, company divisions or partici-

pating interests, as well as in cases of share placements made 

to fi nance or refi nance such transactions.

Changes in Capital Structure Within the last three 

Financial Years

On 21 October 2003, the annual General Meeting approved 

the following changes in the capital structure of Kaba Holding 

AG: creation of an authorized share capital of a maximum of 

CHF 3,500,000 by issuing up to a maximum of 350,000 fully 

paid registered shares with a par value of CHF 10 each.

Moreover, (i) as at 30 June 2004, the share capital of Kaba 

Holding AG was increased by CHF 62,480 from CHF 35,675,000 

to CHF CHF 35,737,480 by the issue of 6,248 registered shares 

with a par value CHF 10 each due to the exercise of options 

under the stock options plans. Accordingly, conditional capital 

declined from CHF 4,200,000 by CHF 62,480 to CHF 4,137,520 

(represented by 413,752 registered shares with a par value 

CHF 10 each); (ii) as at 30 June 2005, the share capital of Kaba 

Holding AG was increased by CHF 13,500 from CHF 35,737,480 

to CHF 35,750,980 by the issue of 1,350 registered shares with a 

par value CHF 10. Accordingly, conditional capital declined from 

CHF 4,137,520 by CHF 13,500 to CHF 4,124,020 (represented 

by 412,402 registered shares with a par value CHF 10 each), and 

(iii) as at 30 June 2006, the share capital of Kaba Holding AG 

was increased from CHF 18,590,509.60 (non-rounded amount) 

by CHF 10,322 to CHF 18,600,831.60 by the issue of 1,985 regis-

tered shares with a par value of CHF 5.20. Accordingly, condi-

tional capital declined from CHF 2,456,490.40 by CHF 10,322 to 

CHF 2,446,168.40 (represented by 470,417 registered shares 

with a par value of CHF 5.20 each).  

The Annual General Meeting of 25 October 2005 decided 

to reduce the ordinary share capital of the company by means 

of a reduction in the par value of the individual shares from 

CHF 10.00 by CHF 4.80 to CHF 5.20 and to pay the amount of 

CHF 4.80 per share to shareholders. As a result of this capital 

reduction, the Annual General Meeting adjusted authorized 

capital as follows: it became a maximum of 350,000 registered 

shares with a par value of CHF 5.20, amounting to a maximum 

of CHF 1,820,000 (for details, see Authorized Capital above). 

In addition, the Annual General Meeting of 25 October 2005 

approved an increase in conditional capital by 60,000 regis-

tered shares with a par value of CHF 10 each (following the capi-

tal reduction to CHF 5.20 each). 

Changes of capital during the last three reporting years  

Kaba Holding AG (in CHF)

in CHF 30. 6. 2006 30. 6. 2005 30. 6. 2004 30. 6. 2003

Capital

Share capital 18,600,832 35,750,980 35,737,480 35,675,000

Legal reserves

— General reserves 534,811,527 534,387,895 534,104,614 532,461,899

— Reserve for treasury stock 2,012,971 0 0 319,500

Other reserves 98,267,529 80,280,500 60,280,500 10,280,500

Balance-sheet profi t 73,439,000 58,538,740 59,374,765 89,516,065

Total equity capital 727,131,859 708,958,115 689,497,359 668,252,964
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As part of the capital increase of 10 August 2006 from 

authorized capital, and in accordance with the agreement of 

8 August 2006 relating to a non-cash capital contribution 

between the company, Ng Kin Shek United Company Limited, 

in Tortota, British Virgin Islands, Billion Power Investments 

Limited, Sino Origin Investments Limited, Right Elite Limited 

and Wah Yuet (China) Limited (four subsidiaries of Ng Kin Shek 

United Company Limited), the company takes over 24 fully 

paid up shares of Wah Yuet (Ng’s) Group Holdings Limited. 

These shares are transferred at net book value totaling CHF 

59,256,126.30. In return for this non-cash capital contribution, 

Ng Kin Shek United Company Limited receives a total of 

196,910 fully paid-up registered shares of the company with a 

par value of CHF 5.20 each, which, according to instructions, 

are to be transferred to the subsidiaries. With this capital 

increase the share capital of the company now amounts to 

CHF 19,614,441.60 (previously CHF 18,590,509.60), divided into 

3,772,008 (previously CHF 3,575,098) registered shares 

with a par value of CHF 5.20 each, and the authorized capital 

is reduced from CHF 1,820,000, divided into a maximum of 

350,000 registered shares with a par value of CHF 5.20, to a 

maximum of CHF 796,068, divided into a maximum of 153,090 

registered shares with a par value of CHF 5.20 each. The Annual 

General Meeting of 24 October 2006 will be requested to reduce 

the share capital of the company by means of reduction of the 

par value of each registered share from CHF 5.20 by CHF 5.10 to 

CHF 0.10, and to pay the amount of CHF 5.10 per share to share-

holders.

The Shares      

Each share carries one vote at the General Meeting of Kaba 

Holding AG (voting right restrictions reserved, page 69). Voting 

rights may be exercised only after a shareholder has been 

recorded in the share register (Aktienregister) of Kaba Holding 

AG as a shareholder with voting rights.

The registered shares of Kaba Holding AG are not issued 

in defi nitive certifi cates (Namenaktien mit aufgeschobenem 

Titeldruck) and were delivered into collective custody at SIS 

SegaInterSettle AG. Shareholders have the right, however, to 

request the printing and delivery of share certifi cates, free 

of charge, and Kaba Holding AG may at any time order the print-

ing of share certifi cates. If the registered shares are printed, 

Kaba Holding AG may issue certifi cates representing a plurality 

of shares. The shares shall bear the facsimile signatures of the 

Chairman and a member of the Board of Directors.

The registered shares have full dividend rights.

Limitations on Transferability and Nominee Registrations

Registered shares not physically in existence, including the 

rights associated therewith, may only be transferred by assign-

ment. Kaba Holding AG must be given notice for assignments 

to be valid, and the transfer restrictions, set out below, also shall 

apply to registered shares not physically in existence. Kaba 

Holding AG may inform the bank holding in custody those regis-

tered shares assigned to a shareholder that an assignment has 

taken place. If registered shares not physically in existence are 

managed by a bank on the instruction of a shareholder, such 

registered shares and the rights associated therewith can only 

be transferred in cooperation with the bank.

Registered shares not physically in existence and the 

asset-related rights associated therewith may only be pledged 

by a written pledge agreement to the bank at which the share-

holder has recorded the shares. No notice of the pledge to 

Kaba Holding AG shall be required.

The Board of Directors maintains a share register in which 

the owners and usufructuaries (Nutzniesser) are registered 

with name and address. With respect to registered shares, only 

those persons listed in the stock register will be recognized 

as shareholders of Kaba Holding AG. The transfer of registered 

shares may be denied for the following reasons:

a) In the case of individuals or corporations or partnerships, 

if they would acquire more than 5 % of all share votes as a 

result of the share transfer. This includes corporations and 

partnerships associated with one another by capital or 

votes, by the same management, or in any other manner, as 

well as natural persons and corporations who have com-

bined to form one person for the purpose of circumventing 

this restriction.

 The limitation to 5 % of all share votes shall also apply in 

the case of subscription or acquisition of registered shares 

by exercise of subscription, option, or conversion rights.

 For shareholders who were listed in the share register with 

more than 5 % of all share votes on 13 November 1995, the 

Board of Directors may provide for exceptions to this 

restriction via regulations. Therefore, the Board of Directors 

resolved on 27 October 1997 to issue a regulation with 

respect to the limitations on transferability (Vinkulierung) of 

registered shares of Kaba Holding AG. According to these 

regulations, the Board of Directors has generally approved 

the registration of shareholders who were listed in the share 

register of Kaba Holding AG with more than 5 % of the vot-
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ing rights on 13 November 1995. These shareholders will 

not be registered for registered shares thereafter acquired 

if such registration increases the percentage of their 

voting rights above the percentage registered in aggregate 

on 13 November 1995. The Board of Directors will, how-

ever, approve such acquisitions if and to the extent they 

offset disposals that have been or will be completed after 

13 November 1995. Such right to register is only valid up 

to such percentage of voting rights for which the sharehold-

ers concerned were in aggregate registered on 13 Novem-

ber 1995. In any event, the Board of Directors approves 

registration of registered shares that have been acquired 

through succession, division of an estate, or marital 

property law (art. 685d para. 3 CO). The existing rights to 

register will in such cases be proportionally transferred.

b) When authorization of the transfer of registered shares 

could prevent Kaba Holding AG from furnishing legally 

required evidence regarding the constituency of its body of 

shareholders.

c) When the registered shares are held in fi duciary custody.

For the year under review, the Board of Directors has not 

granted any exemptions from the limitations on transferability.

To pass resolutions covering the cancellation of or change 

in the restrictions on transferability of the registered shares, 

a super-majority of at least two thirds of the votes represented 

at a General Meeting is required.

Convertible Bonds and Options

Kaba Finance Luxembourg S.A. issued, on 18 January 2002, 

a 4 % convertible bond 2002 to 2010 in the amount of CHF 

138,240,000, unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by 

Kaba Holding AG. The convertible bonds shall be redeemed 

on 18 January 2010, at 130.78 % of the par value. This convert-

ible bond is listed on the main segment of the SWX Swiss 

Exchange (security no./ISIN: 1336276/CH 0013362766). From 

18 January 2002, until and including 13 January 2010, each 

convertible bond with a par value of CHF 5,000 is convertible, 

free of charge, at any time (American Style) into 13.02083 regis-

tered shares of Kaba Holding AG with a par value of CHF 5.20 

each; fractions are paid out in cash. For this convertible bond, 

a maximum of 360,000 registered shares of Kaba Holding AG 

with a par value of CHF 5.20 each in the total amount of 

CHF 1,872,000 are reserved. The initial conversion price was 

CHF 450 per registered share (i.e., each convertible bond 

was convertible into 11 .1111  registered shares). Pursuant to the 

conversion terms, the conversion price was reduced because 

the average of all closing prices of Kaba Holding AG shares 

determined by the SWX Swiss Exchange during the last 20 trad-

ing days before and including 29 November 2002, was below 

CHF 384 (the Reference Price). Effective 6 December 2002, the 

conversion price was set (reset) to CHF 384 (based on the par 

value of the bonds). In economic terms, the conversion price of 

the convertible bond will rise during the term of maturity 

because the redemption price until maturity (i. e., 18 January 

2010) continuously increases to 130.78 % of the bond’s par 

value, and each bond of CHF 5,000 par value is convertible into 

a fi xed rate of 13.02083 registered shares of Kaba Holding AG. 

The actual conversion price is derived from the theoretical 

redemption price of the bond at the time of premature conver-

sion using the following equation: 100 % × (1 + 3.4112212 %)(d/360), 

where “d” is the number of days between payment and conver-

sion of the bond. At maturity, application of this equation results 

in a conversion price of CHF 502.

An early redemption at the premature conversion price is 

possible (i) if the closing price of the registered shares of Kaba 

Holding AG on the SWX Swiss Exchange exceeds 130 % of the 

respective conversion price for 30 consecutive trading days, 

(ii) if more than 95 % of the originally issued bond capital has 

been converted, or (iii) for tax reasons with a 60-day period 

of notice.

Information on options granted to employees may be found 

on page 63.
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Principal Shareholders

The following table sets forth the identities of the principal 

shareholders of Kaba Holding AG and their holdings of shares 

if shareholders have disclosed 5% or more of voting rights 

to Kaba Holding AG. 
  as at 30. 6. 2006  as at 30. 6. 2005
  No. of shares at  No. of shares at 
Shareholder Group  CHF 5.20 par value 1) in %  CHF 10 par value in %

Heirs of Leo Bodmer 2)    

Karin Forrer 206,520 5.8 205,520 5.8

Other heirs of Leo Bodmer 612,021 17.1 663,671 18.5

Total heirs of Leo Bodmer 818,541 22.9 870,191 24.3

 

Public shareholders    

Ulrich Bremi 3) 182,100 5.1 182,100 5.1

Other public shareholders 2,525,174 70.6 2,469,636 69.1

Total public shareholders 2,707,274 75.7 2,651,736 74.2

 

Members of the Board and current Executives    

Members of the Board (non-executive) 57,208 1.6 55,006 1.5

Current Executives (incl. executive Board member) 36,952 1.0 41,057 1.2

Total Members of the Board and Executives 94,160 2.6 96,063 2.7

Less double counts in respect to heirs of Leo Bodmer 

who are Members of the Board 4) — 42 892 — 1.2 — 42,892 — 1.2

 

Total shares 3,577,083 100.0 3,575,098 100.0

Shareholders

1) Reduction of par value by way of a par value capital 
repayment of CHF 4.80 per share in January 2006 
(instead of a dividend 2005).

2)  The heirs of Leo Bodmer (1880 to 1961) are not, so far 
as Kaba Holding AG knows, linked by any shareholders 
agreements or othersimilar arrangements. 

3) Ulrich Bremi, Zollikon, was from 1962 to 1992 employed 
by Kaba Holding AG and President from 1975 to 1992. 

4) The shareholdings of heirs of Leo Bodmer, who are also 
Members of the Board, are included under “Other heirs 
of Leo Bodmer” as well as under “Members of the Board”. 
    

To the best knowledge of Kaba Holding AG, the above-

mentioned shareholders are not linked by any shareholders’ 

agreements or similar arrangements with respect to their 

shareholdings in Kaba Holding AG or exercise of shareholders’ 

rights.

Cross-Shareholdings

The Kaba Group has not entered in any capital-based or 

voting-rights-based cross-shareholdings with other companies.
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Shareholders’ Participation Rights     

Voting Rights Limitations and Proxy Voting

At the General Meeting of Kaba Holding AG, each regis-

tered share entitles its owner to one vote. However, single 

shareholders may exercise no more than 5 % of all voting rights 

when directly representing their own registered shares and 

indirectly acting as proxies for registered shares owned by oth-

ers. In this context, legal entities or partnerships that are bound 

by capital, voting rights, common management or otherwise, 

as well as all individuals, legal entities or partnerships that join 

together with the intention to circumvent the limitations, shall 

be considered one single person. This limitation of voting rights 

does not apply to banks (Depotvertreter), members of a corpo-

rate body acting as proxies (Organvertreter), or independent 

proxies (unabhängige Vertreter) pursuant to Art. 689c CO. 

This voting restriction does not apply to shareholders who were 

already listed in the share register of Kaba Holding AG with 

more than 5% of the voting rights when the voting rights 

restriction clause was ratifi ed.

A shareholder may be represented only by another share-

holder with a written power of attorney. Representation by 

banks (Depotvertreter), by members of a corporate body acting 

as proxies (Organvertreter) or independent proxies (unabhän-

gige Vertreter) pursuant to Arts. 689c and 689d CO remains 

reserved.

The voting rights limitation can only be lifted by a resolu-

tion of the General Meeting with a majority of the votes sub-

mitted.

Super-Majority                   

For resolutions covering

• conversion of registered shares into bearer shares,

• dissolution of Kaba Holding AG (including as a result of 

merger), and

• amendment or changes of provisions regarding restrictions 

on the transferability of registered shares, super-majority, 

and the appointment of members of the Board of Directors,  

approval shall require at least two-thirds of the votes repre-

sented at the respective General Meeting. Mandatory provisions 

of the law are reserved. In all other cases, the General Meeting 

shall pass its resolutions and conduct its votes, without regard 

for the number of shareholders present or the represented 

shares, on the basis of the majority of votes cast.

Convocation of the General Meeting of Shareholders 

and Agenda

The convocation of the general meetings and the agenda 

comply with the legal requirements.

The Board of Directors of Kaba Holding AG is obliged to 

include proposals by shareholders collectively representing 

0.5 % of the share capital in the agenda items of the invitation 

to the General Meeting, provided that such proposals are 

submitted in writing to the Board of Directors at least 4 weeks 

prior to the General Meeting. Proposals must be made in 

writing, stating the subject matter and the motions. 

Registrations in the Share Register/Invitation to the 

General Meeting of 24 October 2006

Shareholders eligible to vote and entered in the share 

register as at 8 September 2006, will receive the invitation to 

the General Meeting on 24 October 2006, with the proposals 

of the Board of Directors; the materials will be mailed on 

18 September 2006. Shareholders who send their reply to the 

companies’ offi ces will receive the admission card and voting 

materials; these materials will be mailed starting 25 Sep-

tember 2006. Shareholders who are not yet registered on 

8 September 2006, but purchase shares at a later date will 

receive the invitation to the General Meeting later, provided the 

request for registration is received by no later than 16 October 

2006. No entries in the share register can be made from 

17 October 2006 to the date of the General Meeting. Owners 

of registered shares who sell all of their shares before the 

General Meeting shall no longer be eligible to vote. Sharehold-

ers who sell portions of their shares or purchase additional 

shares are kindly requested to have their admission cards 

updated at the information desk at the venue of the General 

Meeting.
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Changes of Control and Defense Measures           

Duty to Make a Public Offer

The Articles of Incorporation of Kaba Holding AG do not 

contain opting-out or opting-up provisions (article 22 SESTA).

Clauses on Changes in Control

In case of a change of control, Kaba Management + Con-

sulting AG (with joint liability on the part of Kaba Holding AG) is 

obliged to make a payment in the amount of approximately one 

annual salary (including bonus) (the change of control amount) 

for members of the Group Management Committee and few 

additional members of top management which have been laid 

off or have terminated their employment relationship within one 

year after the consummation of the change of control.

Moreover, Kaba Management + Consulting AG (with joint 

liability on the part of Kaba Holding AG) has granted a takeover 

bonus to four members of the Group Management Committee 

who in a takeover situation (i.e. in the case of a public takeover 

bid or a merger of Kaba Holding AG following which the original 

shareholders of Kaba Holding AG hold less than 50 % of the 

voting rights in the merger company) may be heavily exposed in 

the interest of Kaba Holding AG and the shareholders. The 

takeover bonus only arises if a takeover situation exists and the 

Board of Directors has approved the negotiations or the take-

over or merger. The takeover bonus will become payable at the 

time the new owner is entered in the share register for Kaba 

Holding AG with more than 50% of all shares with voting rights, 

or when the merger is entered in the share register. The take-

over bonus will be calculated as follows: change of control 

amount for the person eligible for the bonus, multiplied by the 

increase in the share price in percentage points, divided by 12.5; 

the increase in the share price will be determined on the basis 

of the average opening price of Kaba Holding AG shares in the 

fourth month before the point in time at which the Board of 

Directors of Kaba Holding AG decides to enter into the takeover 

bid or merger or to enter into negotiations. A gross amount of 

the takeover bonus will be no more than fi ve times of the 

change of control amount for the person eligible for the bonus.

Stock Option Plan 2002

Pursuant to Stock Option Plan 2002, a change of control 

(or, in the case of a public takeover bid, the declaration from the 

bidder that the bid has been successful) also has the conse-

quence that the allotted options which cannot yet be exercised, 

as well as the other outstanding options, become exercisable 

immediately.
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Auditors               

Duration of the Mandate and Term of Offi ce of the 

Head Auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG, Zurich, was appointed auditor 

of Kaba Holding AG in 1907 and of the Kaba Group in 1982.

The head auditor responsible for the existing auditing man-

date was appointed effective fi nancial 2002/2003.

Auditing Honorariums and Additional Honorariums

Audit fees charged by the group auditors Pricewaterhouse 

Coopers for auditing the fi nancial statements of Kaba Holding 

AG, its subsidiaries and the consolidated group fi nancial state-

ments in the business year 2005/2006 was approximately 

CHF 1,470,000. In addition, the Kaba Group incurred, in the 

year 2005/2006, additional fees of around CHF 635,000 from 

PricewaterhouseCoopers for other services rendered (manage-

ment consultancy, tax structuring, etc.).

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors shall annu-

ally assess the performance, remuneration and independence 

of the statutory and group auditors and submit to the Board 

of Directors a proposal as to which external auditor shall be pro-

posed for election by the General Meeting. The Audit Commit-

tee shall also annually monitor the scope of the external audit-

ing process, the auditing plans and the relevant procedures and 

shall discuss the auditing results with the external auditors.
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Information Policy

Kaba is committed to a transparent information policy for the 

benefi t of the public and capital markets. This commitment 

(which by far exceeds the legal requirements) and the continuity 

in investor relations are underlined by the Investor’s Handbook, 

which Kaba publishes (since 1996) annually together with the 

Annual Report. The Investor’s Handbook may be downloaded 

from www.kaba.com/e/iv/investor2006-e.pdf. In addition, Kaba 

in the spring of 2005 published the Sustainability Charta, 

containing information about the sustainability of its corporate 

strategy as well as environmental protection and the company’s 

social citizenship responsibility. 

The following schedule lists important dates: 

Financial 2005/2006 

End of fi nancial year:  30 June 2006

Announcement of annual results:  18 September 2006

Publication of Annual Report:  18 September 2006

Annual General Meeting:  24 October 2006

Financial 2006/2007        

Semi-annual statement:  31 December 2006

Announcement of semi-annual statement:  5 March 2007

Closure of fi nancial year:  30 June 2007

Announcement of annual results:  17 September 2007

Publication of Annual Report:  17 September 2007

Annual General Meeting:  23 October 2007

           

Kaba Holding AG informs its shareholders in semi-annual 

shareholders’ letters about its operations (including the 

consolidated balance sheet and statements of income as at 

31 December). 

Reporting on fi nancial 2005/2006 together with the fi nan-

cial statements as at 30 June 2006 includes the Annual Report, 

the Financial Report and the Corporate Governance Report. 

This documentation can be ordered with a form that is distrib-

uted to shareholders together with the invitation to the General 

Meeting. It can also be ordered online at www.kaba.com.

The share price, annual reports, press releases and pre-

sentations may be downloaded from www.kaba.com. Press 

conferences and analyst meetings take place at least once 

a year.

Kaba Holding AG publishes price-sensitive information in 

accordance with the obligation to disclose price-sensitive 

facts (Art. 72 KR — Guideline on Ad-hoc Publicity) as required by 

the SWX Swiss Exchange.

Contact

Investor relations

Dr. Werner Stadelmann

Chief Financial Offi cer

Hofwisenstrasse 24

8153 Rümlang, Switzerland

Tel.  +41 44 818 90 61

Fax +41 44 818 90 52

E-Mail investor@kaba.com

Media relations

Jean-Luc Ferrazzini

Chief Communications Offi cer

Hofwisenstrasse 24

8153 Rümlang, Switzerland

Tel.  +41 44 818 92 01

Fax +41 44 818 91 94

E-Mail jferrazzini@kaba.com
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Information for Investors
per 30 June

     IFRS Swiss GAAP FER
in CHF million, except where indicated   2005/2006 2004/2005 2003/2004 2003/2004 2002/2003 2001/2002

Net sales  1,041.0 980.1 978.1 985.0 967.2 1,027.0

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and 

amortisation (EBITDA)  150.4 152.6 151.1 154.1 145.0 165.6

EBITDA in % of net sales  14.4 % 15.6 % 15.5 % 15.6 % 15.0 % 16.1 %

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT)  118.8 121.3 118.3 120.9 108.7 123.0

EBIT in % of net sales  11.4 %  12.3 % 12.1 % 12.3 % 11.2 % 12.0 %

Net profi t  68.1 65.9 47.2 56.8 45.7 61.8

Net profi t in % of net sales   6.5 % 6.7 % 4.8 % 5.8 % 4.7 % 6.0 %

Net cash from operating activities  103.1 85.5 115.9 114.5 123.4 90.7

Net cash used in investing activities  — 32.7 — 28.5 — 27.0 — 25.3 — 18.7 — 38.5

Free cash fl ow (net) before dividend  70.4 57.0 88.9 89.2 104.7 52.2

Net cash used in fi nancing activities  — 74.0 — 123.5 — 115.2 — 115.7 — 43.9 — 111.9

Whereof dividends paid  — 17.2 — 14.3 — 10.7 — 10.7 — 10.7 — 10.7

Personnel expenses  405.2 376.9 382.7 384.8 379.2 393.0

Average number of full-time equivalent employees 5,721 5,836 5,889 5,889 6,185 6,402

Personnel expenses per employee (in CHF)  70,827 64,582 64,986 65,342 61,310 61,387

Basic earnings per share (in CHF)  19.0 18.4 13.2 15.9 12.8 17.3

Diluted earnings per share (in CHF)  19.0 18.4 13.2   

Dividend per share (in CHF) 1)  5.1 4.8 4.0 4.0 3.0 3.0

Payout ratio in % of consolidated earnings  27 % 26 % N/A 25 % 23 % 17 %

Total assets  693.2 680.2 729.6 712.8 773.8 765.6

Net operating assets  354.9 347.0 334.7 321.6 359.0 420.1

Growth in % vs previous year  2.3 % 3.7 % N/A — 10.4 % — 14.5 % — 8.1 %

Return on net operating assets (RONOA)  33.5 % 35.0 % 35.3 % 37.6 % 30.3 % 29.3 %

Assets structure      

Total assets in % of net sales  66.6 % 69.4 % 74.4 % 72.4 % 80.0 % 74.5 %

Property, plant and equipment in % of net sales 18.8 % 20.3 % 20.8 % 21.2 % 23.0 % 23.6 %

Inventories in % of net sales  18.0 % 18.5 % 17.5 % 18.6 % 20.2 % 20.5 %

Receivables in % of net sales  18.6 % 18.9 % 18.1 % 19.4 % 20.3 % 20.7 %

Net working capital 

(current assets less cash/cash equivalents, less 

accounts payable trade, accrued and other current 

liabilities, provisions)  201.9 190.7 169.3 135.7 159.5 199.6

Net working capital in % of net sales  19.4 % 19.5 % 17.3 % 13.8 % 16.5 % 19.4 %

Net debt  264.6 307.7 339.3 352.7 430.5 524.0

Net debt / EBITDA (gearing)  1.76 2.01 2.25 2.29 2.97 3.16

Shareholders’ equity  77.5 32.3 — 28.8 — 24.0 — 62.8 — 94.5

Shareholders’ equity in % of total assets  11.2 % 4.8 % — 4.0 % — 3.4 % — 8.2 % — 12.3 %

Return on equity (ROE)  87.9 % 204.0 % N/A N/A N/A N/A

Shareholders’ equity per share (in CHF)  21.7 9.0 — 8.1 — 6.8 — 17.6 — 26.5

1) 2004/2005 and 2005/2006 as repayment of par value (free of withholding tax). 
 2005/2006 proposal to the Annual General Meeting.
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Information for Investors
per share data 

     IFRS   Swiss GAAP FER
   2005/2006 2004/2005 2003/2004 2003/2004 2002/2003 2001/2002

Capital stock

Registered shares at CHF 5.20 par value  No. 3,577,083 3,575,098 3,573,748 3,573,748 3,567,500 3,567,500

Outstanding shares at end of fi nancial year No. 3,570,683 3,575,098 3,573,748 3,573,748 3,566,600 3,567,500

Weighted average number of shares 

outstanding (diluted) No. 3,581,977 3,580,753 3,569,670 3,569,670 3,567,500 3,567,500

Par value of average outstanding shares CHF m 18.6 35.7 35.7 35.7 35.7 35.7

Par value of year-end outstanding shares CHF m 18.6 35.8 35.7 35.7 35.7 35.7

Shareholders as at 30 June No. 7,482 6,326 6,295 6,295 5,971 5,213

Figures per share (fully diluted)         

Profi t and depreciation per share (Group) CHF 27.8 27.1 22.4 25.2 23.0 29.3

EBIT per share (Group) CHF 33.2 33.8 33.1 33.8 30.4 34.4

Earnings per share (Group) CHF 19.0 18.4 13.2 15.9 12.8 17.3

Growth in earnings per share % 3 % 39 % N/A 24 % — 26 % 47 %

Dividend (gross) per share 1) CHF 5.1 4.8 4.0 4.0 3.0 3.0

Payout ratio in % of consolidated earnings  27 % 26 % 30 % 25 % 23 % 17 %

Shareholders’ equity per share (Group) CHF 21.6 9.0 — 8.1 — 6.8 — 17.6 — 26.5

       

Price per share 

— high CHF 378.0 392.0 300.0 300.0 335.0 420.0

— low CHF 287.0 213.5 190.0 190.0 137.0 287.0

— 31 Dec. CHF 322.0 352.5 250.0 250.0 257.0 410.0

— 30 June CHF 299.0 350.0 258.5 258.5 193.0 320.0

       

Market capitalization 

— high in Mio. CHF 1,352 1,401 1,072 1,072 1,195 1 498

— low in Mio. CHF 1,027 763 679 679 489 1 024

— 30 June in Mio. CHF 1,070 1,251 924 924 689 1 142

— in % of net sales % 103 % 128 % 94 % 94 % 71 % 111 %

       

Dividend yield 

— low % 1.3 % 1.2 % 1.3 % 1.3 % 0.9 % 0.7 %

— high % 1.8 % 2.2 % 2.1 % 2.1 % 2.2 % 1.0 %

1) 2004/2005 and 2005/2006 as repayment of par value (free of withholding tax). 
 2005/2006 proposal to the Annual General Meeting.
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Group
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Consolidated income statement

in CHF million  Financial Year   Financial Year 
except per share amounts Note closed 30. 6. 2006  % closed 30. 6. 2005  %

Net sales 5 1,041.0 100.0 980.1 100.0

Changes in fi nished goods and work in progress  6.8 0.6 1.4 0.1

Other operating income 6 12.1 1.1 12.3 1.3

Material expenses 7 — 329.4 — 31.6 — 297.8 — 30.4

Personnel expenses 8 — 405.2 — 38.9 — 376.9 — 38.5

Other operating expenses 9 — 174.9 — 16.8 — 166.5 — 17.0

Depreciation and amortisation 16, 17 — 31.6 — 3.0 — 31.3 — 3.2

Operating profi t (EBIT)  118.8 11.4 121.3 12.3

 

Financial expenses 10 — 23.9 — 2.3 — 33.6 — 3.4

Financial income 11 0.7 0.1 0.9 0.1

Profi t before taxes  95.6 9.2 88.6 9.0

 

Income taxes 12 — 27.5 — 2.7 — 22.7 — 2.3

Net profi t for the year  68.1 6.5 65.9 6.7

  

Net profi t applicable to minority interests 3 0.0  0.1 

Net profi t excluding minority interests  68.1  65.8 

  

Basic earnings per share (in CHF) 3 19.0  18.4 

  

Diluted earnings per share (in CHF) 3 19.0  18.4 
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Consolidated balance sheet 
Assets

  Financial Year   Financial Year 
in CHF million Note closed 30. 6. 2006  % closed 30. 6. 2005  %

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents  38.8 5.6 43.8 6.4

Accounts receivable trade 13 194.0 28.0 184.9 27.2

Inventories 14 187.0 27.0 181.8 26.7

Current income taxes  9.6 1.4 4.3 0.6

Other current assets 15 24.0 3.4 25.1 3.7

Total current assets  453.4 65.4 439.9 64.6

  

Non-current assets  

Property, plant and equipment 16 195.8 28.3 198.6 29.2

Goodwill and other intangible assets 17 16.9 2.4 12.6 1.9

Non-current fi nancial assets 18 3.0 0.4 4.0 0.6

Deferred income taxes 24 24.1 3.5 25.1 3.7

Total non-current assets  239.8 34.6 240.3 35.4

  

Total assets  693.2 100.0 680.2 100.0
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Consolidated balance sheet 
Liabilities and equity

  Financial Year   Financial Year 
in CHF million Note closed 30. 6. 2006  % closed 30. 6. 2005  %

Current liabilities

Current borrowings 19 151.4 21.8 206.4 30.3

Accounts payable trade  63.7 9.2 63.7 9.4

Current income taxes  20.9 3.0 16.1 2.4

Accrued and other current liabilities 20 137.1 19.8 130.5 19.2

Provisions 21 11.9 1.7 11.2 1.6

Total current liabilities  385.0 55.5 427.9 62.9

 

Non-current liabilities  

Non-current borrowings 19 152.0 21.9 145.1 21.3

Accrued pension cost and benefi ts 22 53.8 7.8 55.3 8.1

Deferred income taxes 24 23.1 3.3 17.8 2.6

Other non-current liabilities  1.8 0.3 1.8 0.3

Total non-current liabilities  230.7 33.3 220.0 32.3

  

Total liabilities  615.7 88.8 647.9 95.2

  

Equity  

Share capital 3 18.6 2.7 35.8 5.3

Additional paid-in capital  546.9 79.0 545.5 80.2

Equity conversion element of convertible bond  9.3 1.3 9.3 1.3

Retained earnings  — 492.7 — 71.1 — 560.8 — 82.4

Treasury stock  — 1.9 — 0.3 0.0 0.0

Cumulative translation adjustment  — 2.9 — 0.4 2.3 0.4

Total shareholders’ equity  77.3 11.2 32.1 4.8

 

Minority interests  0.2  0.2 

Total equity  77.5 11.2 32.3 4.8

  

Total liabilities and equity  693.2 100.0 680.2 100.0
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

    Financial Year   Financial Year 
in CHF million  Note closed 30. 6. 2006   closed 30. 6. 2005

Net profi t for the year   68.1  65.9

Depreciation and amortisation  16, 17 31.6  31.3

Income tax expenses  12 27.5  22.7

Interest expenses  10 22.2  31.6

Interest income  11 — 0.6  — 0.6

Loss (gain) on disposal of fi xed assets, net   — 0.2  — 0.3

Adjustment for non-cash items   0.9  0.2

Change in accounts receivable trade   — 9.6  — 4.8

Change in inventories   — 6.9  — 7.5

Change in other current assets   1.9  — 1.5

Change in accounts payable trade   0.5  2.2

Change in accrued pension cost   — 2.0  — 11.2

Change in accrued and other current liabilities   6.6  4.0

Cash generated from operations   140.0  132.0

 

Income taxes paid   — 21.7  — 19.2

Interest paid   — 15.7  — 27.9

Interest received   0.5  0.6

Net cash from operating activities   103.1  85.5

 

Cash fl ows from investing activities

Purchase of property plant and equipment  16 — 26.8  — 21.0

Proceeds from sale of property plant and equipment  16 1.1  2.0

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired  4 0.0  — 0.8

Purchases of other intangible assets  17 — 7.9  — 7.4

Decrease of other non-current fi nancial assets   1.1  0.9

Increase of other non-current fi nancial assets   — 0.2  — 2.2

Net cash used in investing activities   — 32.7  — 28.5

 

Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities 

Issuance (repayment) of short-term debt, net  19 — 54.9  196.7

Repayment of long-term debt  19 — 0.2  — 305.7

Decrease in other non-current liabilities   — 0.2  — 0.4

Dividends paid to minority shareholders   0.0  — 0.1

Treasury stock purchased   — 1.9  0.0

New shares issued   0.4  0.3

Dividends paid to company’s shareholders 1)   — 17.2  — 14.3

Net cash used in fi nancing activities   — 74.0  — 123.5

  

Translation exchange differences   — 1.4  — 5.3

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   — 5.0  — 71.8

  

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period   43.8  115.6

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   38.8  43.8

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   — 5.0  — 71.8

1) 2005 / 2006 in the form of a repayment of par value (free of withholding tax) 
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Consolidated changes in equity
for financial year 2005/2006

    Equity     
    convers.     
   Additional element    Cumul.   
  Share paid-in  of conv. Hedging  Retained Treasury translation  Minority Total
in CHF million capital capital bond reserve earnings stock adjustm. interests equity

 

Financial Year closed 30. 6. 2005

Balance at 30. 6. 2004 35.7 545.0 9.3 — 6.2 — 612.4 0.0 — 0.4 0.2 — 28.8

Adjustment hedging reserve    7.3     7.3

Tax effect on adj. hedging reserve    — 1.1     — 1.1

Net income directly recognised in equity    6.2     6.2

Net profi t for the year     65.8   0.1 65.9

Total recognised income    6.2 65.8   0.1 72.1

Dividend paid     — 14.3   — 0.1 — 14.4

New shares issued 0.1 0.3       0.4

Treasury stock purchased      0.0   0.0

Employee options granted  0.2       0.2

Translation adjustments     0.1  2.7  2.8

Balance at 30. 6. 2005 35.8 545.5 9.3 0.0 — 560.8 0.0 2.3 0.2 32.3

         

Financial year closed 30. 6. 2006         

Balance at 30. 6. 2005 35.8 545.5 9.3 0.0 — 560.8 0.0 2.3 0.2 32.3

Adjustment hedging reserve    0.0     0.0

Tax effect on adj. hedging reserve    0.0     0.0

Net income directly recognised in equity    0.0     0.0

Net profi t for the year     68.1    68.1

Total recognised income     68.1    68.1

Dividend paid 1) — 17.2        — 17.2

New shares issued  0.5       0.5

Treasury stock purchased      — 1.9   — 1.9

Employee options granted  0.9       0.9

Translation adjustments       — 5.2  — 5.2

Balance at 30. 6. 2006 18.6 546.9 9.3 0.0 — 492.7 — 1.9 — 2.9 0.2 77.5

1) in the form of a repayment of par value (free of withholding tax)
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1. General information

Description of business

Kaba’s strategy is to maximize the creation of value for 

the stakeholders by maintaining its focus on «Total Access» and 

thereby consolidating and developing the leading position 

it already holds in the areas of physical and logical access to 

sites, buildings, containers and enterprise data.

Kaba strives to offer its customers solutions that optimize 

the benefi ts in terms of security, organization and convenience.

Kaba’s offering ranges from individual components, prod-

ucts and systems to fully integrated single source solutions.  

«Total Access» as defi ned by Kaba means integrating the 

different product offers into a coordinated market approach. 

This is a continuous, long term process to promote Kaba’s prog-

ress in the different markets step by step.

Kaba’s activities can be divided into four business seg-

ments:

Door Systems

Door Systems consist of a fl exible and extensive Kaba 

range of automatic doors, gates and wall systems. The full range 

also includes pedestrian interlocks and safety doors as well as 

platform screen doors for public transport systems.

Data Collection

With its Bedanet terminals, Kaba uses the latest computer 

and network technologies to offer all features and functions 

needed for integration in existing communications structures, 

and to fulfi ll all requirements of enterprise data collection and 

time management applications.

Access Systems

Kaba Access Control consists of both mechanical and 

mechatronic high security cylinders as well as locks, stand-

alone and online access control and time + attendance systems. 

The offering also includes safe and vault locks as well as 

lodging systems.

Key + Ident Systems

Key Systems consist of key blanks and key encoding 

machines for the duplication of keys. The business segment also 

includes contactless identifi cation based on the Legic smart 

card technology.

The parent company of the Group 

is Kaba Holding AG, which is a company limited by shares 

and is incor-porated and domiciled in Rümlang (Switzerland). 

The address of its registered offi ce is as follows: Hofwiesen-

strasse 24, 8153 Rümlang, Switzerland.

The company is listed on the Swiss stock exchange (SWX).

 

2. Signifi cant accounting policies

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated fi nancial statements of Kaba Group have 

been prepared under the historical cost convention, except as 

disclosed in the accounting policies below, and in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted 

by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and 

comply with Swiss law. The fi nancial statements are prepared in 

Swiss francs (CHF). The accounting policies have been applied 

consistently by Group companies. A summary of the signifi cant 

accounting policies is provided below. 

Effective for business years starting 1 January 2005 or 

later, the International Accounting Standard Board (IASB) imple-

mented various International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS) or revised existing International Accounting Standards 

(IAS) (the IASB Improvement Project) leading to the following 

changes to the accounting principles:

IFRS 2: Share-based payment

The introduction of IFRS 2 Share-based payment resulted 

in a change to the accounting principles of share-based pay-

ment transactions. Until 30 June 2005, the allocation of share 

options to employees did not result in an expense in the income 

statement. However, effective 1 July 2005 expenses calculated 

by means of an option pricing model related to all share options 

that were granted after 7 November 2002 and had not yet 

vested on 1 January 2005 must be shown in the income state-
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ment. The impact on Kaba’s 2005/2006 income statement 

amounts to CHF 0.9 (0.2) million on personnel expenses and 

CHF —0.1 (0.0) million on income taxes. The fair value of the 

share options is calculated based on the Enhanced American 

Model (EA-Model). 

The effect of all other adjusted standards has no signifi cant 

impact on the fi nancial statements.

The following new or revised IFRS standards will become 

effective for fi nancial periods starting on or after 1 January 

2006 or 2007:

• IAS 19 (Amendment), Employee Benefi ts (effective from 

1 January 2006)

• IAS 39 (Amendment), Cash Flow Hedge Accounting of Fore-

cast Intragroup Transactions (effective from 1 January 2006)

• IAS 39 (Amendment), The Fair Value Option (effective from 

1 January 2006)

• IAS 39 and IFRS 4 (Amendment), Financial Guarantee 

Contracts (effective from 1 January 2006)

• IFRS 6, Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources 

(effective from 1 January 2006)

• IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures and a complemen-

tary Amendment to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial State-

ments — Capital Disclosures (effective from 1 January 2007)

• IFRIC 4, Determining whether an Arrangement contains a 

Lease (effective from 1 January 2006)

• IFRIC 5, Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning, 

Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Funds (effective 

from 1 January 2006)

• IFRIC 6, Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specifi c 

Market — Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment (effective 

from 1 December 2005)

None of these standards were early adopted. An initial pro-

visional assessment by group management indicates that they 

will have no or only marginal effects on the consolidated fi nan-

cial statements. Regarding IAS19, Kaba does not intend to 

change the accounting policy adopted for the recognition of 

actuarial gains and losses.

Changes in standards and IFRICs issued after 1 January 

2006 are permanently analysed. The Group management has 

not yet formed a fi nal opinion on their impact on Kaba Group 

fi nancial statements.

2.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated fi nancial statements of Kaba Group 

include the operations of Kaba Holding AG and all its direct and 

indirect subsidiaries in which Kaba Group controls more than 

50 % of votes or otherwise has the power to govern the fi nan-

cial and operating policies. 

The consolidated accounts are based on the annual fi nan-

cial statements of the individual subsidiaries. All companies 

follow uniform valuation and reporting practices prescribed by 

the Group. 

Applying the full consolidation method, the assets, lia-

bilities, income and expenses of all affi liates are included in their 

entirety. Minority interests in equity and profi t are disclosed 

separately. 

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date at which con-

trol is acquired. The identifi able assets and liabilities are reval-

ued and included according to the purchase method. Any differ-

ences between the cost of acquisition and the fair value of 

the net assets acquired constitutes goodwill. The value of 

recorded goodwill is reviewed annually or more frequently if 

indications of possible impairment exist. If management 

determines that the net book value of the goodwill is actually 

impaired, an impairment loss is recognized. Subsidiaries 

sold are excluded from consolidation from the date on which 

control ceases.

All intercompany balances, transactions and intercompany 

profi ts are eliminated on consolidation. 

Investments in associates and joint ventures where Kaba 

Group exercises signifi cant infl uence, but does not have control, 

normally with an interest between 20 % and 50 %, are accoun-

ted for using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity 

method, investments in associated companies are initially 

recognised at cost and the carrying amount is increased or 

decreased to recognise Kaba Group’s share of the profi t or loss 

of the investee after the date of acquisition.

Investments in which Kaba does not have signifi cant infl u-

ence (usually in which Kaba Group’s interest is less than 20 %) 

are recorded at fair value. They are classifi ed as Available-

For-Sale Investments (see note 2.6).
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2.3 Use of estimates

The preparation of fi nancial statements in accordance 

with IFRS requires the use of estimates and assumptions which 

have an effect on the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, 

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 

the fi nancial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues 

and expenses during the reporting period. Although these esti-

mates are based on management’s best knowledge of current 

events and actions Kaba Group may undertake in the future, 

actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates. Such 

estimates are applied, among others, in the evaluation of the 

following balance sheet positions:

Deferred tax assets are created for temporary differences 

and for losses carried forward provided that their utilization 

appears probable. The recoverable amount is therefore based 

on forecasts of the corresponding taxable entity over a period 

of several years. Deviations between actual and projected 

results can cause impairment losses. For information on carry-

ing amounts see note 24.

Kaba operates defi ned benefi t plans in various countries. 

The calculation of defi ned benefi t obligations is based on 

actuarial assumptions that may differ from actual results. For 

information on carrying amounts see note 22.

2.4 Foreign currency translation

The consolidated fi nancial statements are presented in CHF, 

which is Kaba Group’s functional and presentation currency. 

Items included in the fi nancial statements of each Kaba Group 

company are measured using the currency of the primary 

economic environment in which that company operates (the 

functional currency). 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the func-

tional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates 

of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting 

from the settlement of such transactions and from the trans-

lation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 

currencies at year end exchange rates are recognised in the 

income statement, except when deferred in equity as qualifying 

cash fl ow hedges.

Assets and liabilities of subsidiaries reporting in currencies 

other than CHF are translated at the rates of exchange prevail-

ing at balance sheet date. Income, expenses, cash fl ows and 

other movement items are translated at the average exchange 

rates of the period. 

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the 

translation of the net investment in foreign companies and from 

borrowings and other currency instruments designated as 

hedges of such investments are taken to equity. When a foreign 

operation is sold, such exchange differences are recognised in 

the income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity is 

treated as an asset of the foreign company and translated at 

closing rate. 
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 Exchange Exchange Average Average 
 rate at rate at rate rate
 30. 6. 2006 30. 6. 2005 2005/2006 2004/2005

GBP 2.264 2.315 2.275 2.253

EUR 1.565 1.548 1.559 1.540

USD 1.247 1.283 1.284 1.217

CAD 1.113 1.045 1.102 0.971

AUD 0.910 0.978 0.956 0.912

SGD 0.781 0.761 0.780 0.729

NZD 0.743 0.898 0.855 0.840

MYR 0.339 0.338 0.344 0.321

SEK 0.170 0.164 0.166 0.169

HKD 0.161 0.165 0.165 0.156

MXP 0.109 0.120 0.119 0.109

JPY 0.011 0.012 0.011 0.011

HUF 0.006 0.006 0.006 0.006

2.5 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash includes petty cash, cash at banks and cash on 

deposit. Cash equivalents include term deposits with banks and 

short-term money market investments carried at market value, 

both with original maturity dates of three months or less.

2.6 Financial assets

Kaba Group classifi es fi nancial assets in the categories: 

held-for trading, available-for-sale and loans and receivables. 

Marketable securities (held for trading) within current 

assets include all securities which can be readily realized, 

including short term money market investments with a maturity 

ranging from 3 to 12 months. Market-able securities are valued 

at fair value. Changes in fair value are recorded in the income 

statement. 

Securities included in non-current fi nancial assets are held 

as «fi nancial instruments available for sale». Available-For-Sale 

investments are recorded at fair value, and fl uctuations in 

value are recorded in share-holders’ equity. When such securi-

ties are sold, impaired or otherwise disposed of, the accumu-

lated gains or losses since they were purchased which have 

previously been recorded in shareholders’ equity are reported 

in the fi nancial result for the current period. 

Loans are initially recorded at cost and subsequently 

measured at amortised cost.

2.7 Trade accounts receivable

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at nominal value. 

Allowances for doubtful accounts are established based on iden-

tifi able solvency risks and statistically determined credit risks. 

The nominal value of trade receivables less the allowances 

for doubtful accounts approximate their fair values for disclo-

sure purposes.

2.8 Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of purchase or manu-

facturing cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined using 

the weighted average method. Manufacturing cost includes 

direct labour and material as well as a commensurate share of 

related overhead cost. Allowances are made for obsolete and 

slow-moving items.

2.9 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost less 

accumulated depreciation. Repairs and maintenance are 

expensed as incurred, while major renovations and improve-

ments are capitalized as property, plant and equipment, if it is 

probable that future economic benefi ts in excess of the origi-

nally assessed standard of performance of the existing asset 

will fl ow to the Group, and are depreciated over their estimated 

useful lives. 

Signifi cant exchange rates are as follows:
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Borrowing costs incurred during the construction of prop-

erty, plant and equipment are expensed as incurred. 

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method 

based on the following estimated useful lives:

Buildings including investment property 20 —50 Years

Machinery, equipment, installations 

and tools 4 — 15 Years

Other tangible fi xed assets 3 — 15 Years

Land is not depreciated. Where an asset comprises various 

components having different useful lifes each component is 

depreciated separately. 

Items of minor value are charged directly to the income 

statement. 

All gains and losses on disposal of property, plant and 

equipment are recognized in the income statement. 

2.10 Intangible assets

 Intangible assets embodying future economic bene-

fi ts, such as acquired licences, patents and similar rights 

are capitalized and amortized on a straight line basis over their 

useful life. 

Goodwill, being the difference between the purchase price 

of acquisitions and the fair value of net assets acquired, is capi-

talized and assessed for impairment annually. Goodwill from 

acquisitions prior to the date of transition to IFRS was set 

off against shareholders’ equity. In compliance with IFRS 1 Kaba 

elected not to apply IFRS 3 Business Combinations retrospec-

tively to past business combinations. 

 All research costs are recognized in the income state-

ment as incurred. Development costs are recognized as an asset 

only in rare cases and only to the extent, that specifi c recogni-

tion criteria are met and the amount recognized is assessed to 

be recoverable through future economic benefi ts.

2.11 Impairment of assets

Goodwill and other intangible assets with an indefi nite use-

ful life are reviewed for impairment losses annually. Property, 

plant and equipment and other non-current assets, including 

other intangible assets with a fi nite useful life are reviewed for 

impairment losses whenever events or changes in circum-

stances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recover-

able. Assets, whose carrying amount exceeds their recoverable 

amount, are written down to their recoverable amount. The 

recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s net selling price 

and an amount determined using the discounted net future 

cash fl ows expected to be generated by the asset. For the 

purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped in cash 

generating units for which cash fl ows are separately identifi able.

2.12 Leases

Assets acquired under leasing agreements which effec-

tively transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental 

to ownership from the lessor to the lessee are classifi ed as 

fi nance leases. Assets held under fi nance leases are recorded 

at amounts equivalent to the estimated net present value of 

the future minimum lease payments which approximate their 

fair value at the inception of the lease. The estimated net pres-

ent value of the future minimum lease payments is recorded 

correspondingly as a fi nance lease obligation. Assets under 

fi nance leases are amortized over their estimated useful lives. 

Operating lease payments are charged to income on a straight 

line basis over the lease term.

2.13 Net sales and revenue recognition 

Net sales include all sales of goods and related services, 

net of any sales reductions including rebates, discounts 

and other agreed deductions as well as value-added taxes and 

commissions. 

Sales from supplied goods and services are recognized 

upon performance. Sales of goods are recognised when Kaba 

Group has delivered the products to the customer, the customer 

has accepted the products and collectibility of the related 

receivables is reasonably assured. 

Sales from long-term construction contracts are recognised 

applying the percentage-of-completion method. The respective 

stage of completion is measured by reference to the relation-

ship of contract costs incurred for work performed to date pro-

portional to the estimated total costs for the contract. 
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2.14 Retirement benefi ts

There are various post employment benefi t plans in exis-

tence within the Group which are individually aligned with local 

conditions in their respective countries. They are fi nanced 

either by means of contributions to le-gally independent 

pension/insurance funds, or by recognition as liabilities in the 

balance sheet of the respective Group companies. 

For defi ned contribution plans the net period cost to be 

recognized in the income statement equals the contributions 

made by the employer.

For material defi ned benefi t plans the pension costs in 

each period are calculated on the basis of an actuarial valuation 

prepared using the projected unit credit method. Such actuarial 

valuations are performed every third year, at the least. 

The defi cit or excess of the fair value of plan assets over 

the present value of the defi ned benefi t obligation is recognized 

as a liability or an asset in the balance sheet, taking into 

account any unrecognized actuarial gains or losses and past 

service costs. 

However, an excess of assets is capitalized only to the 

extent that it represents a future economic benefi t which is 

actually available to the Group, for example in the form of 

refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to 

the plan, or in case of existence of actuarial losses.

Actuarial gains and losses arise mainly from changes in 

actuarial assumptions and differences between actuarial 

assumptions and what has actually occurred. They are recog-

nized in the balance sheet to the extent that they exceed 

10 % of the greater of the present value of the benefi t obligation 

or of the fair value of plan assets. Such exceeding amounts 

are charged or credited to income in equal amounts over the 

estimated remaining service lives of participating employees.

2.15 Provisions

Provisions are recorded

• when the Group has an actual obligation (legal or construc-

tive) as a result of a past event,

• when it is probable that a use of resources will be required to 

settle the obligation, and

• when the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated.

Costs relating to restructuring plans or agreements, includ-

ing the reduction of excess staffi ng, the discontinuation of 

certain activities or the streamlining of facilities and operations 

and other restructuring measures, are recorded in the period in 

which the Group commits itself to a plan and it is announced.

2.16 Financial liabilities

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of 

transaction costs incurred and subsequently measured at 

amortised cost. Any differences between the proceeds (net of 

transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in 

the income statement over the period of the borrowings using 

the effective interest method.

The nominal value of trade accounts payable approximates 

the fair value for disclosure purposes. 

When convertible bonds are issued, the fair value of the 

liability portion is determined using a market interest rate for an 

equivalent non-convertible bond; this amount is recorded as a 

non-current liability on the amortised cost basis until extin-

guished on conversion or maturity of the bonds. The remainder 

of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option which 

is recognised and included in shareholders’ equity; the value of 

the conversion option is not changed in subsequent periods.

2.17 Income taxes

Current income taxes are based on taxable income of the 

current year and charged to income as incurred.

Deferred income taxes are determined using the liability 

method with the applicable enacted income tax rates applied on 

a comprehensive basis to all temporary differences. Tax savings 

resulting from tax losses carried forward applicable to future 

taxable income and other deferred income tax assets are only 

recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 

profi t will be available against which the temporary differences 

can be utilized.
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2.18 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing net 

profi t excluding minority interests by the weighted average 

number of shares outstanding during the reporting period. 

Diluted earnings per share also include all potentially dilutive 

effects.

2.19 Derivative fi nancial instruments

Derivative fi nancial instruments are initially recognised 

at fair value on the date the derivative contract is entered into 

and are subsequently remeasured at their fair value. The 

method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on 

whether the derivative fi nancial instrument is designated as a 

hedging instrument or not. 

• Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting: changes 

in the fair value of any derivative instruments that do not 

qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in 

the income statement. 

• Cash fl ow hedges: The effective portion of changes in the fair 

value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash 

fl ow hedges is recognised in equity. The gain or loss relating 

to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the 

income statement. Amounts accumulated in equity are trans-

ferred to the income statement in the periods when the 

hedged item affects profi t or loss. However, when the forecast 

transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of a non 

fi nancial asset (e. g. inventory) or a liability, the gains and 

losses previously deferred in equity are transferred from 

equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost of 

the asset or liability. 

2.20 Financial risk management

Risk policy

The Group is exposed to various fi nancial market risks 

primarily in connection with fl uctuations in foreign exchange 

rates and interest rates. Management monitors these risks 

on a regular basis. In managing the exposure resulting from 

such fl uctuations, the Group uses derivative fi nancial instru-

ments wherever management deems it appropriate to do 

so in all the prevailing circumstances. Counterparties involved 

are high ranking fi nancial institutions. The Group does not 

enter into fi nancial transactions if the associated risk cannot be 

estimated, e. g. no uncovered short transactions are executed. 

Hedging transactions always relate to existing assets and liabili-

ties or to highly probable future business transactions.

Risk management also involves securing comprehensive 

and effi cient insurance protection.

Liquidity risk

The Group treasury function ensures that optimal liquidity 

is available to the Group’s operations at any time. Procurement 

of bank loans is managed centrally.

Interest rate risk

Financing and related interests are managed centrally. Cash 

and cash equivalents are invested on a short term basis. The 

interest rate risk is only hedged in limited cases. Management 

strives for a well-balanced mix of long- and short-term interest 

rates.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group is active all over the world and therefore 

exposed to fl uctuations in exchange rates which affect the value 

of Group assets and income reported in Swiss francs. This 

relates mainly to the USD and EUR. 

In most Group companies expenditures and earnings occur 

mainly in the local currencies of these companies and affect 

only the net payment fl ow. Investments in foreign companies 

are not hedged. As from 1 July 2004 foreign exchange risks on 

intercompany loans are covered to a large extent by forward 

exchange contracts. Future cash fl ows in foreign currencies are 

hedged in limited cases only.
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Credit loss risk

Credit risks arise from the possibility that the counterparty 

to a transaction is unable or unwilling to fulfi l its obligations and 

that the Group thereby suffers fi nancial damage. 

Cash and cash equivalents are mainly held in the form of 

current accounts and current fi xed-term deposits at banks. 

The counterparty risks are minimized and monitored via strictly 

limiting our associations to high ranking business-partners. 

Trade receivables are monitored on an ongoing basis locally 

and via Group management reporting procedures. The credit 

risk is limited due to the wide distribution of Kaba customers 

among different business segments and geographical regions. 

2.21 Segment reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and operations 

engaged in providing products or services that are subject to 

risks and returns that are different from those of other business 

segments. A geographical segment is engaged in providing 

products or services within a particular economic environment 

that are subject to risks and returns that are different from 

those of segments operating in other economic environments.

2.22 Share based payments

The fair value of the employee services received in 

exchange for the grant of share options is recognised as an 

expense with a corresponding entry in equity. The total amount 

to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by refer-

ence to the fair value of the options granted, excluding the 

impact of any non-market vesting conditions. Non-market vest-

ing conditions are included in assumptions about the number 

of options that are expected to become exercisable. The fair 

value of the share options is calculated based on the Enhanced 

American Model (EA-Model). At each balance sheet date, the 

entity revises its estimates of the number of options that are 

expected to become exercisable. It recognises the impact of the 

revision of original estimates, if any, in the income statement, 

with a corresponding adjustment to equity.
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3. Shares

 Financial Year   Financial Year 
in CHF million closed 30. 6. 2006 closed 30. 6. 2005

For basic number of shares Par value CHF 5.20 Par value CHF 10

Number of shares outstanding beginning of fi nancial year 3,575,098 3,573,748

New shares issued 1,985 1,350

Own shares acquired — 6,400 0

Number of shares outstanding end of fi nancial year 3,574,195 3,575,098

  

Weighted average number of shares outstanding (basic) 3,574,195 3,574,471

  

Conditional shares beginning of year 412,402 413,752

New conditional shares created 60,000 0

New shares issued — 1,985 — 1,350

Conditional shares end of fi nancial year 470,417 412,402

  

Authorized shares 350,000 350,000

  

Number of shares authorised but not yet issued 350,000 350,000

Number of own shares held 6,400 0

For diluted number of shares  

Weighted average number of shares outstanding (basic) 3,574,195 3,574,471

Eligible shares under stock option plans 7,782 6,282

Weighted average number of shares outstanding (diluted) 3,581,977 3,580,753 

Profi t applicable for calculation of earnings per share 

(basic and diluted) 68.1 65.8

Basic earnings per share (in CHF) 19.0 18.4

  

Diluted earnings per share (in CHF) 19.0 18.4

Dividend (2004/2005 and 2005/2006 

as repayment of par value) (proposed for 2005/2006) 

per share (in CHF) 5.1 4.8
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4. Additions / disposals of subsidiaries

 Financial Year   Financial Year 
in CHF million closed 30. 6. 2006 closed 30. 6. 2005

Contingent payment on acquisition prior to fi rst time 

application of IFRS 0.0 0.8

Total as per cash fl ow statement 0.0 0.8

5. Net sales

 Financial Year   Financial Year 
in CHF million closed 30. 6. 2006 closed 30. 6. 2005

Total net sales 1,041.0 980.1

Additional information for long-term contracts 

applying the percentage-of-completion method 

Amounts included in net sales based 

on the percentage of completion method 72.3 63.4

Cumulative progress invoices on contracts in progress 154.8 130.4

Construction contracts in progress 11.7 4.1

Billings in excess of cost of construction contracts 

(liabilities see note 20) — 8.5 — 7.4

Accumulated contract costs incl. recognised profi ts (losses) 158.0 127.1

Advances for construction contracts (liabilities) — 1.4 — 0.8

Retentions on construction contracts in progress (assets) 4.8 6.1

6. Other operating income

 Financial Year   Financial Year 
in CHF million closed 30. 6. 2006 closed 30. 6. 2005

Capitalised assets produced by the company 2.8 2.8

Rent 1.7 1.7

Proceeds from the sale of fi xed assets 0.4 0.5

Other revenue 7.2 7.3

Total other operating income 12.1 12.3

7. Material expenses

 Financial Year   Financial Year 
in CHF million closed 30. 6. 2006 closed 30. 6. 2005

Material expenses 283.4 255.4

Contracted services and labour 46.0 42.4

Total material expenses 329.4 297.8
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8. Personnel expenses

 Financial Year    Financial Year  
in CHF million closed 30. 6. 2006 % closed 30. 6. 2005 %

Salaries and wages 327.7  313.0

Social security expenses 61.3  58.2

Share based payments 0.9  0.2

Pension cost defi ned benefi t plans (note 22) 9.0  0.5

Pension cost defi ned contribution plans 3.9  3.9

Other benefi ts 2.4  1.1

Total personnel expenses 405.2  376.9

Employees at balance sheet date 5,657  5,754

Average number of employees 5,721  5,836

  

Average number of employees per geographic region   

Switzerland 1,014 17 997 17

Germany 704 12 697 12

Rest of Europe 1,970 34 2,001 34

Americas 1,790 33 1,910 33

Asia Pacifi c 243 4 231 4

Total 5,721 100 5,836 100

9. Other operating expenses

 Financial Year   Financial Year 
in CHF million closed 30. 6. 2006 closed 30. 6. 2005

Licence fees 1.4 1.1

Postage and relocation expenses 3.0 2.6

Warranty / guarantees / compensations 3.0 1.5

Other administrative and sales expenses 17.7 17.9

Research and development 5.0 4.1

Advertising, travel and entertainment expenses 40.1 37.3

Rent, leasing, other services 49.3 49.1

Maintenance, repairs, consumables, fuel 42.6 39.0

Insurance, fees, contributions 11.3 11.6

Bad debt expenses 1.3 2.1

Losses on sales of fi xed assets 0.2 0.2

Total 174.9 166.5
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10. Financial expenses

 Financial Year   Financial Year 
in CHF million closed 30. 6. 2006 closed 30. 6. 2005

Interest expenses 22.2 31.6

Foreign exchange losses (gains) 0.9 0.8

Other fi nancial expenses 0.8 1.2

Total fi nancial expenses 23.9 33.6

11. Financial income

 Financial Year   Financial Year 
in CHF million closed 30. 6. 2006 closed 30. 6. 2005

Interest income 0.6 0.6

Other fi nancial income 0.1 0.3

Total fi nancial income 0.7 0.9

12. Income taxes

 Financial Year   Financial Year 
in CHF million closed 30. 6. 2006 closed 30. 6. 2005

Profi t before tax 95.6 88.8

Weighted applicable tax rate 23.1 % 23.1 %

Applicable tax expense 22.1 20.5

Current income taxes 22.1 19.8

Deferred income taxes 5.4 2.9

Income taxes 27.5 22.7

Difference between applicable and effective income taxes — 5.4 — 2.2

Impact of losses and tax loss carry forwards — 3.5 — 1.3

Non-deductible expenses / tax-exempt income 0.5 1.2

Non recoverable withholding tax expenses — 0.9 — 1.6

Tax charges / credits relating to prior periods, net — 0.8 0.2

Other — 0.7 — 0.7

Difference between expected and effective income taxes — 5.4 — 2.2

  

Tax charged to equity amounts to 0.0 1.1

The weighted applicable tax rate is calculated using the expected income 

tax rates of the individual group companies in each jurisdiction. 

The change from prior year (if any) is therefore due to a change in profi ts 

within different tax jurisdictions as well as changes in individual tax rates.
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13. Accounts receivable trade

 Financial Year   Financial Year 
in CHF million closed 30. 6. 2006 closed 30. 6. 2005

Accounts receivable from third parties 191.9 191.4

Construction contracts in progress 11.7 4.1

Total accounts receivable trade, gross 203.6 195.5

Allowance for doubtful accounts — 9.6 — 10.6

Total accounts receivable trade, net 194.0 184.9

14. Inventories

 Financial Year   Financial Year 
in CHF million closed 30. 6. 2006 closed 30. 6. 2005

Raw material and supplies 71.3 64.6

Semi-fi nished goods and work in progress 84.6 84.0

Finished goods 71.0 71.3

Prepayments to suppliers 0.3 0.7

Total inventories, gross 227.2 220.6

Allowance for obsolete and slow-moving items — 40.2 — 38.8

Total inventories, net 187.0 181.8

15. Other current assets

 Financial Year   Financial Year 
in CHF million closed 30. 6. 2006 closed 30. 6. 2005

Prepaid expenses 6.9 6.7

Retentions 5.8 7.1

Sales, withholding and other tax recoverable 1.1 11.1

Other receivables and miscellaneous 0.2 0.2

Total other current assets 24.0 25.1
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16. Property, plant and equipment
 Land Plant,  
 and  Machinery Furniture
in CHF million buildings and equipment and fi xtures Prepayments Total

Cost  

30 June 2004 173.8 152.6 112.0 2.2 440.6

Additions 0.5 7.6 8.2 4.7 21.0

Disposals — 3.2 — 1.8 — 4.5 0.0 — 9.5

Reclassifi cations 0.8 1.8 0.7 — 3.3 0.0

Translation exchange differences 2.1 3.5 1.5 — 0.1 7.0

30 June 2005 174.0 163.7 117.9 3.5 459.1

     

Accumulated depreciation at      

30 June 2004 49.5 102.5 84.3  236.3

Additions 4.8 13.6 9.9  28.3

Disposals — 2.2 — 1.6 — 4.0  — 7.8

Translation exchange differences 0.2 2.3 1.2  3.7

30 June 2005 52.3 116.8 91.4  260.5

     

Net book value as of     

30 June 2004 net 124.3 50.1 27.7 2.2 204.3

30 June 2005 net 121.7 46.9 26.5 3.5 198.6

Net book value as of     

30 June 2004 net   0.1  0.1

30 June 2005 net   0.1  0.1

Cost     

30 June 2005 174.0 163.7 117.9 3.5 459.1

Additions 4.7 8.5 10.8 2.8 26.8

Disposals — 0.7 — 2.6 — 4.0 0.0 — 7.3

Reclassifi cations 0.1 1.1 0.6 — 2.1 — 0.3

Translation exchange differences — 0.2 — 0.6 0.3 — 0.1 — 0.6

30 June 2006 177.9 170.1 125.6 4.1 477.7

     

Accumulated depreciation at       

30 June 2005 52.3 116.8 91.4  260.5

Additions 5.0 13.3 10.0  28.3

Disposals — 0.6 — 2.5 — 3.5  — 6.6

Reclassifi cations 0.0 — 0.2 0.0  — 0.2

Translation exchange differences 0.0 — 0.4 0.3  — 0.1

30 June 2006 56.7 127.0 98.2  281.9

  

Net book value as of  

30 June 2005 net 121.7 46.9 26.5 3.5 198.6

30 June 2006 net 121.2 43.1 27.4 4.1 195.8

Net carrying amount of assets under fi nance leases     

30 June 2005 net   0.1  0.1

30 June 2006 net 1.7 1.7
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17. Goodwill and other intangible assets

in CHF million Other intangible assets

Cost 

30 June 2004 22.7

Additions 7.4

Disposals — 0.8

Translation exchange differences 0.6

30 June 2005 29.9

Accumulated depreciation at   

30 June 2004 14.9

Additions 3.0

Disposals — 0.8

Translation exchange differences 0.2

30 June 2005 17.3

Net book value as of

30 June 2004 net 7.8

30 June 2005 net 12.6

in CHF million Other intangible assets

Cost 

30 June 2005 29.9

Additions 7.9

Disposals — 2.4

Reclassifi cations 0.3

30 June 2006 35.7

Accumulated depreciation at   

30 June 2005 17.3

Additions 3.3

Disposals — 2.1

Reclassifi cations 0.2

Translation exchange differences 0.1

30 June 2006 18.8

Net book value as of 

30 June 2005 net 12.6

30 June 2006 net 16.9

All intangible assets have a fi nite useful live. The majority relates 

to software which is depreciated on a straight line basis over a 

period not exceeding 5 years.

18. Non-current fi nancial assets

 Financial Year   Financial Year 
in CHF million closed 30. 6. 2006 closed 30. 6. 2005

Loans 2.0 2.2

Available for sale fi nancial assets 1.0 1.8

Total non-current fi nancial assets 3.0 4.0
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19. Borrowings

 Financial Year   Financial Year 
in CHF million closed 30. 6. 2006 closed 30. 6. 2005

Short-term debt

Bank overdraft 8.2 9.1

Bank short-term loans 135.8 189.9

Current portion of long-term debt 7.2 7.3

Current portion of fi nance lease obligation 0.2 0.1

Total short-term debt 151.4 206.4

   

Short-term debts are repayable within one year and are 

subject to fi nancial debt covenants. The short-term debts 

are fi xed for a period of one to three months and the 

interest rates are based on LIBOR / EURIBOR. The carrying 

amounts of short-term fi nancial debts approximate their 

fair value.

Long-term debt  

Bank loans 1.0 2.7

Convertible bond 149.5 142.3

Finance lease obligation 1.5 0.1

Total long-term debt 152.0 145.1

Details of convertible bond  

Face value 138.2 138.2

Transaction costs — 3.1 — 3.1

Equity conversion component — 13.3 — 13.3

Liability component on initial recognition 121.8 121.8

Interest imputed 27.7 20.5

Liability component 149.5 142.3
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Convertible Bonds 

Kaba Finance Luxembourg S.A. issued, on 18 January 2002, 

a 4 % convertible bond 2002 to 2010 in the amount of CHF 

138.2 million, unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by 

Kaba Holding AG. The convertible bonds shall be redeemed on 

18 January 2010, at 130.78 % of the par value. This convertible 

bond is listed on the main segment of the SWX Swiss Exchange 

(security no. / ISIN: 1 336 276 / CH 001 336 276 6). From 18 Janu-

ary 2002, until and including 13 January 2010, each convertible 

bond with a par value of CHF 5,000 is convertible, free of 

charge, at any time (American Style) into 13.02083 registered 

shares of Kaba Holding AG with a par value of CHF 5.20 each; 

fractions are paid out in cash. For this convertible bond, a 

maximum of 360,000 registered shares of Kaba Holding AG 

with a par value of CHF 5.20 each in the total amount of 

CHF 1,872,000 million are reserved. The initial conversion price 

was CHF 450 per registered share (i. e., each convertible bond 

was convertible into 11.1111 registered shares). Pursuant to the 

conversion terms, the conversion price was reduced because 

the average of all closing prices of Kaba Holding AG shares 

determined by the SWX Swiss Exchange during the last 20 trad-

ing days before and including 29 November 2002, was below 

CHF 384 (the Reference Price). Effective 6 December 2002, the 

conversion price was set (reset) to CHF 384 (based on the par 

value of the bonds). In economic terms, the conversion price of 

the convertible bond will rise during the term of maturity be-

cause the redemption price until maturity (i. e., 18 January 2010) 

continuously increases to 130.78 % of the bond’s par value, 

and each bond of CHF 5,000 par value is convertible into a fi xed 

rate of 13.02083 registered shares of Kaba Holding AG. The 

actual conversion price is derived from the theoretical redemp-

tion price of the bond at the time of premature conversion using 

the following equation: 100 % ✕ (1+3,4112212 %)(d/360), where «d» 

is the number of days between payment and conversion of 

the bond. At maturity, application of this equation results in a 

conversion price of CHF 502.

An early redemption at the premature conversion price is 

possible (i) if the closing price of the registered shares of Kaba 

Holding AG on the SWX Swiss Exchange exceeds 130 % of the 

respective conversion price for 30 consecutive trading days, 

(ii) if more than 95 % of the originally issued bond capital has 

been converted, or (iii) for tax reasons with a 60-day period 

of notice.

Interest expense on the bond is calculated on the effective 

yield basis using an effective interest rate of 8.98 %. The 

fair value of the convertible bond as of 30 June 2006 based 

on quoted market prices was CHF 179.4 (188.0) million.

 Financial Year   Financial Year 
in CHF million closed 30. 6. 2006 closed 30. 6. 2005

At year end, maturities of debt were as follows  

Within one year 7.4 7.4

Within 2 to 5 years 1.3 1.5

After 5 years 150.7 143.6

Total 159.4 152.5

Current portion of long-term debt 7.4 7.4

Total long-term debt 152.0 145.1
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20. Accrued and other current liabilities

 Financial Year   Financial Year 
in CHF million closed 30. 6. 2006 closed 30. 6. 2005

Advances from customers 8.1 6.9

Billings in excess of cost of construction contracts 8.5 7.4

Deferred income 19.2 17.1

Sales, withholding and other tax payable 12.7 12.8

Social security payable 5.5 7.0

Payable to pension fund 0.7 0.8

Accruals for vacation, overtime and other employee benefi ts 42.8 37.9

Accrued interest 2.7 3.4

Fair value of forward contracts (see note 26) 1.1 1.2

Other accruals and current NIB liabilities 35.8 36.0

Total accrued and other current liabilities 137.1 130.5

21. Provisions

 Warranty and  
in CHF million Customer returns Restructuring Other Total

Beginning of year 4.5 0.1 6.6 11.2

Additions 3.6 0.1 1.7 5.4

Releases — 0.5 — 0.0 — 0.3 — 0.8

Usage — 2.3 — 0.1 — 1.6 — 4.0

Exchange differences 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1

End of year 5.4 0.1 6.4 11.9

Other provisions include mainly environmental risks, sales 

agents’ indemnities and adjustments relating to recognition 

of government grants.
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22. Accrued pension cost and benefi ts

 Financial Year   Financial Year 
in CHF million closed 30. 6. 2006 closed 30. 6. 2005

Material defi ned benefi t plans 47.6 49.5

Other defi ned benefi t plans 2.5 2.2

Other long-term employee benefi ts 3.7 3.6

Total long-term accrued pension cost and benefi ts 53.8 55.3

Details of material defi ned benefi t plans

 Financial Year   Financial Year 
in CHF million closed 30. 6. 2006 closed 30. 6. 2005

Present value of funded obligations — 276.6 — 267.6

Fair value of plan assets 272.6 245.6

 — 4.0 — 22.0

Present value of unfunded obligations — 34.6 — 32.5

Total net assets (liability) — 38.6 — 54.5

  

Actuarial (gains) / losses not recognised — 9.0 5.1

Net assets (liability) recognised — 47.6 — 49.5

Periodic pension cost for material defi ned benefi t plans

in CHF million 2005/2006 2004/2005

Service cost — 15.7 — 14.1

Interest cost — 10.6 — 11.1

Expected return on plan assets 11.2 10.4

Plan amendments 1) 0.0 7.8

Amortisation of actuarial (gains) / losses — 0.1 0.1

Net periodic pension costs — 15.2 — 6.9

Plan participants’ contribution 6.2 6.4

Expenses recognised in income statement — 9.0 — 0.5

Actual return on plan assets  16.9 17.5

1) 2004/2005: Mainly the result of the change in the conversion rates for Swiss pension 
 plans as a consequence of the treatment of these plans as defi ned benefi t plans under IFRS. 
 The impact relates to past services (past service cost) and future services (curtailment).
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Movements in net assets (liability) recognised in balance sheet 

in CHF million 2005/2006 2004/2005

Net assets (liability) in opening balance sheet 30 June — 49.5 — 60.4

Exchange differences — 0.6 — 0.9

Expenses recognised in income statement — 9.0 — 0.5

Benefi ts paid (unfunded plans only) 1.7 1.8

Employer’s contribution paid 9.8 10.5

Net assets (liability) recognised — 47.6 — 49.5

Principal actuarial assumptions (weighted average)
 2005/2006 2004/2005

Discount rate 3.79 % 3.55 %

Expected net return on plan assets 4.49 % 4.49 %

Projected average future salary increases 2.25 % 2.29 %

Projected pension benefi t increases 0.61 % 0.60 %

23. Lease commitments

 Financial Year   Financial Year 
in CHF million closed 30. 6. 2006 closed 30. 6. 2005

Operating leases  

Expenses for operating leases amounted to 16.2 15.2

Future minimum lease payments resulting from non-cancellable 

operating lease contracts are due as follows:  

Liabilities under leases up to 1 year 14.1 12.8

Liabilities under leases 2 to 5 years 27.7 26.1

Liabilities under leases over 5 years 16.3 16.1

Total future payment commitments for operating leases 58.1 55.0

  

Operating lease commitments mainly refer to the lease of buildings 

which are used for operational purposes.

  

Finance leases  

Expenses for fi nance leases amounted to 0.1 0.1

Future minimum lease payments resulting from non-cancellable 

fi nance lease contracts are due as follows:  

Liabilities under leases up to 1 year 0.2 0.1

Liabilities under leases 2 to 5 years 0.5 0.1

Liabilities under leases over 5 years 1.0 0.0

Total fi nance lease obligation including its current portion (net present value) 1.7 0.2

Less current portion (note 19) — 0.2 — 0.1

Long-term fi nance lease obligation 1.5 0.1
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24. Deferred income taxes
 
 Financial Year   Financial Year 
in CHF million closed 30. 6. 2006 closed 30. 6. 2005

Expiration of tax losses not recognised as deferred tax asset  

Expiry in 1 year 0.0 0.0

Expiry in 2 to 5 years 9.4 3.5

Expiry after 5 years 18.6 21.6

No expiry 111.3 123.8

Balance tax losses carried forward end of year 139.3 148.9

 

Timing differences (temporary differences between balance sheet 

values according to IFRS and taxable balance sheet values) for which 

no deferred tax assets have been capitalised amount to 12.4 13.2

Total deferred taxes calculation  

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to the following 

assets and liabilities:

  

Assets  

Current assets 10.0 10.6

Property, plant and equipment 0.1 0.2

Other non-current assets 3.3 4.5

Tax loss carry forwards  12.4 13.3

Current liabilities 8.6 8.5

Non-current liabilities 7.4 9.1

Total deferred income taxes, assets 41.8 46.2

Liabilities

Current assets 9.6 6.9

Property, plant and equipment 16.9 17.4

Other non-current assets 5.5 6.3

Current liabilities 5.8 4.7

Non-current liabilities 3.0 3.6

Total deferred income taxes, liabilities 40.8 38.9

Net

Current assets 0.4 3.7

Property, plant and equipment — 16.8 — 17.2

Other non-current assets — 2.2 — 1.8

Tax loss carry forwards 12.4 13.3

Current liabilities 2.8 3.8

Non-current liabilities 4.4 5.5

Total deferred income taxes, net 1.0 7.3
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 Financial Year   Financial Year 
in CHF million closed 30. 6. 2006 closed 30. 6. 2005

Balance sheet presentation of deferred income taxes  

Deferred income tax assets 24.1 25.1

Deferred income tax liabilities 23.1 17.8

Total deferred income taxes, net 1.0 7.3

Deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable 

that future taxable profi t will be available against which the asset can be utilized.

25. Commitments and contingencies

 Financial Year   Financial Year 
in CHF million closed 30. 6. 2006 closed 30. 6. 2005

Current endorsement liabilities 3.9 5.8

Investments committed to purchase from third parties

Tangible fi xed assets 5.0 2.6

Intangible fi xed assets 3.0 1.6

The pension scheme of some of the employees taken over 

in the UK has made a claim for a total of ca. GBP 1.7 million 

against two UK non-operational Group companies, which were 

acquired in 1999, relating to a defi cit in such scheme. Each of 

the companies ceased to participate in the scheme on 30 June 

1999. The purchase contract for the two companies contains a 

full indemnity from the vendor against such liability.

A claim was made in 2004 against a group company for 

damages allegedly arising out of the supply prior to 1998 of 

allegedly defective products (balancers). At the time of the sup-

ply, the supplier was not part of the Kaba Group, and, prior to 

the acquisition by Kaba of the supplier (being part of the Unican 

Group), it had disposed of its balancers’ business. The claim 

for approx. EUR 7 million has been robustly resisted on various 

factual and legal grounds. The Court of First Instance in Frank-

furt, Germany gave its judgement on 1 August 2006 and dis-

missed the claim entirely and awarded the Kaba Group company 

costs. It is unknown whether the claimant intends to appeal. 

26. Derivative fi nancial instruments

 Financial Year   Financial Year 
in CHF million closed 30. 6. 2006 closed 30. 6. 2005

The following forward contracts existed for hedging purposes 

per balance sheet date:  

Currencies 

— contract value 160.2 175.9

— fair value — held for trading — 1.1 — 1.2
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27. Segment reporting — primary segments
 
       Other/  
  Door  Data Access Key + Ident  Eliminations/  
in CHF million Systems Collection Systems Systems  Finance Group

Prior year closed 30. 6. 2005

Net sales third parties 250.6 74.0 405.7 211.2 38.6 980.1

Intercompany sales 2.1 1.9 3.0 4.5 — 11.5 0.0

Total segment sales 252.7 75.9 408.7 215.7 27.1 980.1

      

Segment operating profi t  19.3 7.1 85.8 25.2 — 16.1 121.3

in % of segment sales 7.6 % 9.4 % 21.0 % 11.7 % N/A 12.3 %

      

Assets 128.1 25.0 225.4 184.1 117.6 680.2

Liabilities — 57.7 — 30.4 — 82.4 — 51.1 — 426.3 — 647.9

Total net operating assets 70.4 — 5.4 143.0 133.0 308.7 32.3

Return on net operating assets 27.4 % — 131.5 % 60.0 % — 18.9 % N/A N/A

Capital expenditure 5.4 1.8 11.2 8.5 1.5 28.4

Depreciation and amortisation 4.8 1.2 13.3 9.3 2.7 31.3

Average personnel employed 1,229 348 2,288 1,558 413 5,836

 

     

Financial year closed 30. 6. 2006      

Net sales third parties 269.4 70.5 433.1 227.4 40.6 1,041.0

Intercompany sales 2.0 2.0 2.3 4.4 — 10.7 0.0

Total segment sales 271.4 72.5 435.4 231.8 29.9 1,041.0

Segment operating profi t 22.3 9.1 85.2 23.4 — 21.2 118.8

In % of segment sales 8.2 % 12.6 % 19.6 % 10.1 % N/A 11.4 %

Segment operating profi t currency adjusted 22.3 9.0 82.4 22.8 — 20.0 116.5

      

Growth segment sales 18.7 — 3.4 26.7 16.1 2.8 60.9

in % 7.4 % — 4.5 % 6.5 % 7.5 % N/A 6.2 %

Whereof currency impact 1.8 1.1 11.5 7.7 N/A 22.1

in % 0.7 % 1.4 % 2.8 % 3.6 % N/A 2.3 %

Currency adjusted internal growth segment sales 16.9 — 4.5 15.2 8.4 2.8 38.8

in % 6.7 % — 5.9 % 3.7 % 3.9 % N/A 4.0 %

Assets 130.5 21.6 238.3 184.7 118.1 693.2

Liabilities — 60.9 — 29.3 — 86.6 — 57.9 — 381.0 — 615.7

Total net operating assets 69.6 — 7.7 151.7 126.8 — 262.9 77.5

Return on net operating assets 32.0 % — 118.2 % 56.2 % 18.5 % N/A N/A

Capital expenditure 6.1 2.1 13.7 9.6 3.2 34.7

Depreciation and amortisation  4.9 1.7 13.4 8.8 2.8 31.6

Average personnel employed 1,254 439 2,191 1,476 361 5,721
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28. Segment reporting — geographical segments
 
 Net sales  Operating  Capital
in CHF million third parties % assets % expenditure %

Prior year closed 30. 6. 2005   

Total assets   680.2   

Non-operating assets   — 77.4   

Operating assets   602.8   

      

Switzerland 173.5 18 144.4 24 6.4 23

Germany 110.0 11 64.4 11 3.0 10

Rest of Europe 362.8 37 215.8 36 10.7 38

Americas 252.8 26 151.6 25 6.8 24

Asia Pacifi c 81.0 8 26.6 4 1.5 5

Total 980.1 100 602.8 100 28.4 100

   

Financial year closed 30.6.2006    

Total assets   693.2   

Non-operating assets   — 75.6   

Operating assets   617.6   

      

Switzerland 179.6 17 149.5 24 11.6 33

Change in % to previous year 4 %  4 %  80 % 

      

Germany 125.8 12 66.1 11 3.3 10

Change in % to previous year 14 %  3 %  12 % 

      

Rest of Europe 370.4 36 218.6 35 11.3 33

Change in % to previous year 2 %  1 %  5 % 

      

Americas 275.0 26 161.1 26 7.4 21

Change in % to previous year 9 %  6 %  9 % 

      

Asia Pacifi c 90.2 9 22.3 4 1.1 3

Change in % to previous year 11%  — 16%  — 28 % 

Total 1,041.0 100 617.6 100 34.7 100
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29. Stock Option Plans

There were two Stock Option Plans in existence for the 

remuneration of Members of the Board of Directors, the Execu-

tive Committee and senior management of the Group. 

The Executive Stock Option Plan 1998 which operated from 

1998 to 2001 required participants to purchase options. The 

options were subject to a 3 year blocking period prior to vesting 

but could then be exercised within the following 2 years, upon 

the expiry of which period in the absence of exercise the 

options lapsed. At 30 June 2006 all options had been exercised 

or had lapsed.

The Executive Stock Option Plan 2002 commenced in 2002 

and under it participants determined each year by the Compen-

sation Committee are allotted free of charge options at an exer-

cise price corresponding to the average closing price of Kaba 

Holding AG registered shares at the SWX Swiss Exchange during 

July and August prior to the allotment on 1 September each 

year. The options are subject to a graduated blocking period of 

one to four years during each of which 25 % of the annual allot-

ment vests and is exercisable until the expiry of 5 years from 

the date of allotment when any unexercised options will lapse. 

CHF 574,168 (divided into 110,417 registered shares with 

a par value of CHF 5.20 each) of conditional capital is reserved 

for the Option Plans. Under each Plan one option is convertible 

into one Kaba Holding AG share.

Movements in the number of share options outstanding 

and their related weighted average exercise prices are as 

follows:

 Financial year closed 30. 6. 2006 Financial year closed 30. 6. 2005
 Average   Average  
 exercise price Options  exercise price Options

1 July 274.26 42,503 303.33 32,271

Granted 352.72 14,280 250.35 14,160

Forfeited 275.65 2,250 252.43 — 330

Exercised 1) 236.33 1,985 263.21 — 1,470

Expired 487.00 4,933 567.00 — 2,128

30 June 277.26 47,615 274.26 42,503

Thereof exercisable 257.92 17,365 346.14 13,053

    
1)  The weighted average share price at the date of exercise amounted to 328.4 (334.18).

Options outstanding at the end of the period have the following expiry date and exercise prices:

 Financial year closed 30. 6. 2006 Financial year closed 30. 6. 2005
 Exercise price Options Exercise price Options

30. 6. 2006   487.00 4,933

31. 8. 2007 293.90 10,330 293.90 11,020

31. 8. 2008 199.90 11,030 199.90 12,510

31. 8. 2009 250.35 12,695 250.35 14,040

31. 8. 2010 352.72 13,560  

Total  47,615  42,503
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30. Related parties
 
 Financial Year   Financial Year 
in CHF million closed 30. 6. 2006 closed 30. 6. 2005

Management compensation  

Short term employee benefi ts 5.9 5.6

Share based payments 0.5 0.0

Contributions to pension plans 0.7 0.7

Total remuneration 7.1 6.3

Management includes members of the Board of Directors as well as members of the Group Management.

31. Subsequent events

On 10 August 2006 Kaba acquired 80 % of the issued share 

capital of Wah Yuet (Ng’s) Group Holdings Limited. For the 

remaining 20 % of the company share capital reciprocal options 

have been put in place which cannot be exercised for at least 

3 years. Kaba will recognise a liability in its Group Financial 

Statements for this 20 % representing the discounted redemp-

tion value in the event of an exercise of the put option. The 

redemption value will be assessed and adjusted on each balance 

sheet date. Adjustments of the redemption value will be debited 

or credited to goodwill. The change in the discount element of 

the liability will be expensed as a fi nance cost.

The cost of the acquisition is made up of the following com-

ponents (in CHF million):

Cash consideration 139.0

Fair value of consideration in Kaba shares 1) 64.2

Cost directly attributable to the acquisition 2) 1.0

Total cost of the acquisition for 80% of the shares 204.2

1) 196,910 shares at CHF 326 (closing rate at the Swiss Stock Exchange on 
10 August 2006). The number of shares were determined based on a price 
of CHF 300.93 per Kaba share which represents the average price in the 
30 days before the signing date.

2) Best estimate

Additional information and analysis are required in order 

to determine the redemption value in the event of an exercise 

of the put option and the value of the acquired assets and 

liabilities.

Wah Yuet produces high-quality locks, keys and key blanks 

that are distributed mainly by American and European business 

partners. The Group’s main operation is located in Taishan City, 

Guandong Province in the Peoples Republic of China.

32. Release of consolidated fi nancial 
statements for publication

These fi nancial statements have been approved for issue 

by the board of directors on 1 September 2006.
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List of substantial group   Share Capital Voting 
and associated companies  in local currency   rights in % Participation of … 

Kaba Holding AG, Rümlang/CH CHF 18,600,831.60  Public Quoted Company

Kaba Management + Consulting AG, Rümlang/CH CHF 50,000.00 100 Kaba Holding AG

     

Division Door Systems      

Kaba Access Technology (Suzhou) Co., Ltd., Suzhou/CN CNY 11,496,907.60 100 Kaba Gilgen AG

Kaba Belgium NV/SA, Turnhout/BE EUR 62,000.00 94 Kaba Holding AG 

   6 Kaba Nederland BV 

Kaba Door Systems Ltd., Telford/GB GBP 2,000,002.00 100 Kaba Holding (UK) Ltd.

Kaba Gallenschütz GmbH, Bühl/DE EUR 2,556,459.40 100 Kaba Holding GmbH

Kaba Gilgen AG, Schwarzenburg/CH CHF 2,001,000.00 100 Kaba Holding AG

Kaba Ltd., Kwun Tong, Kowloon/HK HKD 62,250,000.00 100 Kaba Gilgen AG

Kaba Nederland BV, Nijmegen/NL EUR 90,756.04 100 Unican Luxembourg S.A.

Kaba Porte Automatiche S.p.A., Cermenate/IT EUR 13,577,000.00 97 Unican Luxembourg S.A.

   3 Kaba Holding AG

Kaba Türsysteme GmbH, Bühl/DE EUR 255,645.94 100 Kaba GmbH/DE

Vega Ltd., (trading as Kaba Garog), Warrington/GB GBP 5,000.00 100 Kaba Holding (UK) Ltd.

     

Division Data Collection      

Kaba Benzing (Schweiz) AG, Dietikon/CH CHF 400,000.00 100 Kaba AG

Kaba Benzing America Inc., Miramar/US USD 19,712.76 100 Kaba U.S. Holding Ltd. 

Kaba Benzing GmbH, Villingen-Schwenningen/DE EUR  3,070,000.00 100 Kaba Holding GmbH

Kaba Benzing GmbH, Wien/AT EUR 36,336.42 100 Kaba GmbH/AT

Kaba srl, Castel Maggiore/IT EUR 260,000.00 70 Kaba AG 

     

Division Access Systems Europe     

Fecosa France (SCI), Le Mesnil St Denis/FR EUR 152.45 99 Kaba SF2E S.A.S. 

   1 Ilco Unican France S.A.S. 

Iberkaba S.A., Valencia/ES EUR 841,416.95 100 Kaba Holding AG

Kaba (UK) Ltd., Tiverton/GB GBP 2,000,000.00 100 Kaba Holding (UK) Ltd. 

Kaba AB, Eskilstuna/SE SEK 13,000,000.00 100 Unican Luxembourg S.A.

Kaba AG, Wetzikon/CH  CHF 6,800,000.00 100 Kaba Holding AG

Kaba Elzett Rt., Budapest/HU HUF 250,000,000.00 51 Silca S.p.A.

   49 Unican Luxembourg S.A.

Kaba GmbH, Dreieich/DE EUR 385,000.00 100 Kaba Holding GmbH

Kaba GmbH, Herzogenburg/AT EUR 835,737.59 100 Kaba Holding AG

Kaba Mauer GmbH, Heiligenhaus/DE EUR 819,100.00 100 Unican Holding und Management GmbH

Kaba S.A.S., Suresnes/FR EUR 500,000.00 100 Ilco Unican France S.A.S.

Kaba Security Sp.z.o.o., Warszawa/PL PLN 50,000.00 100 Kaba Holding AG

Kaba SF2E S.A.S., Le Mesnil St Denis/FR EUR 1,561,978.00 100 Ilco Unican France S.A.S.

Mauer Sicherheitstechnik Beteiligungs GmbH, Heiligenhaus/DE EUR 26,250.00 100 Unican Holding und Management GmbH

Mauer Sicherheitstechnik GmbH + Co. KG, Heiligenhaus/DE EUR 255,645.94 100  Mauer Sicherheits Beteiligungs GmbH

Mauer Thüringen GmbH, Bad Berka/DE EUR 255,700.00 100 Kaba Mauer GmbH

 

     

Legal Structure of the Kaba Group
As per 30 June 2006



2005 / 2006  Financial Statements Group   111 

List of substantial group   Share Capital Voting 
and associated companies  in local currency   rights in % Participation of … 

Division Access + Key Systems Americas     

Corporacion Cerrajera Alba S.A. de C.V., Edo de México/MX  MXP 191,744,593.65 99 Kaba Ilco Inc.

   1 Ilco Mexico S.A. de C.V.

Ilco Mexico, S.A. de C.V., Edo de México/MX  MXP 10,315,310.00 100 Kaba Ilco Inc.

Kaba Ilco Corp., Rocky Mount/US  n / a 100 Kaba Corp.

Kaba Ilco Inc., Montreal/CA CAD  10,000,000.00 100 Kaba Gilgen AG

Kaba Mas Corp., Lexington/US USD 880,679.00 100 Kaba Corp. 

Lodging Technology Corp., Roanoke/US USD 1,000.00 100 Kaba Corp. 

     

Division Access Systems Asia Pacifi c     

Kaba Australia Pty Ltd., Wetherill Park/AU AUD 28,887,426.00 100 Kaba Holding AG

A.C.N. 087 916 738 Pty Ltd., Wetherill Park/AU AUD 2,000,000.00 100 Kaba Gilgen AG

Kaba Jaya Security Sdn. Bhd., Kuala Lumpur/MY MYR 260,000.00 70 Kaba AG

Kaba New Zealand Ltd., Auckland/NZ NZD 1,350,000.00 100 Kaba Gilgen AG

Kaba Security Pte Ltd., Singapore/SP SGD 1,890,000.00 100 Kaba AG 

Nihon Kaba K.K., Yokohama/JP JPY 120,000,000.00 100 Kaba AG

     

Division Key + Ident Systems Europe/Asia Pacifi c     

Kaba do Brasil Ltda., Sao Paulo/BR BRL 15,847,108.00 100 Kaba Gilgen AG

Legic Identsystems AG, Wetzikon/CH CHF 500,000.00 100 Kaba AG

Richard Lenoir (SCI), Paris/FR EUR 15,244.90 100 Silca S.A.S. 

Silca GmbH, Velbert/DE EUR 358,000.00 90 Unican Holding und Management GmbH

   10 Unican Luxembourg S.A. 

Silca Key Systems S.A., Barcelona/ES EUR 162,296.90 100 Silca S.p.A.

Silca Ltd., Sutton/GB GBP 411,050.00 100 Kaba Holding (UK) Ltd.

Silca S.A.S., Paris/FR EUR  797,670.00 100 Ilco Unican France S.A.S.

Silca S.p.A., Vittorio Veneto/IT EUR 10,000,000.00 97 Kaba Porte Automatiche S.p.A.

   3  Kaba Gilgen AG

     

Division Finance      

Bauer AG, Rümlang/CH CHF 100,000.00 100 Kaba Holding AG

Ilco Unican France S.A.S., Le Mesnil St Denis/FR EUR  2,840,000.00 100 Kaba Holding AG

Ilco Unican Properties, Inc., Rocky Mount/US USD 100.00 100 Kaba Corp. 

Kaba Corp., Southington/US USD 201,731,000.00 100 Kaba Finance Corp.

Kaba Delaware, LLC, Wilmington/US  n / a 100 Kaba AG

Kaba Finance Corp., Wilmington/US USD 1,010.00 100 Kaba Benzing America Inc.

Kaba Finance Luxembourg S.A. Luxembourg/LU EUR 32,000.00 100 Kaba Holding AG

Kaba Holding (UK) Ltd., London/GB GBP 15,600,000.00 100 Kaba Holding AG

Kaba Holding GmbH, Villingen-Schwenningen/DE EUR 3,070,000.00 100 Kaba Holding AG

Kaba U.S. Holding Ltd., Jersey/GB USD 93,000,000.00 97 Kaba Delaware, LLC

   3 Kaba AG

Unican Holding und Management GmbH, Velbert/DE EUR 51,200.00 100 Unican Luxembourg S.A.

Unican Luxembourg S.A., Luxembourg/LU EUR 15,191,535.94 100 Kaba Gilgen AG

Apart from Kaba Holding AG in Rümlang, there are no companies in the Kaba Group’s scope of consolidation whose securities 
are listed on a stock exchange. The registered shares of Kaba Holding AG are traded on the main board of the SWX Swiss Exchange 
(security no./ISIN: 1179595/CH 001179595 9). As at 30 June 2006, the company’s market capitalization was CHF 1,070.0 million. 
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Report of the group auditors 
to the general meeting of 
Kaba Holding AG, Rümlang

As auditors of the group, we have audited the consolidated 

fi nancial statements (consolidated income statement, consoli-

dated balance sheet, consolidated statement of cash fl ows, 

consolidated changes in equity and notes to the consolidated 

fi nancial statements/pages 79 to 111) of Kaba Holding AG for 

the year ended 30 June 2006.

These consolidated fi nancial statements are the responsi-

bility of the board of directors. Our responsibility is to express 

an opinion on these consolidated fi nancial statements based on 

our audit. We confi rm that we meet the legal requirements 

concerning professional qualifi cation and independence.

Our audit was conducted in accordance with Swiss Auditing 

Standards and with the International Standards on Auditing, 

which require that an audit be planned and performed to obtain 

reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated fi nancial 

statements are free from material misstatement. We have 

examined on a test basis evidence supporting the amounts and 

disclosures in the consolidated fi nancial statements. We have 

also assessed the accounting principles used, signifi cant esti-

mates made and the overall consolidated fi nancial statement 

presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 

basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated fi nancial statements give 

a true and fair view of the fi nancial position, the results of oper-

ations and the cash fl ows in accordance with the International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with Swiss law.

We recommend that the consolidated fi nancial statements 

submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG

Peter Binz  Reto Tognina   

 

Zurich, 1 September 2006
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Holding Company
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Holding Company balance sheet

Assets  
 Financial Year   Financial Year 
in CHF million closed 30. 6. 2006 closed 30. 6. 2005

Long-term assets 

Investments 354,451,696 340,087,990

Total long-term assets 354,451,696 340,087,990

Current assets 

Receivables: Third parties 8,127 18,738

Receivables: Group companies 409,573,486 396,189,661

Accruals 58,695 4,203

Cash, cash equivalents and securities 1,594,802 445,627

Total current assets 411,235,110 396,658,229

  

Total assets 765,686,806 736,746,219

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities  
 Financial Year   Financial Year 
in CHF million closed 30. 6. 2006 closed 30. 6. 2005

Shareholders’ equity  

Capital stock 18,600,832 35,750,980

Legal reserves: General reserve 534,811,527 534,387,895

Legal reserves: Reserve for own shares 2,012,971 0

Other reserves 98 267 529 80,280,500

Unappropriated retained earnings 73,439,000 58,538,740

Total shareholders’ equity 727,131,859 708,958,115

Provisions 16,894,956 16,524,617

Short-term liabilities 

Bank overdraft 45,707 0

Other short-term liabilities: Third parties 578,901 1,964,546

Other short-term liabilities: Group companies 21,035,383 9,298,941

Total short-term liabilities 21,659,991 11,263,487

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 765,686,806 736,746,219
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Holding Company income statement

 Financial Year   Financial Year
in CHF 1. 7. 2005 — 30. 6. 2006 1. 7. 2004 — 30. 6. 2005

Operating revenues

Financial income 42,905,262 43,878,296

Proceeds from services 7,299,969 7,949,389

Other operating revenues 1,700 1,200

Total operating revenues 50,206,931 51,828,885

Operating expenses 

Personnel expenses — 481,609 — 438,372

Other operating expenses — 4,853,830 — 4,481,540

Financial expenses — 1,271,357 — 697,179

Taxation — 2,180,374 — 1,708,315

Net profi t for the period before depreciation 41,419,761 44,503,479

Depreciation 

Depreciation on investments  — 6,519,501 — 11,044,392

Net profi t for the period 34,900,260 33,459,087

Unappropriated retained earnings at the beginning of the period 58,538,740 59,374,765

Appropriations of retained earnings resolved by general meeting:  

— Other reserves — 20,000,000 — 20,000,000

— Dividend 0 — 14,295,112

Unappropriated retained earnings at the end of the period 73,439,000 58,538,740
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Notes to the financial statements  

1. Investments: Company, Business, Country 
  Nominal Capital  
  in local currencies Interest in %

Bauer AG, Finance, Rümlang/CH CHF 100,000 100.0

Iberkaba SA, Access Systems, Valencia/ES EUR 841,417 100.0

Kaba Belgium nv, Door Systems, Turnhout/BE EUR 62,000 94.0

Kaba GmbH, Access Systems, Herzogenburg/AT EUR 835,738 100.0

Kaba Gilgen AG, Door Systems, Schwarzenburg/CH CHF 2,001,000 100.0

Kaba Holding GmbH, Finance, Villingen-Schwenningen/DE EUR 3,070,000 100.0

Kaba Holding (UK) Ltd., Finance, London/GB GBP 15,600,000 100.0

Kaba Management + Consulting AG, Finance, Rümlang/CH CHF 50,000 100.0

Kaba Porte Automatiche S.p.A., Door Systems, Cermenate/IT EUR 13,577,000 3.0

Kaba AG, Access Systems, Wetzikon/CH CHF 6,800,000 100.0

Kaba Ilco Corporation, Access Systems, Rocky Mount/US  n. a. preference shares

Kaba Security Sp. Zo.o., Access Systems, Warszawa/PL PLN 50,000 100.0

Kaba Finance Luxembourg S.A., Finance, Luxembourg/LU EUR 32,000 100.0

Ilco Unican France S.A.S., Finance, Le Mesnil-Saint-Denis/FR EUR 2,840,000 100.0

Kaba Australia Pty Ltd., Access Systems, Wetherill Park/AU AUD 28,887,426 100.0
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2. Signifi cant shareholders    
 

The following table sets forth the identities of the principal 

shareholders of Kaba Holding AG and their holdings of shares 

if shareholders have disclosed 5% or more of voting rights to 

Kaba Holding AG.

 as at 30. 6. 2006  as at 30. 6. 2005
 No. of shares at  No. of shares at 
Shareholder Group CHF 5.20 par value 1)  in % CHF 10 par value in %

Heirs of Leo Bodmer 2)    

Karin Forrer 206,520 5.8 206,520 5.8

Other heirs of Leo Bodmer 612,021 17.1 663,671 18.5

Total heirs of Leo Bodmer 818,541 22.9 870,191 24.3

Public shareholders    

Ulrich Bremi 3) 182,100 5.1 182,100 5.1

Other public shareholders 2,525,174 70.6 2,469,636 69.1

Total public shareholders 2,707,274 75.7 2,651,736 74.2

Members of the Board and current Executives    

Members of the Board (non-executive) 57,208 1.6 55,006 1.5

Current Executives (incl. executive board member) 36,952 1.0 41,057 1.2

Total Members of the Board and Executives 94,160 2.6 96,063 2.7

Less doublecounting in respect of heirs of 

Leo Bodmer who are Members of the Board 4) — 42,892 — 1.2 — 42,892 — 1.2

  

Total shares 3,577,083 100.0 3,575,098 100.0

1) Reduction of par value by way of a par value capital repayment of CHF 4.80 
per share in January 2006 (instead of a dividend 2005).

2)  The heirs of Leo Bodmer (1880 to 1961) are not, so far as Kaba Holding AG 
knows, linked by any shareholders agreements or other similar arrangements.      

3) Ulrich Bremi, Zollikon, was from 1962 to 1992 employed by Kaba Holding AG 
and President from 1975 to 1992. 

4) The shareholdings of heirs of Leo Bodmer, who are also Members of the Board, 
are included under «Other heirs of Leo Bodmer» as well as under «Members 
of the Board».     
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3. Guarantees in favour of group companies 
    
   
in CHF 30.  6.  2006 30.  6.  2005

Guarantees 725,602,600 726,532,500

thereof used 341,642,100 418,532,500

4. Own shares  

 2005/2006 2005/2006   2004/2005 2004/2005
 in CHF  Number in CHF  Number 

Own shares at the beginning of the period 0 0 0 0

Purchased/Revaluation/Sold 1,913,600 6,400 0 0

Own shares at the end of the period 1,913,600 6,400 0 0

     

     

5. Share capital increases  

 30. 6. 2006 30. 6. 2006 30. 6. 2005 30. 6. 2005
 CHF 5.20 par value 1) Number   CHF 10 par value 1) Number  

Conditional Capital at beginning of the period 2) 2,144,490 412,402 4,137,520 413,752

Increase Conditional Capital 312,000 60,000 0 0

Reduction by exercise of share options — 10,322 — 1,985 — 13,500 — 1,350

Conditional Capital at the end of the period 2,446,168 470,417 4,124,020 412,402

Authorised Capital 3) 1,820,000 350,000 3,500,000 350,000

1) Reduction of par value by way of a par value capital repayment of CHF 4.80 
per share in January 2006 (instead of a dividend 2005).

2)  Conditional capital totalling CHF 1,872,000 (3,600,000 in the previous year) 
that is earmarked for the coverage of convertible bonds and warrant bonds 
plus CHF 574,168 (524,020 in the previous year) for shares or share options 
to employees and members of the board of directors whereof CHF 10,322 
(13,500 in the previous year) have been exercised in fi nancial year 2005/2006.

3)  The Shareholders’ Meeting of 25 October 2005 resolved an authorised capital 
of CHF 1,820,000 (3,500,000 in the previous year) to increase 

 the share capital at any time up to 25 October 2007.

The Kaba companies in Switzerland are treated for VAT 

purposes as one single entity (Group taxation art. 22 Swiss VAT 

law). If one company is unable to meet its payment obligations 

to the taxation authorities, the other Group companies within 

the entity are jointly and severally liable.   

 

6. Pledged Assets

In connection with the acquisition of the Canadian Unican 

Group by Kaba and the fi nancial reorganisation pursuant 

thereto, assets were pledged by way of security with the Bank 

for the liabilities of the Banks. In fi scal year 2004/2005 the 

Syndicated Loan with the Banks was repaid. With this repay-

ment the pledges over the assets have been released.

7. Subsequent events
 

Please refer to note 31 of the Consolidated Financial State-

ments.
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Proposal of the Board of Directors for appropriation of 

retained earnings at 30 June 2006   

The Board of Directors proposes the following appro-

priation: An increase of other reserves of CHF 20,000,000 

(CHF 20,000,000 in the prior year).  

in CHF 2006 2005

Dividend 0 0

Appropriation to other reserves 20,000,000 20,000,000

To be carried forward 53,439,000 38,538,740

Unappropriated retained 

earnings 73,439,000 58,538,740

In addition, the Board of Directors proposes to make a total 

payment to each shareholder of CHF 5.10 per share, but exclu-

sively in the form of capital reduction by repayment of par 

value of shares in accordance with the application to the Share-

holders’ Meeting of 24 October 2006. Such a payment is not 

subject to Swiss withholding tax.

  

  

 



2005 / 2006  Financial Statements Group   121 2005 / 2006  Financial Statements Holding Company   121 

Report of the statutory auditors
to the General Meeting of  
Kaba Holding AG, Rümlang

As statutory auditors, we have audited the accounting 

records and the fi nancial statements (balance sheet, income 

statement and notes/pages 115 to 120) of Kaba Holding AG 

for the year ended 30 June 2006.

These fi nancial statements are the responsibility of the 

board of directors. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 

these fi nancial statements based on our audit. We confi rm 

that we meet the legal requirements concerning professional 

qualifi cation and independence.

Our audit was conducted in accordance with Swiss 

Auditing Standards, which require that an audit be planned and 

performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 

the fi nancial statements are free from material misstatement. 

We have examined on a test basis evidence supporting the 

amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial statements. We have 

also assessed the accounting principles used, signifi cant esti-

mates made and the overall fi nancial statement presentation. 

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our 

opinion.

In our opinion, the accounting records and fi nancial 

statements and the proposed appropriation of available 

earnings comply with Swiss law and the company’s articles 

of incorporation.

We recommend that the fi nancial statements submitted to 

you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG

Peter Binz  Reto Tognina   

 

Zurich, 1 September 2006
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Comments on the financial statements 
for Kaba Holding AG

Balance Sheet

Kaba Holding AG essentially still holds the same invest-

ments as in the previous year. The capital of the UK holding 

company was increased. 

Centralized refi nancing of all subsidiaries takes place pri-

marily through Kaba Holding AG. Consequently, receivables 

from and liabilities to Group companies are volatile, refl ecting 

the needs of the subsidiaries. In the year under review, receiv-

ables from Swiss subsidiaries increased as a result of liquidity 

management. On the liabilities side, liabilities to Group compa-

nies more than doubled. This was the result of short-term 

investment of liquid assets by subsidiaries with Kaba Holding.

 Unappropriated retained earnings added further to share-

holders’ equity. The dividend payment for the previous year 

was made in the form of a capital reduction through a par value 

repayment. The par value of Kaba shares was thereby reduced 

from CHF 10.00 to CHF 5.20 each. Capital stock on the balance 

sheet shrank accordingly. The exercise of options drawing on 

conditional capital led to a small capital increase. The item gen-

eral reserves was augmented by the paid-in premiums. At the 

same time, the legally prescribed reserve based on the cost 

value of own shares was formed. Other reserves were higher as 

a result of the General Meeting’s decision in the previous 

year to transfer CHF 20 million from unappropriated retained 

earnings to strengthen these reserves.

Statement of Income  

Financial income comprises earnings from investments and 

interest income. Interest income is directly correlated with 

receivables from Group companies. This item saw only a minor 

change. However, earnings from investments fell. Overall, 

fi nancial income was reduced from CHF 43.9 million to CHF 

42.9 million. 

The subsidiaries are charged for using the Kaba umbrella 

brand. The relevant amount of CHF 7.3 million (previous year: 

CHF 7.9 million) is reported under proceeds from services.

The item fi nancial expenses depends on the amount of 

liabilities to Group companies. 

Depreciation on investments included a value adjustment in 

the year under review due to the depreciation of the US dollar. 

As a result of the favorable business performance, net 

profi t for the period increased to CHF 34.9 million (previous 

year: CHF 33.5 million). 

Based on the consolidated result for the Group in the 

2005/2006 fi nancial year, the Board of Directors proposes 

increasing the dividend from CHF 4.80 to CHF 5.10. As in 

the previous year, this is to be paid in the form of a withholding-

tax-exempt capital reduction through a par value repayment. 

In addition, the Board of Directors proposes the appropriation of 

CHF 20 million to fortify reserves.
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Addresses Kaba Group
As per September 2006

Headquarter

Kaba Holding AG   

Hofwisenstrasse 24

CH-8153 Rümlang

Tel.  +41 44 818 90 11

Fax  +41 44 818 90 18

info@kaba.com

www.kaba.com

Kaba Management + Consulting AG

Hofwisenstrasse 24

CH-8153 Rümlang

Tel. +41 44 818 90 11

Fax +41 44 818 90 18

info@kaba.com

www.kaba.com

Door Systems

Kaba Gilgen AG  

Freiburgstrasse 34

CH-3150 Schwarzenburg

Tel. +41 31 734 41 11

Fax +41 31 734 43 79

www.kaba-gilgen.ch

Kaba Gallenschütz GmbH  

Nikolaus-Otto-Strasse 1

DE-77815 Bühl

Tel. +49 7223 286 0

Fax +49 7223 286 111

www.kaba.de

Kaba Door Systems Ltd.  

Halesfi eld 4

GB-Telford, Shropshire TF7 4AP

Tel. +44 1952 682 100

Fax +44 1952 682 101

www.kaba.co.uk

Kaba Garog/Vega Ltd.  

14 Leacroft Road

Birchwood

GB-Warrington WA3 6GG

Tel. +44 1925 825 225

Fax +44 1925 820 347

www.kaba-garog.co.uk

Kaba Nederland BV  

Tarweweg 9A

Postbus 6666

NL-6503 GD Nijmegen

Tel.  +31 24 352 33 33

Fax  +31 24 354 02 11

www.kaba.nl

Kaba Belgium NV/SA  

Steenweg op Gierle 339 F

BE-2300 Turnhout

Tel. +32 14 44 80 44

Fax +32 14 44 80 40

www.kaba.be

Kaba Porte Automatiche S.p.A. 

Via L. Muratori, 60

IT-21040 Uboldo (VA)

Tel. +39 02 962 5026

Fax +39 02 962 48356

www.kaba.it

Kaba Access Technology Co. Ltd. 

Block No 28, Unit A/B

Suchun Industrial Square

428 Xinglong Street

Suzhou Industrial Park

CN-215126 Suzhou

Tel. +86 512 6283 6228

Fax +86 512 6283 6338
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Key + Ident Systems Europe/Asia Pacifi c

Silca S.p.A.   

Via Podgora 20

IT-31029 Vittorio Veneto (TV)

Tel. +39 0438 913 6

Fax +39 0438 913 800

www.silca.it

Silca S.A.S.   

B.P. 37, 12 rue de Rouen

ZI de Limay 

FR-78440 Porcheville

Tel. +33 1 3098 3500

Fax +33 1 3098 3501

www.silca.fr

Silca GmbH   

Siemensstrasse 33

DE-42551 Velbert

Tel. +49 2051 2710

Fax +49 2051 271 172

www.silca.de

Silca Ltd.    

Unit 2, Kimpton Trade and

Business Centre, Kimpton Road

GB-Sutton, Surrey SM3 9QP

Tel. +44 208 641 6515

Fax +44 208 644 1181

Silca Key Systems S.A.  

c/ Santander 73 A

ES-08020 Barcelona

Tel. +34 93 4981 400

Fax +34 93 2788 004

Kaba do Brasil Ltda  

R: Eng. Jorge Oliva, 1 1 1

BR-São Paulo, SP 04362-060

Tel. +55 11 5670 7175

Fax +55 11 5670 7176

www.kabadobrasil.com.br

Key + Ident Systems Americas

Kaba Ilco Corp.   

(Ilco Rocky Mount)   

400 Jeffreys Road

US-Rocky Mount, NC 27804

or: P.O. Box 2627

US-Rocky Mount, NC 27804-2627

Tel. +1 252 446 3321

Fax +1 252 446 4702

www.kaba-ilco.com

Corporación Cerrajera Alba, S.A. de C.V. 

Circ. G. Baz No. 16, Col. México

Nuevo, Atizapán de Zaragoza

MX-52966 Edo. de México

Tel. +52 55 5366 7200

Fax +52 55 5366 7291

Legic Identsystems AG  

Kastellstrasse 1

Postfach 673

CH-8623 Wetzikon

Tel. +41 44 933 64 64

Fax +41 44 933 64 65

www.legic.com
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Kaba Elzett Rt.   

Váci út 117 119

HU-1138 Budapest

Tel. +36 1 350 1011

Fax +36 1 329 0692

www.kaba-elzett.hu

Kaba GmbH

(Villigen-Schwenningen)  

Albertistrasse 3

DE-78056 Villingen-Schwenningen

Tel. +49 7720 603 0

Fax +49 7720 603 102

www.kaba.de

Kaba Benzing America Inc.  

3015 N. Commerce Parkway

US-Miramar, FL 33025

Tel. +1 954 416 1720

Fax +1 954 416 1721 

www.kaba-benzing-usa.com

Kaba srl    

Via A. Costa 6

IT-40013 Castel Maggiore (BO)

Tel. +39 051 417 8311

Fax +39 051 417 8333

www.kaba.it

Kaba (UK) Ltd.   

Lower Moor Way

Tiverton Business Park

GB-Tiverton, Devon EX16 6SS

Tel. +44 1884 256 464

Fax +44 1884 234 415

www.kaba.co.uk

Kaba S.A.S.   

9, 1 1 rue Pagès

FR-92150 Suresnes

Tel. +33 141 38 98 60

Fax +33 141 38 01 06

www.kaba-france.com

Kaba SF2E S.A.S.   

3, rue Descartes

Zac de la Ferme des Roses

FR-78320 Le Mesnil-St-Denis

Tel. +33 130 13 04 04

Fax +33 130 13 04 05

www.kaba-sf2e.fr

Kaba AB    

Filargatan 12

SE-63105 Eskilstuna

Tel. +46 161 6 1500

Fax +46 1616 1573

www.kaba.se

 

Iberkaba S.A.   

Calle Maria Tubau 4

ES-28050 Madrid

Tel. +34 91 736 24 60

Fax +34 91 736 24 30

www.iberkaba.com

Kaba Security Sp. z o.o.  

ul. Polczynska 51

ul. Kontuszowa 22  

PL-01-336 Warszawa 

Tel. +48 22 665 8827 

Fax +48 22 665 8827

www.kaba.pl

Access + Data Systems EMEA

Kaba AG    

Mühlebühlstrasse 23

CH-8620 Wetzikon

Tel. +41 848 85 86 87

Fax +41 44 931 63 85

www.kaba.ch

Kaba AG    

(Safes + Vaults)

Hofwisenstrasse 24

CH-8153 Rümlang

Tel. +41 44 818 92 11

Fax +41 44 818 92 04

www.kabasafes.ch

Kaba AG    

(Systems Development)

Hofwisenstrasse 24

CH-8153 Rümlang

Tel. +41 44 818 93 11

Fax +41 44 818 93 93

www.kbr.kaba.com

Kaba GmbH   

Philipp-Reis-Strasse 14

DE-63303 Dreieich

Tel. +49 6103 9907 0

Fax +49 6103 9907 113

www.kaba.de

Kaba GmbH   

Int. Contracting Business

Am Bahnhof 29

DE-98529 Suhl

Tel. +49 3681 7983 0

Fax +49 3681 798 315

www.kaba.de

Kaba GmbH    

Wiener Strasse 41–43

AT-3130 Herzogenburg

Tel. +43 2782 808 0

Fax +43 2782 808 5505

www.kaba.at
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Access + Data Systems Asia Pacifi c

Nihon Kaba K.K.   

German Industry Center

1-18-2 Hakusan, Midori-ku

JP-Yokohama 226-0006

Tel. +81 45 931 89 00

Fax +81 45 931 91 00

www.kaba.co.jp

Kaba Security Pte Ltd.  

Block 203A, Henderson Road

#07-03, Henderson Industrial Park

SG-159546 Singapore

Tel. +65 6275 12 11

Fax +65 6275 12 33

www.kaba.com.sg

Kaba Ltd.   

2108 Futura Plaza

111–113 How Ming Street

Kwun Tong

Kowloon

Hong Kong

Tel. +852 2375 6110

Fax +852 2406 2602

Kaba Jaya Security Sdn. Bhd. 

Suite B-13-1

Plaza Pantai

5 Jalan 4/83A

off Jalan Pantai Baru

MY-59200 Kuala Lumpur

Tel. +60 3 2282 0032

Fax +60 3 2282 0053

Kaba Australia Pty Ltd.  

Unit 4, 42–44 Redfern Street

AU-Wetherill Park, NSW 2164

Tel. +61 2 8787 47 77

Fax +61 2 9609 66 10

www.kabaaustralia.com

Kaba New Zealand Ltd.  

Unit A/39A Sir William Avenue

P.O. Box 58 432 Greenmount 

East Tamaki

NZ-Auckland

Tel. +64 9 274 3341

Fax +64 9 274 3301

www.kaba.co.nz

Access + Data Systems Americas

Kaba Ilco Corp.   

(Access Systems Winston)

2941 Indiana Avenue

US-Winston Salem, NC 27105

Tel. +1 336 725 1331

Fax +1 336 725 8814

www.kaba-ilco.com

Kaba Ilco Corp.   

(Kaba Access Control)

2941 Indiana Avenue

US-Winston Salem, NC 27105

Tel. +1 366 725 1331

Fax +1 366 725 8814

www.kaba-ilco.com

Kaba Ilco Inc.   

(Capitol Montreal)

5795 De Gaspe Avenue

CA-Montreal, Quebec H2S 2X3

Tel. +1 514 273 0451

Fax +1 514 273 3521

www.kaba-ilco.com

Kaba Ilco Inc.   

(Access Systems Montreal)

7301 Decarie Boulevard

CA-Montreal, Quebec H4P 2G7

Tel. +1 514 735 5410

Fax +1 514 735 8707

www.kaba-ilco.com

Safe Locks

Kaba Mas Corp.   

749 W. Short Street

US-Lexington, KY 40508

Tel. +1 859 253 4744

Fax +1 859 253 0310

www.kaba-mas.com

Kaba Mauer GmbH   

Frankenstrasse 8–12

DE-42579 Heiligenhaus

Tel. +49 2056 596 0

Fax +49 2056 596 139

www.kaba-mauer.de
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24 October 2006, Tuesday, 3 p.m.

Annual General Meeting of Kaba Holding AG at 

the Mövenpick Hotel in Regensdorf

5 March 2007, Monday

Shareholder Newsletter and press release on 

the half-year results to 31. 12. 2006

17 September 2007, Monday

Presentation for fi nancial analysts

Results press conference

Shareholder Newsletter with results 

for the 2006 / 2007 fi nancial year and 

outlook for the 2007 / 2008 fi nancial year

Distribution of Annual Report 

23 October 2007, Tuesday, 3 p.m.

Annual General Meeting of Kaba Holding AG

Communicative devices

Annual Report

Financial Report

Corporate Governance

Letter to Shareholders

Investor’s Handbook

Security Update (customer’s magazine)

www.kaba.com

Agenda
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This communication contains certain 
forward-looking statements including those 
using the words “believes”, “assumes”, 
“expects” or formulations of a similar kind. 
Such forward-looking statements involve 
known and unknown risks, uncertainties and 
other factors which could lead to substantial 
differences between the actual future results, 
the fi nancial situation, the development  
or performance of the Company and those 
either expressed or implied by such state-
ments. Such factors include, among other 
things: competition from other companies, 
the effects and risks of new technologies, the 
Company’s continuing capital requirements, 
fi nancing costs, delays in the integration 
of acquisitions, changes in the operating 
expenses, the Company’s ability to recruit 
and retain qualifi ed employees, unfavorable 
changes to the applicable tax laws, and other 
factors identifi ed in this publication. In view 
of these uncertainties, readers are cautioned 
not to place undue reliance on such forward-
looking statements. The Company accepts 
no obligation to continue to report or update 
such forward-looking statements or adjust 
them to future events or developments.



Kaba Holding AG
Hofwisenstrasse 24
8153 Rümlang, Switzerland
Phone +41 44 818 90 61
Fax +41 44 818 90 52

www.kaba.com
investor@kaba.com


	Annual Report 2005/2006
	Table of contents
	Facts and figures in brief
	Elections to the Board of Directors
	Annual Report
	Welcome to the world of Kaba
	Important events after the closing date
	Group structure
	Group organization by segment
	Security as a system
	Report on the 2005/2006 financial year
	Door Systems Segment
	Data Collection Segment
	Access Systems Segment: Europe
	Access Systems Segment: Asia Pacific
	Access Systems Segment: Americas
	Key + Ident Systems Segment

	Corporate Governance
	Preface
	Introduction
	Board of Directors
	Management Board
	Compensation, Shareholdings, and Loans
	Capital Structure
	Shareholders
	Shareholders' Participation Rights
	Changes of Control and Defense Measures
	Auditors
	Information Policy

	Financial Statements
	Information for Investors – per 30 June
	Information for Investors – per share data
	Group
	Consolidated income statement
	Consolidated balance sheet Assets
	Consolidated balance sheet Liabilities and equity
	Consolidated statement of cash flows
	Consolidated changes in equity for financial year 2005/2006
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements
	Legal Structure of the Kaba Group
	Report of the group auditors

	Holding Company
	Holding Company balance sheet
	Holding Company income statement
	Notes to the financial statements
	Report of the statutory auditors
	Comments on the financial statements for Kaba Hoding AG


	Addresses Kaba Group
	Agenda

